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The Group and the market 

International context

The last year was characterised by a stable world economy in a context in which the 
geopolitical tensions of the previous years continued. In a global scenario character-
ised by many uncertainties, the global growth forecast issued by the main interna-
tional institutions for the year stands at 3.2%, in line with the 3.2% and 3.3% seen 
in 2023 and 2022 respectively. Inflation fell in several leading economies, reaching 
or approaching the targets set by the central banks. The labour market remained 
stable with no particular critical issues of note.

Considering trends by macro-area, in 2024 growth dynamics were generally posi-
tive in both the US and China. However, the economic situation in Europe was less 
favourable despite improvements on the previous year, with GDP growth estimated 
at 0.8% compared to 0.4% in 2023, supported by higher exports. Within the Euro-
zone there were marked discrepancies between the main countries, with growth ex-
pected to be robust in Spain (+3% GDP in 2024) and moderate in France (+1.1%), 
while growth in Germany was, albeit marginally, negative (-0.1%).

The international scenario for 2025 remains complex mainly as a result of ongoing 
geopolitical crises, with risks of a further deterioration of the macroeconomic situ-
ation. Despite the positive performance in 2024, global trade remained below the 
long-term trend. The outcome of the US presidential elections and the trade policies 
announced by the new administration are generating further uncertainty. Other 
factors to be considered for the year ahead include the persistence of high (albeit 
reducing) interest rates, positive effects on real incomes generated by the general fall 
in inflation, an expected rise in the global trade of goods and services (net of the 
impacts of any tariffs imposed by certain countries) driven largely by the emerging 
economies, and the heterogeneous economic trends of the main global economies. 
Growth forecasts in the Eurozone are modest but nonetheless higher than in 2024. 
The potential repercussions of the tariffs imposed by the US on net exports in the 
Eurozone remain unclear, with the development of a shared counter-strategy com-
plicated by internal political crises in Germany and France.

Italian context

On the domestic side, Italian GDP growth is estimated at 0.5%, driven by an im-
provement in net external demand, set against a reduction of imports and stable ex-
ports. In terms of internal demand, consumption remained robust while investments 
fell due to the significant reduction in construction tax incentives. Following a trend 
that began many months ago, industrial production also fell in 2024, more markedly 
for intermediate and capital goods and less so for consumer goods, which showed 
signs of a trend reversal in the final part of the year. 
In 2024, international trade, a long-standing catalyst for Italy's economic growth, 
exhibited an augmentation in exports to the Eurozone, accompanied by a contraction 
in exports to non-Eurozone countries. This occurred within the context of a deceler-
ating global economy and a pronounced weakness in Germany. At the sector level, a 
generalised growth was observed across all sectors, with the exception of the automo-
tive industry, which experienced negative growth.
The labour market is going through a period of expansion in terms of employment, 
which in 2024 is estimated to see an increase in permanent and self-employed work-
ers and a reduction of workers in precarious or fixed-term posts. This positive trend 
is driven particularly by the services sector, while the industrial sector remains stable 
and construction is showing a net decrease.

In terms of forecasts, for 2025 the main institutions have estimated a decline com-
pared to previous trends. The policies adopted by the new US administration could 
have a non-negligible impact on Italy as the US represents the second largest mar-
ket for Italian exports after Germany, which is currently in a period of stagnation. 
Growth may be further undermined by factors such as stagnating industrial pro-
duction, slower business consumption linked to uncertainty, lower investments due 
to the roll-back of incentives in the construction sector, and public sector policies to 
limit borrowing. On the other hand, potential positive boosts for growth could be 
private household consumption, which is expected to be supported by the continued 
consolidation of the labour market, the decline in inflation with wages that have 
grown in real terms, the boost to investments deriving from the implementation of 
the measures foreseen by the NRRP (National Recovery and Resilience Plan) which 
is approaching its conclusion (officially in 2026), and the drop in interest rates in the 
first months of 2025, which could in turn contribute to the recovery of investments.
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The energy commodity markets in 2024 were characterised by average annual prices 
below the equivalent values in 2023, although in the second half of the year there was 
a pronounced upwards trend in natural gas and electricity prices. 

Brent fell to an average annual price of 79.8 USD/bbl (82.2 USD/bbl in 2023, -2.9%), 
driven by uncertain global demand forecasts, the diversification of oil suppliers with a 
gradual increase in the market share of non-OPEC+ producers (especially the United 
States), a substantial buffer of potential production by OPEC+ producers (which could 
quickly and easily meet a sudden spike in demand), and the progressive normalisation 
of the nonetheless persistent geopolitical tensions in the Middle East.

In the first six months of the year natural gas prices were lower than in the previous 
year but showed pronounced upwards trends in the second six months, with prices 
exceeding those of the same period in 2023. The minimum average monthly values 
were recorded in February (€ 28/MWh) while the maximum average monthly value 
was in December (€ 48/MWh). Over the year, the average PSV price stood at € 36.3/
MWh in 2024, compared to € 42.2/MWh in the previous year (-14%). The annual 
price trend was driven by low European demand linked to an increase in production 
from renewable sources which reduced gas demand for thermoelectric energy genera-
tion, the continuation of the precarious balance on the LNG market, high inventory 
levels, and a progressive, albeit limited, increase in LNG processing capacity leading 
to increased supply flexibility. Finally, confirming the downwards trend of the first six 
months and the upwards trend of the second half of the year, in the first part of the 
year the PSV - TTF spread was below the values recorded the previous year before 
seeing a reversed trend in the second half of the year.

With regard to currencies, in 2024 the euro remained generally stable against the 
dollar (annual average: 1.082 USD to 1 EUR in 2024, compared to 1.081 in 2023). 
After a generally stable first six months, which saw a slight strengthening of the 
dollar, in the third quarter the Euro strengthened significantly (average in Septem-
ber 2024 of 1.111 USD to 1 Euro), a trend which then reversed in the final quarter 
when the EUR/USD exchange rate recorded its lowest average monthly values of the 
year (average in December 2024 of 1.048 USD to 1 Euro). The year closed with an 
exchange rate of 1.039 USD to 1 EUR.

The 2024 trend was driven by the monetary policy expectations of the ECB and the 
FED, as well as the results of the US presidential elections. Both central banks cut in-
terest rates by 100 basis points but at different times: the ECB began first but proceed-
ed more slowly, while the FED started later but set a faster pace. The reference rates 
at the close of 2024 were within a range of 3%-3.4% in the Eurozone, and between 
4.25%-4.5% in the United States. In the last quarter of 2024 forecasts associated with 
the change in the US administration had the greatest impact, bringing with them 
an expectation of inflationary pressures linked to trade tariff policies and potentially 
leading to a slowdown in the FED's rate reduction cycle in 2025.
The figure below shows a comparison between the average monthly exchange rate 
trends in 2023 and 2024 (source: Bank of Italy).

2023
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On the Italian electricity market, the average monthly PUN, which in 2023 fell 
compared to 2022, suffered a further decline in 2024 and recorded a value of € 108/
MWh, compared to € 127/MWh in the previous year (-15%). The monthly dynamics 
effectively mirrored those of the natural gas market, with lower prices in the first two 
quarters compared to 2023, and higher prices compared to the previous year in the 
third and fourth quarters. In fact, the minimum average monthly values were record-
ed in April (€ 87/MWh) while the maximum average monthly value was in December 
(€ 135/MWh).

Average prices on the CO2 emissions securities market fell to € 65/t in 2024, down 
22% compared to the average prices recorded in 2023 (.€ 83/t; € -18/t). Prices declined 
considerably in the first part of the year, hitting a minimum of € 52/t in February, 
and recovered from the second quarter onwards to reach a yearly maximum of € 75/t. 
Prices at year-end were € 71/t, compared to € 77 at the end of 2023. EUA emission 
rights dynamics were driven by various factors, including declining natural gas prices 
in Europe which lowered the CO2 switching price and further reduced coal-fired 
electricity generation and therefore demand for EUAs; lower emissions due to the 
increased use of renewables, greater hydroelectric and nuclear production, and favour-
able climatic conditions; the extension of the deadline for compliance with conformity 
requirements from March to September, which gave greater flexibility to operators 
who preferred to wait for more favourable prices, contributing to weak demand for 
much of the year; and the contribution to the supply surplus deriving from the un-
interrupted auction volumes in August and sales linked to the RePowerEU plan that 
began in September.
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In 2024, the Burgo Group conducted its business amid an economic and geopolitical 
context that continued to be characterised by severe uncertainty, pursuing its plan 
to reposition the business towards segments with higher growth rates and margins, 
such as special papers, containerboard and packaging in general, and with the goal 
of progressively reducing its presence in the segments of graphic paper and paper 
types classified as commodities. In the first part of 2024, following completion of the 
conversion of Line 2 at the Sora Plant, production of multi-ply coated and non-coated 
cardstock with a virgin fibre base began. This project marks yet another important 
step in the process to redefine the range of products offered by the Group, paving the 
way for a decisive entrance into the cartonboard segment with a cutting-edge plant for 
the production of paper for food packaging.

In the first part of the year, following on from the last few months of 2023 when the 
drop in demand linked to destocking processes came to an end, the Group's sales 
volumes recovered throughout the first six months. In the first two quarters of 2024, 
average monthly sales volumes were higher than in the previous year. However, sales 
volumes fell in the second half of the year, partly due to the economic slowdown.
The year was also characterised by a drop in average prices compared to the previ-
ous year, although there was nonetheless an upward trend in all of the segments in 
which the Group operates between the beginning and the end of the year, aimed at 
regaining the upward trend in energy and raw materials costs, albeit with the usual 
lag that tends to characterise such recovery dynamics. With regard to raw materials, 
prices generally rose, with increases in the annual average prices of fibres and paper for 
recycling.

In response to these trends, the Group took commercial action on both prices and the 
sales mix which, along with measures to optimise supplies and improve productivity, 
enabled it to maintain stable revenues (-0.3% compared to 2023) and to record a gross 
margin of 9.6%, down on the 10.7% recorded in the previous year on comparable 

data, thus excluding non-recurring expenses (Adjusted EBITDA / Revenues from 
ordinary operations). Margins measured on the Group's pulp and paper revenues also 
fell (as shown in the breakdown of revenues by sector) from 12.4% to 11.1%.

In terms of indebtedness, in line with the marked improvement seen in the preceding 
years, the Group consolidated its positive financial situation, ending the year with a 
net financial position of approximately € 121 million, a further improvement com-
pared to € 114 million at the end of 2023.

In the graphic paper segment, an area that remains the core business segment of the 
Group despite the progressive reduction of its relative weight on consolidated reve-
nues, in 2024 demand increased by +0.8% globally (-7.8% in 2023) and by +2.0% in 
Western Europe (-23.9% in 2023). On the other leading global markets trends were 
generally positive, with a few exceptions: North America +7.1% (compared to -27.0% 
in 2023), Latin America +4.5% (compared to -11.3% in 2023), Japan -7.3% (com-
pared to -8.3% in 2023), Eastern Europe +5.7% (compared to -16.9% in 2023), China 
+2.0% (compared to +2.6% in 2023), and the rest of Asia -2.3% (compared to +11.4% 
in 2023). 

In the containerboard segment, compared to the previous year demand in 2024 was 
characterised by a trend reversal with growth of +2.2% (compared with -4.6% in 
2023), pointing towards a livelier market compared to the previous two years.

Despite the contrasting market context and a macroeconomic situation in both Italy 
and Europe characterised by critical challenges and risks, the Group's overall positive 
performance in the past year is confirmation of the validity of the strategic decisions 
and direction taken by the Group through investments aimed at increasing its pres-
ence in more promising market segments and achieving its sustainability targets.
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Production data		  2023	 2024	 % change

Paper	 t/000	 1,028   	 1,164   	 13.1%

Pulp	 t/000	 319   	 347   	 8.7%

Lignin sulphonate	 t/000	 28   	 29   	 0.2%

Electricity	 kWh/mln	 1,035   	 1,126   	 8.8%

Development lines and management outlook

As has been the case for several years, the past year was characterised by significant 
and growing geopolitical and macroeconomic uncertainty and tension, such as the 
Russia-Ukraine war, the war in the Middle East, inflationary pressures (although these 
are gradually scaling back), a slowdown in global growth, friction between the US and 
China, and political tensions in Europe associated with the various election cycles in a 
number of key EU countries.

None of these uncertainties have been resolved and will continue to distinguish the 
current year.
2025 will also be characterised by the return to the White House of Donald Trump. 
This could lead to major policy shifts compared to those adopted by the US thus far 
and is likely to fuel further geopolitical and macroeconomic uncertainty.

In this context, the Group is continuing its strategy of focusing on the more resilient 
business sectors with a higher growth rate, such as speciality paper and packaging, 
with the development activities characterising this phase of our Group’s history fitting 
into this context. During the year, the Group will continue to implement its invest-
ment programme, aimed at product diversification and improving production and 
energy efficiency, with a view to improving our range of products, overall profitability 
and environmental footprint.

Considering the inflationary trend and possible shortages in certain production ele-
ments that are crucial to its business, the Group is continuing to manage, diversify and 
carefully monitor its sources of raw materials and natural gas. With regard to product 
sales, the Group will manage its product portfolio in such a way as to ensure that its ac-
tivities are properly remunerated, also considering the more cautious purchasing trends 
that will continue to characterise our customers’ purchasing trends in 2025.

The Group’s production

Paper production, the Group's main area of business, amounted to 1,163,593 t 
(1,028,369 t in 2023), with a 13.1% increase in respect to the previous year. 
Containerboard represented 183,337 t, up by 8.6% compared to the previous year 
(2023: 168,767 t), whereas speciality paper production increased by 23.3% and stood at 
239,155 t (193,967 in 2023). 
Production of pulp came to 347,010 tonnes (319,144 t in 2023), up by 8.7%, while 
lignin sulphonate production remained generally stable at 28,509 t (28,447 t in 2023). 
Finally, electricity production amounted to 1,126,193 MWh (in 2023: MWh 
1,035,198) up by 8.8%.

Type of paper
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The breakdown of revenues between the internal market and exports shows that in 
2024 the overall decrease in revenues mainly regarded sales in Italy and other Countries. 
Meanwhile, the percentage of sales in Europe rose compared to the percentage of exports 
to non-European countries.

The Group’s sales

Group revenues from ordinary operations amounted to € 1,466 million, down by 0.3% 
(€ 5 million) compared to 2023, when the figure was € 1,471 million. 

Paper revenues came to € 1,172 million, a 1.9% decrease compared to the previous year.
Pulp revenues were at € 89 million, with a positive difference of 15.1%.
Energy revenues stood at € 168 million, down by 2.1%.
Other revenues, including sales of lignin sulphonate, increased by 1.2% to € 27 million 
compared to 2023 (at € 26 million).
The percentage of revenues derived from paper for recycling sales by the subsidiary 
Burgo Recycling increased from 0.1% to 0.7%.

Markets €/mln		  2023	 2024	 % change

Italy		  637   	 620   	 -2.6%
    % of total revenues		  43.3%	 42.3%	

Europe E.U.		  636   	 657   	 3.4%
    % of total revenues		  43.2%	 44.8%	

Other countries		  198   	 188   	 -5.0%
    % of total revenues		  13.5%	 12.8%	

		  1,471   	 1,466   	 -0.3%

Business segments €/mln	 	 2023	 2024	 % change

Paper revenues		  1,194   	 1,172   	 -1.9%
    % of total revenues		  81.2%	 79.9%	
Paper for recycling revenues		  2   	 11   	 552.0%
    % of total revenues		  0.1%	 0.7%	
Pulp revenues		  77   	 89   	 15.1%
    % of total revenues		  5.3%	 6.1%	
Energy revenues		  171   	 168   	 -2.1%
    % of total revenues		  11.6%	 11.4%	
Others		  26   	 27   	 1,2%
    % of total revenues		  1.8%	 1.8%	

 		  1,471   	 1,466   	 -0.3%	
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Market prices

•	CM (coated mechanical papers): in 2024 average sales prices in the coated mechani-
cal paper market experienced a significant drop (around -10%). After a more pro-
nounced decline in the first quarter, the drop in prices stabilised in the subsequent 
three quarters. If we compare the last quarter for the two years, the decrease in the 
market price was at around 5%.

•	CWF (coated woodfree) and UWF (uncoated woodfree): the trend in the market 
price for these two segments was broadly in line with that recorded in the CM mar-
ket. CWF and UWF papers recorded falling prices in the first quarter, followed by 
a recovery, albeit limited, in the second and third quarters, before a further decline 
again in the final quarter.

	 2024 was characterised by average prices that were around 5% lower than in 2023.

	- With regard to CWF, compared to the price at the close of the previous year, prices 
at the end of 2024 were generally stable; despite this, the average market price in 2024 
fell compared to the average price in 2023. 

	- In the UWF segment, the average price in 2024 was down compared to the average 
in 2023. However, when comparing prices from the end of 2024 with those from the 
end of 2023, prices recovered by around 2%.

•	Unlike the other segments, average prices in the Containerboard segment rose in 
2024 compared to 2023. The trend in the market prices, which rose by around 5% 
on an annual basis, showed a drop in the first quarter before rising in the next two 
quarters and then declining again towards the end of the year.

•	Speciality Paper: the Speciality paper segment generally followed the trend of the 
other product families.

	 The price trend in 2024 began in the wake of the 2023 declines, especially in the 
first quarter, before stabilising and reversing course in the second and third quarters, 
when prices recovered after the increase in raw material costs in the first half of the 
year. Prices were once again on the downturn in the final part of the year.

	 Depending on the segment, average prices in 2024 dropped by between 5% and 
12% compared to the 2023 average.

	 However, when comparing prices in December 2024 with those of December 2023, 
prices rose by 4% to 17%, again depending on the segment.

42.3%
Italy

44.8%
Europe E.U. 

12.8%
Other countries

79.9%
Paper revenues

11.4%
Energy revenues

6.1%
Pulp revenues

1.8%
Others

0.7%
Paper for recycling revenues

Markets
2024

Business segments
2024

Source: various surveys on certain representative products conducted by the trade press.
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Costs

Compared to the previous year, costs in 2024 were characterised by an upwards trend 
in the first half of the year and a downwards trend in the final quarter. On aver-
age, the unit cost in the year was higher than in the previous year for almost all raw 
materials. After the lows recorded in mid-2023, fibres, which represent the main raw 
material used by the Group, saw a series of continuous rises throughout the first six 
months of 2024, peaking in the summer month, and then, after a period of stabili-
ty, partially falling back in the second half of the year. The trend observed in 2024 
led to fibre prices that, depending on the type, were on average about 20% to 30% 
higher than in the previous year. An example of this is NBSK long-fibre ($ 1,519/t 
2024 average), which rose in relation to the average 2023 price ($ 1,257/t), showing a 
20.8% decrease in dollar and a 20.7% in Euro terms. Again, among the celluloses, the 
price of eucalyptus also rose, going from an average of $ 1,001/t in 2023 to an average 
price of $ 1,231/t in 2024 (+23%). Considering the other raw materials, the price for 
standard latex, which represents most of the latex acquired by the Group, increased in 
2024 from an average of around € 1,200 in 2023 to € 1,300 in the current year. The 
price of carbonates, another of the main raw materials used in paper manufacturing, 
was generally stable, recording a drop in average prices of around -1%. Prices of wood, 
another essential raw material for the Group, generally increased in 2024.

After remaining generally stable throughout 2023, the price of paper for recycling in 
2024 was characterised by an average rise of over 38% compared to the previous year, 
with the trend showing stability in the first quarter and then rising prices with high 
levels of volatility in the subsequent months. 

The European natural gas markets showed a gradual upwards trend in 2024. Prices 
peaked at the end of the year with wholesale prices nearing € 50 /MWh in December, 
while the minimum values were recorded in the first months of the year, with average 
prices in February and March at below € 30/MWh. The yearly average price of gas 
was nevertheless lower than in the previous year (PSV: € 36.6/MWh, down € 6.5/
MWh on 2023), confirming a situation in which the balance between supply and de-
mand remains fragile and highly sensitive to geopolitical tensions following an as-yet 
insufficient increase in LNG supply.

Prices on the Italian power market took impetus from natural gas, rising from almost 
€ 100/MWh at the start of the year to around € 135/MWh at year-end.
The trend on the Italian market was similar to those of the other European energy 
exchanges, which all recorded average prices below those of 2023. Italy maintained 
positive differentials in relation to the European markets, guaranteeing consistent 
imports across the borders, supported by the new-found stability of the French nuclear 
production segment. The role played by renewable energy in 2024 is also of note, with 
Italy recording some of the highest volumes ever observed.
As for EUAs, prices fell at the start of the year before rising again to stabilise, albeit 
at a consistently lower level than in the previous year, with an average price of around 
€ 65/tonne, down by around 22% on 2023. Prices peaked at € 75/tonne and hit a 
minimum of € 52/tonne. Price trends were also influenced by gas price dynamics, 
the reduction in coal consumption, record production from renewable sources, lower 
industrial emissions, the confirmation of the auctions of the RePowerEU plan and the 
extension of the conformity deadline, as well as the volatility associated with winter 
risk premiums and geopolitical tensions.
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Energy

The Group operates in the energy sector through its subsidiary Burgo Energia S.r.l., 
which manages all Group's energy aspects through its two “Energy Management” and 
“Operation and Trading” business areas.

Burgo Energia dealt with significantly complex issues over the course of the year, 
given the instability in energy markets, which once again in 2024, had a considerable 
impact on gas prices.
In 2024 Burgo Energia consolidated its natural gas redelivery activities to certain 
Group plants and a number of leading customers in the steel and paper sectors. This 
new business line is developed by Burgo Energia, procuring supplies directly on the 
stock markets (GME and EEX) or by operating through bilateral agreements with 
leading market operators. 
Thanks to lower gas prices than in 2023, Burgo Energia was able to increase its vol-
umes of stored gas for the same financial outlay. This enabled a greater diversification in 
the supply mix for the winter period and generated economic benefits for the Group.
In 2024 Burgo Energia also continued its process to focus its business activities on 
plant services; in particular, it continued to manage the Group's participation in the 
Capacity Market project and the MSD dispatching service for the power stations of 
the Avezzano and Sora paper mills, and for other industrial sites operated by other 
paper sector operators.
In 2024 it also strengthened its relationship with another client through the signing of 
gas supply, electricity withdrawal and capacity market contracts for the coming years.

In terms of investments in energy, 2024 was characterised by the launch of the 
photovoltaic system installed at the Burgo Ardennes plant. The system, which has an 
installed capacity of 9.8 MW, entered into operation between August and September 
2024, and will be able to produce around 9,157 MWh of energy per year. This output 
will be self-consumed by the plant, enabling a reduction in the amount of energy 
usually withdrawn from the grid in the region of 10%. This is an important step 
towards achieving the decarbonisation targets adopted by Burgo Ardennes which are 
earmarked for considerable investment in the coming years.

Burgo Energia also continued to handle the technical management of the Energy 
Paper Consortium in 2024, consolidating its position as one of the leading extraor-
dinary instantaneous upstream modulation service providers (formally electrical load 
interruptibility service). 
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Furthermore, Burgo Energia managed the participation of the Group's plants in the 
Gas Interruptibility service for the winter period, a particularly critical service given 
the gas availability situation in Italy.
Through its “Energy Management” Division, in addition to handling the manage-
ment and execution of various services for energy-intensive businesses, Burgo Energia 
managed the certification process for the new cogeneration plants in Toscolano and 
Tolmezzo to be recognised as CARs (High Return Cogeneration plants), obtaining 
access to the support scheme through TEEs (white certificates). 

In terms of energy management, in 2024 ISO 50001 certifications were obtained for 
the energy management systems at the Tolmezzo, Avezzano and Ardennes sites, with 
the aim of completing the process for the Lugo di Vicenza plant in the first half of 
2025. As regards energy management at its plants, Burgo Energia coordinated energy 
efficiency measures at the Group's sites. Under the decarbonisation plan to 2030 the 
Group aims to reduce energy consumption by at least 3% each year through non-stra-
tegic energy efficiency interventions. Thanks to the work of various technical work-
ing groups set up with all the plants and the consolidated procedures of the Energy 
Management System, the Group's Italian plants achieved the target for 2024. Next 
year, the energy efficiency programme will be extended to the Burgo Ardennes plant 
which, as noted above, was awarded ISO 50001 certification for its energy manage-
ment system in December 2024 and is ready to tackle the new challenges posed by 
energy efficiency.

Considering its operations in Italy and abroad, the Burgo Group produced a total of 
1,126 GWh of electricity (1,035 GWh in 2023), mainly for self-consumption, and 
consumed a total of 304 million m3 of natural gas (273 million Sm3 in 2023). Burgo 
Energia sold electricity totalling 1,266 GWh (968 GWh in 2023) and natural gas 
totalling 385 million Sm3 (253 million Sm3 in 2023).

Investments

In terms of total investments in tangible assets made during 2024, these amounted to 
€ 38.6 million (€ 49.3 million in 2023). Investments in intangible assets came to € 0.4 
million.  This is in addition to fixed assets for right of use and leasing totalling € 4.5 
million.

In line with the approved Business Plan, the investments programme continued in all 
plants with projects aimed at new products, improving production and energy effi-
ciency, quality, safety and the environment - with a focus on the transition to decar-
bonisation - and plant maintenance.

At the Sora plant the Line 2 conversion project was completed, with the launch of the 
production plant to manufacture multi-ply coated and non-coated paper with a virgin 
fibre base and suitable for food use.

At Avezzano the authorisation process and design for the development and installation 
of an anaerobic wastewater treatment plant continued. This plant will enable the pro-
duction of biomethane for use in the existing boiler, with resulting benefits for energy 
efficiency.

Another energy saving intervention concerned the completed modernisation of the 
steam and aerothermal plant of Machine 3 at the Tolmezzo plant. 

Meanwhile, at the Ardennes plant, the new 9.8 MW photovoltaic plant entered into 
operation in October 2024 and will enable significant reductions in electricity with-
drawals from the grid. Actions to maintain production capacity and maintain or 
improve quality continued for the paper and pulp lines.

The commitment to technological renewal, especially in the increasingly critical 
automation sector, has continued with the updating and optimisation of system 
performance in order to increase efficiency, productivity and sustainability.  As well 
as the programme to modernise existing systems, progress was made on the project to 
integrate IT networks with OT operating technology in a single network platform. 
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In terms of cogeneration, two new major investments were made during the year: the 
steam turbine at Villorba and the gas turbine at Sarego were replaced, with the new 
systems both entering operation in October 2024.
The new steam turbine in Villorba will increase the efficiency of the power plant and 
allow access to high-yield cogeneration incentives. 
The works at Sarego will also increase plant efficiency as well as enabling a consistent 
reduction in atmospheric emissions.

The new Metering and Regulation (M&R) Station currently being commissioned in 
Tolmezzo will connect the plant to the high-pressure natural gas network, thus ena-
bling the methane compressor of the gas turbine to be definitively decommissioned, 
delivering considerable savings in terms of energy.

As regards the planned biomass plant in Tolmezzo, the initial authorisation phase has 
been completed and the project is now in the design phase, a preliminary step prior to 
the start of the final authorisation process.

Feasibility studies were completed for other projects involving the Group's cogenera-
tion power stations, including the replacement of the gas engine in Treviso. 

In terms of renewable energy, the planned installation of a 10 MW photovoltaic sys-
tem at the Avezzano plant was completed. 

Through these actions, the Group is continuing to advance towards its sustainability 
and decarbonisation goals, developing a productive combination of high-yield cogen-
eration, renewable energy and highly efficient energy performance.

To implement its policies and objectives regarding health, safety and the environment 
(HSE), all Group sites continued to make investments related to programmes to pre-
vent and improve the protection of health and safety in the workplace, with particular 
attention given to environmental protection and compliance with new regulations.

In addition to these technical investments, improvements were also made in the IT 
sector. In 2024 there was a strong focus on the protection and security of IT and op-
erating resources, further strengthening the cyber security strategy. A new firewall was 
installed to protect the company’s network, and an identity verification and manage-
ment platform was implemented.
Meanwhile, technological upgrades and improvements continued to be made to oper-
ating systems and software.

Research and development

Activities mainly focused on: 

• production processes, such as development of innovative technologies to improve 
competitiveness; 

• new products in the graphic, special and packaging sectors.

Production processes 

Activities concentrated in particular on maximising non-wood fibres, including 
those originating as streams from other industrial processes. Studies into the use of 
post-consumer waste of various origins and types continued, focusing on the recycled 
flexible packaging and containerboard sectors. 
In terms of non-fibrous raw materials, studies and applications continued both in the 
lab and industrial processes, involving innovative products for functional treatments 
with a view to eliminating fossil-based materials. 

New products  

Sustainability, understood as the design of new or existing products with a minimal 
or reduced environmental impact, including in terms of CO2 emissions, has been the 
leading driver of the Group's activities to develop paper for applications traditionally 
associated with plastic. 
More specifically, the introduction of a series of laws and regulations at both national 
and European level, combined with increased sensitivity on the part of consumers and 
brand owners regarding the sustainability of products and their reduced environmental 
impact, have proved to be decisive drivers in the development of graphic, special and 
packaging products. 

The upgrading of Line 2 at Sora has opened the doors to the folding box board and food 
service board sectors with the creation of the “Sun” brand and the development of a 
product portfolio based on multi-ply card for packaging and Food & Beverage use.
In the inkjet segment for digital papers, the range of treated and coated products was 
extended and certified for their advanced print quality. 
The rebranding and expansion of the woodfree graphic products range, which inclu-
des thickened coated papers and uncoated woodfree for the publishing sector, was also 
completed.
In the Havana recycled packaging sector, specific products were developed such as 
flexible and functional packaging, both involving applications that do not strictly 
pertain to the corrugation sector.
Special emphasis was given to issues relating to recycling and composting in a context of 
functionalising paper supports for sectors where synthetic materials are already available.
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Health, Safety and Environment (HSE) 

In line with the Sustainable Development Goals of the UN Agenda 2030 and the 
Group's internal ESG GO2030 programme, the Burgo Group is fully aware of its role 
and responsibility to the community and the environment in which it operates, and to 
guaranteeing access to a healthy and safe working environment for all its collaborators 
and other stakeholders. With this in mind, the Group considers Health, Safety and 
Environment (HSE) to be an integral part of a sustainable development model able to 
protect and guarantee the rights of future generations.

In line the principles enshrined in its Code of Ethics, the Group believes the protec-
tion of the environment and the health and safety of its workers to be fundamental 
values to be upheld in all its activities.

The HSE Department, Sustainability and Integrated Management Systems, estab-
lished at the headquarters in Altavilla Vicentina is responsible for managing and 
standardising all activities regarding the Group's HSE Management System, defining 
action plans, monitoring their application, and coordinating the activities carried out 
at individual production sites. At each plant, HSE aspects are managed by specially 
trained and appointed personnel.

Monthly coordination meetings continued during 2024 with the Prevention and 
Protection Service Officers (RSPP) and Environmental Management System Officers 
(RSGA), organised from head office, with the aim of assessing progress in achieving 
improvement goals, reviewing events and non-compliance, preparing any corrective 
measures, promoting the exchange and sharing of good practices between the Group 
sites and companies.

The Burgo Group has defined an Integrated HSE Policy which states that the respect 
for and protection of the environment, natural resources and occupational health and 
safety are issues that concern the entire organisation and constitute the foundation of 
the Company's operational and market strategies and environmental commitments.

To optimise the existing system, in 2024 the integrated and systemic approach to 
HSE was consolidated according to the reference standards (e.g., EMAS Regulation, 
ISO 14001, ISO 45001) used to implement the company management system. Key 
aspects were revised and strengthened, focusing in particular on context analysis, risk 
opportunity analysis, stakeholder engagement, and the continuous improvement of 
company processes and management systems, with a view to ensuring a more integrat-
ed approach to sustainability.

Following this analysis, specific activities, initiatives, programmes and projects were 
directed towards various system areas to mitigate risks and promote the embracing 
of new opportunities. This translates into specific goals and improvement targets, 
defined on an annual basis and managed as part of the management systems with 
regular status monitoring.
An Integrated QHSE management System Department was created at central level 
in 2023, with the aim of benefiting from the opportunities provided by the common 
structure of international ISO standards relating to the management systems adopted 
(High Level Structure), which support organisations to standardise different manage-
ment systems and facilitate their integration.

Occupational Health and Safety

Workplace safety is fundamentally important to safeguarding workers’ health and 
wellbeing, to business productivity, and to the Group's overall progress and success. 
Consequently, occupational health and safety represents an indispensable value for the 
Burgo Group. Managing occupational safety above all means guaranteeing the health 
of all stakeholders, and is pursued through risk organisation, assessment and man-
agement models that analyse hazards and identify the measures necessary to avoid or 
reduce them. 
The Burgo Group aims to prevent occupational accidents and illnesses by providing 
its employees and all those who work in its plants with a safe and secure working 
environment. To reach this target, the Group has adopted integrated and structured 
systems which provide for the definition, implementation and monitoring of the 
Company Safety Policy.
In 2024 the plan to obtain ISO 45001 certification for the health and safety man-
agement system (HSMS) - a key goal of the ESG GO2030 programme - continued, 
with a view to obtaining certifications for all of the Group's production sites by 2027. 
Over the year, ISO 45001 certification was achieved for the Treviso (Mignagola) 
plant, joining the Villorba, Sora, Toscolano Maderno and Burgo Ardennes plants. The 
adoption of a HSMS offers a way to systemically reduce accidents and illnesses, pro-
mote improvements to employee wellbeing, facilitate regulatory compliance, improve 
communication, participation and consultation, and increase operational efficiency.
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The Group's HSE Committee meets once a month to promote HSE as a key priority 
for the company as a whole, to review monthly performance and KPIs on HSE as-
pects, to analyse serious incidents (e.g., accidents/injuries), to share updates, news and 
projects, and to take decisions on new improvement actions.
Safety Meetings are held periodically and are attended by all key stakeholders, in-
cluding the Employer and the Prevention and Protection Service Officer (RSPP). At 
the meeting, the results are compared with the targets and the necessary strategic and 
operational measures are defined.
All accidents, including near misses, are analysed promptly and in detail, involving all 
relevant departments and personnel and identifying the root cause of the incident to 
define the appropriate preventive actions.
The 12 principles campaign for a “new” culture of safety continued during 2024. 
These principles are aimed at raising awareness and strengthening understanding on 
safety issues at all levels, providing indications on the correct approach to safety (e.g., 
safety when working as a team, the application of the 4 Ps (pause for thought, pre-
vent, plan, protect) before starting each work task, etc.) and operating guidelines for 
managing specific activities.

To support the promotion of a culture inspired by safety and prevention, the Bur-
go Group is committed to developing and implementing training and information 
programmes on occupational health and safety. To supplement mandatory training, 
in 2022 the Group launched the Vision Zero initiative. Continued in the subsequent 
years, the initiative is an interactive training course for plant personnel aimed at in-
creasing individual awareness of the ability to recognise risks and adopt safe preventa-
tive behaviour.

To further promote health, safety and environmental issues within the company, in 
2024 the Group HSE committee decided to establish the new position of HSE Tutor.  
The HSE Tutor is a member of the team who carefully monitors HSE aspects on a 
daily basis and actively contributes to solve problems while promoting a positive HSE 
culture. The HSE Tutor is first and foremost a reference point for staff and serves as a 
bridge between Executives/Managers/HSE officers and personnel. The aim is to gen-

erate a close internal collaboration on HSE issues at plant level and promote participa-
tion and engagement in HSE projects and activities.  The HSE Tutor will not replace 
any existing roles in the organisation and instead is designed to play a catalysing role 
in the many initiatives in progress.

All of the above activities were conducted in close collaboration with the Supervisory 
Board pursuant to Legislative Decree 231/2001, which receives periodic reports from 
the HSE, Sustainability and Integrated Management Systems Department on its 
targets, plans and performance.

Environmental Management

The Group has assessed the impact of its actions, products and services to manage 
and prevent negative environmental impacts, promoting the use of the best available 
technologies at all of the sites in which it operates. All Burgo Group sites operate in 
compliance with the reference European Directives and according to the provisions 
of specific authorisations issued by competent bodies and are subject to periodic 
audits by the relevant authorities to confirm compliance with the legal and regulatory 
requirements defined in the authorisations.
At each site, an Environmental Management System has been implemented and main-
tained (all plants are certified compliant with ISO 14001) and periodic internal audits 
are conducted to monitor the level of application and compliance, and the status of 
the relative improvement actions and targets.
Due to the nature of its business, the Group's production activities require the man-
agement of several environmental aspects. In particular, monitoring and improvement 
actions refer to:

•	energy consumption, with the definition of several investment and process efficiency 
projects;

•	the use of water resources with reduced water consumption policies;
•	the management of waste and by-products as part of the circular economy;
•	GHG emissions with the adoption of the best available technologies (BAT) pub-

lished in the reference documents issued by the European Union.
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Personnel

In 2024, around 48,000 hours of training were provided, of which almost 17,500 
linked to worker safety and health aspects.

Group employees, including temporary workers, at 31 December 2024 totalled 2,887, 
compared to 2,934 at the end of 2023.

Personnel at 31 December		  31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 change	 % change

Burgo Group		  1,108	 1,088	 (20)  	 -1.8%

Italian subsidiaries		  1,093	 1,061	 (32)  	 -2.9%

Foreign subsidiaries		  733	 738	 5   	 0.7%

	 	 2,934	 2,887	 (47)  	 -1.6%

Social safety nets (CIGO) hours		  31 Dec 2023 	 31 Dec 2024	 change 	 % change

CIGO		   531,118 	  165,563 	 (365,555)  	 -68.8%

CIGS		   -   	  53,766 	 53,766   	 0%

		   531,118 	  219,329 	 (311,789)  	 -58.7%

The Group makes use of temporary workers, for the most part at Burgo Ardennes, 
which in 2024 had 146 (FTE), compared to 186 in 2023.

Use of social safety nets was more limited in 2024 compared to the previous year 
following a small but gradual uptake in demand. In fact, in 2024 production volumes 
recovered somewhat after 2023, which was characterised by a stagnant economy and 
extraordinary destocking processes. 

The table below illustrates the recourse made to social safety nets in 2024: 

In view of the continuation of an especially complex socio-economic context, once 
again in 2024 the Group provided € 400,000 in bonuses for workers to alleviate the 
negative effects of inflation as far as possible. 

Investments in HSE

So as to implement its policies and objectives regarding the environment, health and 
safety (HSE), all Group sites continued to make investments related to programmes 
to prevent and improve the protection of health and safety of workers, protect the 
environment and comply with regulatory changes. 
The main investment projects aimed at HSE management in 2024 regarded:

• improvements to plant and machine safety at all Group sites; 
•	upgrades related to fire safety and loss prevention; 
•	the installation of lifelines and anti-fall devices; 
•	the installation of energy consumption reduction and energy efficiency systems (e.g. 

measures to optimise vacuum plants);
•	improving security and extraordinary maintenance on sewage treatment works;
•	work on managing the water cycle, with the aim of reducing consumption.
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Financial risk management policy and coverage 

Financial instruments in terms of liabilities mainly consist of payables due to financial 
institutions, derivatives that can also be used to cover interest rate, exchange rate and 
commodities risks and trade payables. On the assets side, they consist of cash and cash 
equivalents, investments in listed shares and securities, trade receivables and financial 
instruments that can be stipulated as hedges against interest rate and exchange rate risks. 
The Group is exposed to the following risks indicated below. This section outlines the 
objectives, policies, management processes and methods used to assess them: 

	 1  Credit risk 
	 2  Liquidity risk 
	 3  Market risk 

In each section of comments on financial statement items, the 2024 Financial State-
ments provide additional quantitative information. 
The disclosure required under IFRS 7 was included within the Notes to the individual 
and consolidated financial statements. 

	 1  •  Credit risk 

This represents the risk that a customer or a counterparty to a financial instrument 
causes a financial loss by not complying with an obligation and mainly derives from 
trade receivables and financial investments. 

Trade receivables and other receivables 

Within the context of its credit management activities through the dedicated depart-
ment, the Group has established an internal process with the aim of defining every 
customer's creditworthiness and carefully monitoring credit limits and overdue items. 
Risk control is based on constant analysis of customers with overdue items or who have 
exceeded their credit limits, monitored daily for activation of corrective actions, which 
range from blocking orders to legal action. Internal activities are further supported by 
instruments of coverage available on the market, including insurance policies and with-
out recourse transfer of receivables. Sales are supported by insurance coverage stipulat-
ed with major insurance companies for first and second level credit (top up). 
In 2024, Burgo Group S.p.A., Mosaico S.p.A. And Burgo Distribuzione S.r.l. renewed 
the certification of the credit management system with regards to the domestic UNI 
44:2018 standard and the international TUV Rheinland CMC: 2012 standard. 

Financial investments 

Exposure to credit risk is limited by exclusively investing in securities with high 
liquidity and only with counterparties recognised as reliable by the market. 
Financial assets also include time deposit investments made with Italian banks known 
to be reliable. 

Guarantees 

Group policies allow for the issuing of financial guarantees only relative to associated 
companies. Collateral is also provided in certain cases, relative to subsidised finance 
operations or for medium-term financing. 

	 2  •  Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will have difficulty complying with its obliga-
tions relative to financial liabilities. 
The approach to liquidity management is aimed at guaranteeing, as much as possible, 
that there are always sufficient funds available to comply with obligations when matu-
rity dates are reached. 
The Group performs liquidity analysis as a function of budget forecasts, determining 
short, medium and long-term cash flows. 
Estimates are periodically reviewed to ensure there is adequate on demand cash and 
cash equivalents to cover operating expenses forecast for a period of around 12 months. 
To meet short-term financial needs as at 31 December 2024, short-term credit lines were 
available, totalling around € 238.1 million, of which € 201.4 million in Italy and € 36.7 
million in Belgium available to Burgo Ardennes. The Burgo Group also has access to a 
Revolving line totalling € 100 million that was unused as at 31 December 2024.
The Group also has access to without-recourse factoring lines with a total limit of 
more than € 100 million, in addition to a limit with recourse of about € 8 million on 
Burgo Ardennes included in the ST lines. 
For long-term financial requirements, the Group has loans of around € 173.5 million.
It should be noted that time deposits have been opened for the remuneration man-
agement of cash in current accounts. As at 31 December 2024 time deposits totalled 
around € 122.7 million.
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	 3  • Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future financial flows associated with 
a financial instrument fluctuate following a change in market prices, a change in 
exchange rates, interest rates or the prices of equity instruments. The objective is to 
manage and control exposure to this risk, keeping it within acceptable levels, while 
simultaneously optimising returns on investments.

Risk associated with interest rate fluctuations 

The Group hedged against the interest rate fluctuations on the pool loan contract and 
the Sace-guaranteed loan contract. As at 31 December 2024, hedging on the three 
main loans totalling € 152.6 million (Amortising Line, Bullet Line and Sace-guaran-
teed Line) was approximately 98%.  

Exchange risk 

In relation to sales activities, purchases and sales are made in other currencies, at pres-
ent mainly in USD and GBP. 
Therefore, hedging policies are mainly focused on stipulating futures contracts against 
the euro. 
Additionally, other currencies are periodically monitored, which may be used in in-
voices on a continuous or occasional basis. 
Hedges are carried out on the basis of estimates of future financial flows in currencies on 
the basis of invoices payable and receivable, and taking budget forecasts into account. 
Exchange risk hedging transactions are carried out to neutralise the effects induced 
by changes in the exchange rate on the value in euro of cash flows denominated in 
foreign currencies. 
Hedging policies allow use of forward contracts and options relative to exchange rates, 
to guarantee the most flexible coverage. As at 31 December 2024 there were no forex 
derivatives.
The period of coverage for hedges is normally three months.

Equity risk 

In the context of its investment activities, the Group purchases equity investments for 
investment purposes. 

Commodity risk 

The strategic objective is to stabilise profit margins in terms of reducing risks associ-
ated with volatility in the prices of gas, electricity, CO2 and materials used in produc-
tion processes, in order to minimise exposure to risk and possible associated losses. 
With an eye to continuously reducing loss risks, the Group has the simultaneous 
objective of minimising costs associated with obtaining its production factors. To 
that end, the Group may make use of instruments to cover risk, including fixed price 
purchases, forward purchases and financial swaps.
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Burgo Group results and financial structure

The 2024 financial year shows an increase in total operating revenue and income from 
€ 1,529.4 million in 2023 to € 1,533.2 million in 2024 (up by 0.2%), recording adjust-
ed EBITDA of € 140.2 million, compared to € 157.3 million in 2023.

The first part of the year was characterised by recovering demand in all market segments 
served by the Group, especially special paper and containerboard, with all customers 
purchasing more consistent volumes after the weak demand seen in 2023. Demand fell 
in the second part of the year, especially in the third quarter, before bouncing back in 
the final quarter. Overall, sales volumes grew in 2024 compared to 2023 despite not yet 
benefiting fully from the effects of the new investments made in the carton board and 
flexible packaging segments.
The year was characterised by higher raw materials costs, particular for wood, fibre, 
carbonates and paper for recycling, and lower average costs for natural gas compared to 
2023, despite the marked rise in the second half of the year.
In a context in which raw materials costs were higher than in the previous year, the 
Group continued its policy to continuously improve production and energy efficiency.
Given the cost dynamics shown above, average sales prices were lower than in 2023, 
although in 2024 there was a general upwards trend between the start and end of the 
year with a view to offsetting the impact of these dynamics.

In financial terms, net financial position at the end of the year was cash positive by 
€ 121.2 million, a further improvement from the previous year, which had already 
showed a liquidity of € 113.8 million. This improvement, which amounted to € 7.4 mil-
lion, mainly derives from the gross margins realised during the year for € 140.2 million, 
and the generation of cash on hand resulting from the decrease in trade receivables for 
€ 11.4 million. These positive financial flows more than offset the negative flows stem-
ming predominantly from investments for € 43.4 million, increased inventories for 
€ 9.7 million, the reduction in payables due to suppliers for € 20 million, the payment of 
net financial expenses and taxes for € 23.3 million, and the distribution of dividends for 
approximately € 23 million.

Consolidated Income statement for the year €/000	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024		  % change

Revenues			   1,470,813   	 1,466,094   	 -0.3%

Other income			   58,639   	 67,067   	

Total operating revenues and income		  1,529,452   	 1,533,161   	 0.2%

Costs for materials and external services		  (1,060,632)  	 (1,198,650)  	

Personnel expenses			   (174,705)  	 (173,786)  	

Other operating expenses			   (43,927)  	 (31,228)  	

Change in inventories			   (93,964)  	 9,725   	

Capitalised costs for internal work			  1,107   	 1,017   	

Total operating expenses			   (1,372,121)  	 (1,392,921)  	 1.5%

Adjusted EBITDA			   157,331   	 140,240   	 -10.9%

Depreciation and amortization			   (46,678)  	 (46,989)  	

Capital gains/losses on disposal of non-current assets	 899   	 (164)  	

EBIT before non-recurring expenses and income
and restructuring			   111,552   	 93,086   	

Write-backs/write-downs of non-current assets	 (5,837)  	 (4,050)  	

Income/expenses of a non-recurring nature and for restructuring	 (9,054)  	 (17,133)  	

Operating result (EBIT)			   96,661   	 71,903   	

Financial expenses			   (13,152)  	 (13,467)  	

Financial income			   7,644   	 11,678   	

Result before taxes			   91,153   	 70,114   	 -23.1%

Income taxes			   (17,595)  	 (15,215)  	

Profit/(loss) for the period			   73,558   	 54,899   	
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Revenues from ordinary operations in 2024 amounted to € 1,466.1 million, down by 
€ 4.7 million (-0.3%) with respect to the € 1,470.8 million seen in 2023. The reduction 
in revenues is due to lower unit prices (both for paper products and energy), which 
were only partially offset by positive sales volumes. In particular, paper revenues de-
creased by € 22.2 million (-1.9%) and energy revenues by € 3.6 million (-2.1%).
The amount of paper sold totalled 1,174 thousand t, up by 5.7% with respect to the 
1,111 thousand t sold in 2023. The reduction in average sales prices year-on-year was 
mainly recorded in the first part of the year, continuing the trend of the final months 
of the previous year before recovering towards the summer.

Other income totalled € 67.1 million (€ 58.6 million the previous year) due to green 
and white environmental certificates and income from electricity and gas interrupti-
bility agreements. 

Operating expenses totalled € 1,392.9 million against € 1,372.1 million the previous 
year, an increase of 1.5%. Within operating expenses, personnel amounted to € 173.8 
million, compared to € 174.7 million the previous year. Meanwhile, other operating ex-
penses came to € 31.2 million, down by € 12.7 million compared to the previous year 
mainly due to lower provisions for risk and charges and lower CO2 certificate costs.
Unit costs for raw materials increased compared to 2023 due to rising prices, par-
ticular for fibres and paper for recycling. Average natural gas prices fell compared 
to the previous year, which partially offset the higher quantities of gas used to meet 
increased paper production needs and the resulting increase in CO2 emissions.

Adjusted EBITDA was € 140.2 million, against € 157.3 million in 2023. In percent-
age terms, EBITDA amounted to 9.1% of total operating revenue and income, com-
pared to 10.3% the previous year. Margins measured on the Group's pulp and paper 
revenues also decreased from 12.4% in 2023 to 11.1 % in 2024.

Depreciation and amortization were generally stable compared to the previous year, 
amounting to € 47.0 million in 2024 and € 46.7 million in 2023.
The operating result before non-recurring transactions, amounted to € 93.1 mil-
lion, compared to € 111.6 million the previous year.
Write-downs on non-current assets amounting to € -4.1 million were made on 
plants and machinery at one plant of the subsidiary Mosaico S.p.A.
Non-recurring income and expenses in 2024 amounted to € -17.1 million, compared 
to € -9.1 million last year, and refer predominantly to expenses for extraordinary oper-
ations, for environmental remediation, and for decommissioned sites.

Financial expenses was generally stable, rising from € 13.2 million in 2023 to € 13.5 
million in 2024. 
Financial income increased during 2024, rising to € 11.7 million from € 7.6 million in 
2023, mainly due to higher interest income accruing on investments in time deposits.
As a consequence of the above, the profit for the period, after income taxes of € -15.2 
million, came to € 54.9 million, compared to profit of € 73.6 million the previous year.
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Non-recurring expenses and restructuring costs

To improve the comparability of amounts with the previous year, the company identi-
fies non-recurring income and expenses in the Report on Operations, indicating these 
separately.
The aspects considered when identifying extraordinary and/or non-recurring compo-
nents are:

•	Significance
•	Nature
•	Size and impact

The categories identified as extraordinary and/or non-recurring components based on 
the Group’s accounting policies are:

•	  Expenses or income, also of financial nature, connected to significant non-recur-
ring events or transactions, or transactions or events of an exceptional nature (e.g. 
natural disasters such as earthquakes, fires, floods, hurricanes, epidemics);

•	Expenses or income, also of financial nature, connected to extraordinary opera-
tions such as acquisitions or disposals of companies (e.g. capital gains and losses on 
sales of fixed assets, integration costs);

•	Costs, also of financial nature, for restructuring and integration operations (e.g. 
costs for employee redundancy incentives, costs to close and manage facilities no 
longer operational, other costs which would not be incurred in the absence of the 
restructuring and/or integration);

•	Costs for the initial start-up of systems incurred to make the asset fully operation-
al, if they cannot be capitalised and are significant;

•	write-downs/write-backs on fixed assets and equity investments, goodwill write-
downs due to impairment;

•	Non-recurring financial expenses.

In preparing this type of disclosure, the company took note of the practices used by its 
competitors, as well as by other entities operating on regulated markets. Additionally, reg-
ulatory references were considered such as the guidelines issued by the European Security 
Market Authority (ESMA) and CONSOB communications. Although these are not reg-
ulations the company is required to follow, they are important guidelines and references.

The indicator selected by management to represent its performance, after removing 
items relative to extraordinary costs and/or non-recurring operations, is the Gross Op-
erating Margin (EBITDA). In the context of the disclosure regarding the nature and 
amount of the most significant cost and revenue items (IAS 1 - paragraph 97), below 
is a reconciliation schedule and a description of non-recurring items.
Below is a schedule reconciling non-recurring components relative to 2024.

Consolidated Income statement for the year €/000	 31 Dec 2024 		

	

Revenues			   1,466,094   	 -   	 1,466,094   

Other income			   67,067   	 -   	 67,067   

Total operating revenues and income		  1,533,161   	 -   	 1,533,161   

Costs for materials and external services		  (1,198,650)  	 (14,568)  	 (1,213,219)  

Personnel expenses			   (173,786)  	 -   	 (173,786)  

Other operating expenses			   (31,228)  	 (2,565)  	 (33,792)  

Change in inventories			   9,725   	 -   	 9,725   

Capitalised costs for internal work			  1,017   	 -   	 1,017   

Total operating expenses			   (1,392,921)  	 (17,133)  	 (1,410,054)  

Adjusted EBITDA			   140,240   	 - 	 -   

Depreciation and amortization			   (46,989)  	 -   	 (46,989)  

Capital gains/losses on disposal of non-current assets	 (164)  	 -   	 (164)  

EBIT before non-recurring expenses and
income and restructuring			   93,086   	 (17,133)  	 75,953   

Write-backs/write-downs of non-current assets	 (4,050)  	 -   	 (4,050)  

Income/expenses of a non-recurring nature and
for restructuring			   (17,133)  	 17,133   	 -   

Operating result (EBIT)			   71,903   	 -   	 71,903   

Financial expenses			   (13,467)  	 -   	 (13,467)  

Financial income			   11,678   	 -   	 11,678   

Result before taxes			   70,114   	 -   	 70,114   

Income taxes			   (15,215)  	 -   	 (15,215)  

Profit/(loss) for the period			   54,899   	 -   	 54,899   

INCOME 
STATEMENT 

including 
non-recurring 
components

non-recurring 
components

INCOME 
STATEMENT 

excluding 
non-recurring 
components
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The non-recurring and discontinued components identified refer mainly to:

• Expenses totalling € 6.7 million deriving from extraordinary operations;
• Expenses for € 7 million relative to extraordinary maintenance of certain assets at 

the Duino plant, which was disposed of in 2023;
• Expenses for € 0.4 million associated with decommissioned plants; 
• provisions for environmental remediation for € 3 million.

Net tangible and intangible fixed assets decreased, going from € 398.5 million to 
€ 395.4 million. The change is mainly attributable to the sum of investments in tan-
gible and intangible assets totalling € 43.4 million, disposals for approximately € 0.6 
million, write-downs for € 4.1 million, provisions for € 47.0 million and a positive net 
change of € 5.2 million for more environmental certificates registered for intangible 
fixed assets at year-end. 

Inventories increased by € 9.7 million, while trade receivables from customers fell 
by € 11.4 million and trade payables to suppliers by € 20.2 million, mainly due to 
the reduction in revenues towards the end of the year which contributed to generating 
an overall expansion in operating working capital of € 18.5 million. The optimi-
sation of collection and payment conditions continued to be advanced during the year.

Net financial position was cash positive for € 121.2 million, compared to € 113.8 
million in the previous year.

Shareholders' equity increased by € 31.3 million from € 509.4 million to € 540.7 
million. The main changes are attributable to the profit for the year of € 54.9 million, 
overall negative changes to OCI totalling € 0.7 million, and the payment of dividends 
in the amount of € 23 million.

Breakdown of net financial position €/mln		 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change

Current financial assets			   330.7   	 323.8   	 (7.0)  

Short-term financial payables			   (49.6)  	 (155.8)  	 (106.2)  

Medium/long-term financial assets		  8.3   	 6.3   	 (2.0)  

Medium/long-term financial payables		  (175.6)  	 (53.1)  	 122.6

Net financial position			   113.8   	 121.2   	 7.4   

Statement of financial position: Assets €/mln	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change

Non-current assets			   460.5   	 451.1   	 (9.5)    

	 Property. plant and equipment		  385.1   	 377.2   	 (7.8)  

	 Intangible assets			   13.4   	 18.2   	 4.8   

	 Other non-current assets			   26.1   	 26.7   	 0.6   

	 Deferred tax assets			   36.0   	 29.0   	 (7.1)    

Current assets			   729.2   	 719.7   	 (9.5)    

Total assets			   1,189.7   	 1,170.8   	 (19.0)  

Statement of financial position: Liabilities €/mln	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Chang

Shareholders’ equity			   509.4   	 540.7   	 31.3  

	 Shareholders’ equity pertaining to the Group	 505.5   	 536.7   	 31.2   

	 Shareholders’ equity attributable to non-controlling interests	 3.9   	 4.0   	 0.1      

Non-current liabilities			   262.4   	 127.9   	 (134.5)  

Current liabilities			   418.0   	 502.2   	 84.2      

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities		 1,189.7   	 1,170.8   	 (19.0)  
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Capital and financial structure €/mln		  31 Dec 2023 	 31 Dec 2024	 Change

Intangible assets			   13.4   	 18.2   	 4.8   
Property, plant and equipment			   385.1   	 377.2   	 (7.8)  
Other non-current assets:			 
	 Equity investments			   7.2   	 9.1   	 1.9   
	 Other receivables and non-current assets	 10.6   	 11.4   	 0.8   

Net fixed assets			   416.2   	 415.8   	 (0.4)  
Inventories			   184.8   	 194.6   	 9.7   
Trade receivables			   184.4   	 173.0   	 (11.4)  
Trade payables			   (305.6)  	 (285.4)  	 20.2   

Working capital			   63.7   	 82.2   	 18.5   
Other receivables and current assets		  29.2   	 28.4   	 (0.8)  
Deferred tax assets			   36.0   	 29.0   	 (7.1)  
Provisions for deferred tax liabilities		  (14.1)  	 (13.1)  	 1.1   
Provisions for risks and charges			   (55.9)  	 (46.7)  	 9.2   
Other payables and non-current liabilities		  (0.5)  	 (0.6)  	 (0.1)  
Payables for current taxes			   (7.5)  	 (8.6)  	 (1.1)  
Other payables and current liabilities		  (55.3)  	 (52.4)  	 2.9   

Other operating assets and liabilities		  (68.1)  	 (64.1)  	 4.0   

Working capital			   (4.5)  	 18.1   	 22.5   

Invested capital, after deducting operating liabilities	 411.8   	 433.9   	 22.1   
Severance indemnities and other provisions related to personnel	 (16.2)  	 (14.5)  	 1.7   

Invested capital, after deducting operating liabilities and
severance indemnities (TFR)			   395.6   	 419.5   	 23.9   
Share capital			   (90.0)  	 (90.0)  	 -   
Reserves			   (196.8)  	 (176.2)  	 20.5   
Accumulated profits/(losses) including profit/(loss) for the period	 (218.7)  	 (270.4)  	 (51.7)  
Shareholders’ equity attributable to non-controlling interests	 (3.9)  	 (4.0)  	 (0.1)  

Own capital			   (509.4)  	 (540.7)  	 (31.3)  
Financial receivables and other non-current financial assets	 8.3   	 6.3   	 (2.0)  
Financial receivables and other current financial assets	 58.3   	 54.9   	 (3.4)  
Cash on hand and other cash equivalents		  272.4   	 268.9   	 (3.6)  
Non-current financial liabilities			   (175.6)  	 (53.1)  	 122.6   
Current financial liabilities			   (49.6)  	 (155.8)  	 (106.2)  

Net financial position			   113.8   	 121.2   	 7.4   

Total coverage			   (395.6)  	 (419.5)  	 (23.9)  

Analysis by index		  31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024

ROS (EBIT/Revenues)		  6.32%	 4.69%

AT (Assets turnover: Turnover/Average invested capital)	 1.19	 1.30

ROI (EBIT/Average invested capital) = ROS x AT	 7.54%	 6.09%	

Debt ratio (CI/CN)		  3.41	 3.05

Impact of non-management expenses	 0.76	 0.76

ROE (ROI*CI/CN*RN/RO)		  19.56%	 14.21%

ROCE (Operating income/Net average invested capital)	 21.39%	 17.64%	

NFP/Shareholders' equity		  -0.22	 -0.22	

NFP/EBITDA		  -0.72	 -0.86
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Income statement for the year €/000		  31 Dec 2023		  31 Dec 2024	 % change

Revenues			   869,476  	  	 803,964  	  	 -7.5%

Other income			   21,860 	   	 23,085   	

Total operating revenues and income		  891,336  	  	 827,049   		  -7.2%

Costs for materials and external services		  (711,412)  		  (710,652)  	

Personnel expenses			   (59,351) 	  	 (58,657)  	

Other operating expenses			   (20,062) 	  	 (11,954)  	

Change in inventories			   (55,054)  		  6,944   	

Capitalised costs for internal work			  528  	  	 338   	

Total operating expenses			   (845,351) 	  	 (773,981)  		  -8.4%

Adjusted EBITDA			   45,985   		  53,068 	   	 15.4%

Depreciation and amortization			   (19,071)  		  (19,246)  	

Capital gains/(losses) on disposal of non-current assets	 870  	  	 (177)  	

EBIT before non-recurring expenses and income
and restructuring			   27,784 	   	 33,646   	

Write-backs/write-downs of non-current assets	 (3,028)  		  -   	

Income/expenses of a non-recurring nature and for restructuring	 (5,694)  		  (14,026)  	

Operating result (EBIT)			   19,061   		  19,619   	

Financial expenses			   (10,283)  		  (11,156)  	

Financial income			   59,005 	   	 65,196   	

Result before taxes			   67,783  	  	 73,659  	  	 8.7%

Income taxes			   (155)  		  (242)  	

Profit/(loss) for the period			   67,628  	  	 73,417   	

Parent company Burgo Group S.p.A.
results and financial structure

The 2024 financial year shows a reduction in total operating revenue and income 
from € 891.3 million in 2023 to € 827 million in 2024 (down by 7.2%), recording 
adjusted EBITDA at € 53.1 million, compared to € 46 million in 2023.
During the year demand generally recovered across all market segments served by the 
Group, especially in the first six months of the year. In the graphic papers segment the 
Company benefited from a mild recovery in sales due to customers' need to replenish 
paper stocks, which had declined in 2023 after the post-pandemic bounce back. The 
containerboard sector, in particular the recycled paper segment in which the Burgo 
Group S.p.A. operates, recorded a rise in sales of +3.6% in percentage terms compared 
to the previous year. However, the Company has not yet been able to benefit fully 
from the general growth of the cartonboard and flexible packaging segment, a market 
that it initially began to approach after investing in the Sora plant in early 2024. In a 
context in which raw materials costs were higher than in the previous year, the Com-
pany continued its policy to continuously improve production and energy efficiency.

Revenues from ordinary operations in 2024 amounted to € 804 million, against 
€ 869.5 million in 2023, a decrease of 7.5%. The reduction in revenues is due to lower 
unit prices (both for paper products and energy), which were only partially offset by 
positive paper sales volumes. The volume of paper sales was 853 thousand tonnes, 
compared to 839 thousand tonnes the previous year, recording an increase of 14 thou-
sand tonnes (+1.8%).
The negative change relating to paper sales, which totalled € 48.5 million, can mainly 
be broken down into a negative price effect amounting to € 63 million, offset by the 
positive effect of higher volumes, which amounted to € 14 million.
Additionally, other income totalling € 23.1 million was recorded due, as in the previ-
ous year, to environmental certificates and interruptibility agreements (€ 21.9 million 
the previous year).

Total operating expenses came to € 774 million against € 845 million in 2023 
(-8.4%). Within operating expenses, personnel expenses amounted to € 58.7 million.
Unit costs for raw materials increased compared to 2023 due to rising prices, par-
ticular for fibres and paper for recycling. Average natural gas prices fell compared 
to the previous year, which partially offset the higher quantities of gas used to meet 
increased paper production needs and the resulting increase in CO2 emissions.
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Income statement for the year €/000		  31 Dec 2024		

	

Revenues			   803,964   	 -	 803,964   

Other income			   23,085   	 -	 23,085   

Total operating revenues and income		  827,049   	 -   	 827,049   
Costs for materials and external services		  (710,652)  	 (13,462)  	 (724,114)  

Personnel expenses			   (58,657)  	 -	 (58,657)  

Other operating expenses			   (11,954)  	 (565)  	 (12,518)  

Change in inventories			   6,944   	 -	 6,944   

Capitalised costs for internal work			  338   	 -	 338   

Total operating expenses			   (773,981)  	 (14,026)  	 (788,007)  

Adjusted EBITDA			   53,068   	 -  	 -   
Depreciation and amortization			   (19,246)  	 -	 (19,246)  

Capital gains/losses on disposal of non-current assets	 (177)  	 -	 (177)  

EBIT before non-recurring expenses and income
and restructuring			   33,646   	 (14,026)  	 19,619   

Write-backs/write-downs of non-current assets	 -   	 -	 -   

Income/expenses of a non-recurring nature and
for restructuring			   (14,026)  	 14,026   	 -   

Operating result (EBIT)			   19,619   	 -   	 19,619   
Financial expenses			   (11,156)  	 -	 (11,156)  

Financial income			   65,196   	 -   	 65,196   

Result before taxes			   73,659   	 -   	 73,659   
Income taxes			   (242)  	 -	 (242)  

Profit/(loss) for the period			   73,417   	 -   	 73,417   

INCOME 
STATEMENT 

including 
non-recurring 
components

non-recurring 
components

INCOME 
STATEMENT 

excluding 
non-recurring 
components

Depreciation and amortization amounted to € 19.2 million, in line with the previous 
year (€ 19.1 million).
Operating income, before non-recurring transactions, amounted to € 33.6 million, 
against € 27.8 million the previous year.
Net non-recurring income/expenses totalled € -14 million, mainly relative to expens-
es associated with extraordinary operations, environmental remediation, and decom-
missioned sites (see next paragraph for more details). 

The result of financial management was positive at € 54 million, against € 49 million 
recorded in 2023. The increase is mainly due to increased dividends collected and 
higher interest accrued from banks on time-deposits.

The result before taxes was positive at € 73.7 million, against the positive € 67.8 mil-
lion recorded the previous year.

The profit for the period amounts to € 73.4 million, compared to profit of € 67.6 
million the previous year.

Non-recurring expenses

Please find below a schedule reconciling non-recurring components relative to 2024. 
With regard to the methodology, please refer to the comments on the consolidated 
income statement figures, as indicated above.
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The non-recurring operating income and expenses identified refer to:

• Expenses totalling € 6.7 million deriving from extraordinary operations and activities;
• Expenses incurred by the Company for the extraordinary maintenance of certain 

assets at the Duino plant, which was disposed of in 2023, for € 7 million;
• Expenses for € 0.4 million associated with decommissioned plants.

During the year technical investments totalling € 17.4 million were made (€ 22.4 
million in 2023). Together with capitalisation of financial expenses, internal work and 
advances on plant maintenance, these bring the total to € 19.3 million. Recognition of 
rights of use due to application of IFRS 16 during the year amounted to € 3.5 million, 
compared to € 0.9 million in the previous year. Increases relative to intangible fixed 
assets amounted to € 0.4 million (€ 0.6 million in 2023).

Trade receivables went from € 118.5 million in 2023 to € 93.1 million and 
warehouse inventories went from € 57.9 million to € 64.9 million. Payables due to 
suppliers decreased from € 220.6 million at the end of 2023 to € 158.8 million. 

Net financial position was cash positive for € 26.8 million, in line with the data at 
the close of the previous year (€ 26.9 million).

Shareholders' equity amounted to € 618.2 million against € 569.6 million at the end 
of 2023, rising by € 48.6 million mainly due to the net profit for the period of € 73.4 
million and the distribution of dividends during the year for € 22.8 million.

Breakdown of net financial position €/mln		 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change

Current financial assets			   272.9   	 277.2   	 4.3   

Short-term financial payables			   (104.9)  	 (225.6)  	 (120.7)  

Medium/long-term financial assets		  9.7   	 8.2   	 (1.6)  

Medium/long-term financial payables		  (150.8)  	 (32.9)  	 117.9      

Net financial position			   26.9   	 26.8   	 (0.1)  

Statement of financial position: Assets €/mln	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Non-current assets			   640.7   	 638.4   	 (2.3)    

	 Property, plant and equipment		  152.8   	 156.2   	 3.3   

	 Intangible assets			   1.9   	 1.6   	 (0.4)  

	 Other non-current assets			   461.5   	 462.6   	 1.0   

	 Deferred tax assets			   24.4   	 18.1   	 (6.3)    

Current assets			   474.8   	 453.3   	 (21.6)    

Total assets			   1,115.5   	 1,091.7   	 (23.9)  

Statement of financial position: Liabilities €/mln	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Shareholders’ equity			   (569.6)  	 (618.2)  	 (48.6)  

Non-current liabilities			   (193.0)  	 (61.4)  	 131.6   

Current liabilities			   (352.9)  	 (412.0)  	 (59.1)    

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities		 (1,115.5)  	 (1,091.7)  	 23.9   
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Performance of subsidiaries and associated companies

Subsidiaries

Burgo Ardennes S.A.
(reporting prepared in accordance with the international accounting standards)
Revenues amounted to € 378.2 million (€ 409.8 million the previous year).
The gross operating margin (EBITDA) was € 37.9 million, against € 35.2 million the 
previous year.
Profit for the period came to € 12 million, against € 8.8 million the previous year.

Mosaico S.p.A.
(financial statements prepared in accordance with the international accounting standards)
Revenues amounted to € 460.9 million (€ 457.3 million the previous year).
The gross operating margin (EBITDA) was € 33.9 million, against € 59.1 million the 
previous year.
Profit for the period came to € 12.5 million, against € 37.2 million the previous year.

Burgo Distribuzione S.r.l.
(financial statements prepared in accordance with the international accounting standards)
Revenues amounted to € 167.3 million (€ 175.2 million the previous year).
The gross operating margin (EBITDA) was € 5.1 million, against € 6.2 million the 
previous year.
Profit for the period came to € 3.4 million, against € 4.1 million the previous year.

Burgo Energia S.r.l.
(financial statements prepared in accordance with the international accounting standards)
Revenues amounted to € 263.5 million (€ 261.8 million the previous year).
The gross operating margin (EBITDA) was € 8.1 million, against € 8.8 million the 
previous year.
Profit for the period came to € 4.9 million, against € 5.3 million the previous year.

Burgo Factor S.p.A.
(financial statements prepared in accordance with the international accounting standards)
The company managed total receivables equal to € 148.9 million (€ 142 million the 
previous year).
Net profits for the year came to € 2.6 million, against € 2.2 million the previous year.

Capital and financial structure €/mln		  31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change

Intangible assets			   1.9   	 1.6   	 (0.4)  
Property, plant and equipment			   152.8   	 156.2   	 3.3   
Other non-current assets:			 
	 Equity investments			   441.6   	 443.5   	 1.9   
	 Other receivables and non-current assets	 10.2   	 10.9   	 0.8   

Net fixed assets			   606.6   	 612.2   	 5.6   
Inventories			   57.9   	 64.9   	 6.9   
Trade receivables			   118.5   	 93.1   	 (25.5)  
Trade payables			   (220.6)  	 (158.8)  	 61.8   

Working capital			   (44.1)  	 (0.8)  	 43.3   
Other receivables and current assets		  25.5   	 18.1   	 (7.4)  
Deferred tax assets			   24.4   	 18.1   	 (6.3)  
Provisions for risks and charges			   (34.4)  	 (21.6)  	 12.8   
Payables for current taxes			   (2.1)  	 (2.6)  	 (0.5)  
Other payables and current liabilities		  (25.4)  	 (25.0)  	 0.3   

Other operating assets and liabilities		  (12.1)  	 (13.0)  	 (1.0)  

Working capital			   (56.2)  	 (13.8)  	 42.3   

Invested capital, after deducting operating liabilities	 550.4   	 598.3   	 47.9   
Severance indemnities and other provisions related to personnel	 (7.7)  	 (6.9)  	 0.8   

Invested capital, after deducting operating liabilities and
severance indemnities (TFR)			   542.7   	 591.4   	 48.7   
Share capital			   (90.0)  	 (90.0)  	 -   
Reserves			   (264.7)  	 (242.7)  	 22.0   
Accumulated profits/(losses) including profit/(loss) for the period	 (214.9)  	 (285.5)  	 (70.6)  

Own capital			   (569.6)  	 (618.2)  	 (48.6)  
Financial receivables and other non-current financial assets	 9.7   	 8.2   	 (1.6)  
Financial receivables and other current financial assets	 29.2   	 25.9   	 (3.2)  
Cash on hand and other cash equivalents		  243.7   	 251.2   	 7.5   
Non-current financial liabilities			   (150.8)  	 (32.9)  	 117.9   
Current financial liabilities			   (104.9)  	 (225.6)  	 (120.7)  

Net financial position			   26.9   	 26.8   	 (0.1)  

Total coverage			   (542.7)  	 (591.4)  	 (48.7)  
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Gever S.p.A. in liquidation
(financial statements prepared in accordance with the international accounting standards)
Revenues amounted to € 0.00 million (€ 0.01 million the previous year).
The gross operating margin (EBITDA) was € 0.54 million, against € 0.01 million the 
previous year.
Profit for the period came to € 0.42 million, against € 0.03 million the previous year. 
The company was put into liquidation in 2021 due to it not being possible to achieve the 
corporate purpose following the sale of the Verzuolo plant and the relative power plant.

Burgo Recycling S.r.l.
(financial statements prepared in accordance with national accounting standards)
Revenues amounted to € 17.0 million (€ 2.3 million the previous year), the gross operating 
margin (EBITDA) was € 0.2 million (€ 0.3 million the previous year) and profit for the 
period was € 0.1 million (€ 0.2 million the previous year).

Other foreign companies
The foreign sales companies (Burgo Central Europe, Burgo France, Burgo Ibérica 
Papel, Burgo UK, Burgo Benelux, Burgo North America, SEFE and Burgo Eastern 
Europe) and SEFE achieved a profit as a whole, equal to € 0.2 million (€ 0.2 million 
the previous year). 

Affiliated companies

Consorzio Energy Paper S.c.a.r.l.
(financial statements prepared in accordance with national accounting standards)
Revenues totalled € 38.2 million, the gross operating margin (EBITDA) was € 0.0 
million and the profit for the period was € 0.0 million.

Relations with subsidiaries, affiliated companies
and parent companies

The parent company Burgo Group S.p.A., in addition to its institutional role pro-
viding management and coordination for its subsidiaries and affiliated companies, 
also has instrumental relationships with these same companies, with the objective of 
achieving maximum synergy within the Group both relative to production and organ-
isational and financial aspects, including sales and service relationships, all of which 
are governed under market conditions or using cost breakdown methodology.
The Company purchases:

• paper and pulp from Burgo Ardennes;
• paper from Mosaico;
• electricity, gas and correlated services from Burgo Energia;
• secondary raw materials from Burgo Recycling;
• brokering and sales services from Burgo Ibérica Papel, Burgo Central Europe, 
	 Burgo France, Burgo UK, Burgo Benelux, Burgo Eastern Europe, Burgo North 

America and Burgo Distribuzione.

The parent company supplies:

• paper products to Burgo Ardennes, Mosaico and Burgo Distribuzione;
• excess electricity produced in the power plants to Burgo Energia;
• administrative, tax, legal, financial and treasury, IT services and personnel second-

ing to all Group companies;
• guarantees in the interests of Burgo Factor, Burgo Energia, Gever, Burgo Distribuzi-

one and Burgo Recycling;
• insurance coverage to Mosaico, Burgo Factor, Burgo Distribuzione, Burgo Energia, 

serving as an intermediary with the companies; 
• Interruptibility service relating to the affiliate Consorzio Energy Paper.

Burgo Factor provides factoring services for receivables due to the Group from its 
suppliers.
Burgo Group S.p.A., as the manager of the Group’s centralised treasury, credits and 
debits associated companies with regards to financial income and expenses at market 
rates, in shared current accounts.
The Company makes use of the ability to consolidate the individual items receivable and 
payable relative to Burgo Distribuzione S.r.l., Burgo Energia S.r.l., Gever S.p.A., Burgo 
Factor S.p.A., Mosaico S.p.A. and Burgo Recycling S.r.l for IRES purposes and to 
Burgo Distribuzione S.r.l., Burgo Energia S.r.l., Gever S.p.A., Mosaico S.p.A. and Burgo 
Recycling S.r.l. for VAT purposes, according to the applicable tax regulations in force.
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Corporate Governance and internal audit system

General information

The Burgo Group S.p.A. Articles of Association adopts the "traditional model" of 
corporate governance, consisting of a Shareholders' Meeting, a Board of Directors and 
a Board of Statutory Auditors. 
At the time of writing, the share capital of the Company was € 90,000,000.00, con-
sisting of 2,168,857,500 shares with no nominal value, and subdivided as follows: 

(1) BG Holding S.r.l. held 1,988,794,387 Burgo shares, representing a 91.70% stake; 
(2) Mediobanca S.p.A. held 87,442,365 Burgo shares, representing a 4.03% stake; 
(3) Italmobiliare S.p.A. held 46,153,846 Burgo shares, representing a 2.13% stake; 
(4) Ocorian Fund Management S.à r.l. (Generali Financial Holding FCP-FIS SUB) 

held 46,153,846 Burgo shares, representing a 2.13% stake;
(5) Burgo Group S.p.A. held 1968 shares in trust. These shares are the result of share-

holders failing to exercise the right of conversion into ordinary shares issued by 
Cartiere Burgo S.p.A. (now Burgo Group S.p.A.) attributed to them at the time of 
the residual takeover bid intended to exclude the company from the stock market 
managed by Borsa Italiana S.p.A. on 14/08/2000;

(6) the remaining 311,088 Burgo shares, representing 0.014%, were held by various 
shareholders.

Subsidiary companies under art. 2359 of the Italian Civil Code have indicated that 
Burgo Group S.p.A. is the subject which provides management and coordination 
pursuant to article 2497 bis of the Italian Civil Code. In fact, the Parent Company 
determines the management and strategic guidelines for the Group, defines the gener-
al policies for financial, production, HR, procurement and communication manage-
ment, and sets the objectives and procedures relative to occupational health and safety, 
quality, environment and governance. The company Burgo Group S.p.A. also provides 
management services including by way of example, treasury, tax, company secretariat, 
legal assistance, internal audit services, personnel administration and procurements.
The subsidiaries maintain operational independence and can concentrate their 
resources on their respective core businesses, making use of the parent company's 
resources for specialised activities, achieving the consequent economies of scale.

Finally, the affiliated company Consorzio Energy Paper provides brokering services for 
the electrical load interruptibility service provided to Terna.
Among the Group companies, the above relationships are indicated quantitatively in 
the table below:

Relations with related parties €/000	          Subsidiaries 	   	 Total financial statement items	

	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 31 Dec 2023	 %	 31 Dec 2024	 %

Financial receivables and other non-current
financial assets	 2,800   	 2,800   	 9,750   	 29%	 8,152   	 34%

Trade receivables	 61,254   	 48,686   	 118,534   	 52%	 93,080   	 52%

Other receivables and current assets	 10,950   	 9,054   	 25,497   	 43%	 18,139   	 50%

Financial receivables and other current
financial assets	 14,228   	 16,626   	 29,165   	 49%	 25,939   	 64%

Current financial liabilities	 (79,256)  	 (101,540)  	 (104,869)  	 76%	 (225,609)  	 45%

Trade payables	 (108,190)  	 (55,281)  	 (220,576)  	 49%	 (158,767)  	 35%

Other payables and current liabilities	 (3,587)  	 (4,530)  	 (25,373)  	 14%	 (25,042)  	 18%

Economic relationships						    

Revenues	 183,157   	 173,263   	 869,476   	 21% 	 803,964	 22%

Other income	 6,142   	 5,917   	 22,120   	 28%	 23,085	 26%

Costs for materials and external services	 (426,911)  	 (369,961)  	 (714,964)  	 60%	 (724,114)  	 51%

Personnel expenses	 -   	 (15)  	 (60,351)  	 0%	 (58,657)  	 0%

Other operating expenses	 (8,383)  	 (10,726)  	 (20,467)  	 41%	 (12,518)  	 86%

Capitalised costs for internal work	 (14)  	 -   	 528   	 -3%	 338   	 0%

Financial expenses	 (871)  	 (1,249)  	 (10,283)  	 8%	 (11,156)  	 11%

Financial income	 52,148   	 56,924   	 59,005   	 88%	 65,196   	 87%

Income taxes	 10,726   	 8,009   	 (155)  	-6941%	 (242)  	-3307%
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The governing bodies 

(i)	 Shareholders’ Meeting: pursuant to article 16, the Shareholders’ Meeting, both 
extraordinary and ordinary, resolves on the matters reserved to it under the law. 
Article 18 establishes the quorums and decision-making procedures for Share-
holders’ Meetings involving issues defined as Significant. The Shareholders’ Meet-
ing is presided over by the Chairman of the Board of Directors and, in case of 
absence, inability, renunciation or impediment, by the Deputy Chairman. In case 
of their absence, inability, renunciation or impediment, another person designat-
ed by the Shareholders’ Meeting itself shall preside. 

	 Participation in the Shareholders’ Meeting using audio/video connection tools 
is allowed on the condition that the collegial method is respected, as well as the 
principles of good faith and equal treatment of participants. 

(ii)	 Board of Directors: the Company is administered by a Board of Directors con-
sisting of 7 (seven) directors appointed on the basis of a list system, governed by 
article 22 of the Articles of Association in effect. 

	 Those who find themselves in the conditions established under article 2382 of 
the Italian Civil Code cannot be appointed as Directors and, if they already hold 
such office, shall cease to hold it.

	 On 05 May 2023, the Shareholders’ Meeting appointed the Board for the 2023-
2025 period, that is until approval of the 2025 financial statements, as follows: 

a) A. Marchi – Chairman 
b) F. Conte – Deputy Chairman 
c) I. Capuano – CEO 
d) V. Barbone
e) F. Capurro 
f) M. D’Alberto 
g) L. Marzotto 

The Board of Directors is granted the broadest ordinary and extraordinary admin-
istrative powers over the Company and can carry out all actions it deems necessary 
and/or expedient to implement and achieve company goals, with the sole exception of 
matters which under the law or the Articles of Association are expressly reserved for 
the Shareholders’ Meeting. 

	 Board of Directors meetings are presided over by the Chairman or, in their ab-
sence, by the Deputy Chairman or, in the case of their absence, inability, renun-
ciation or impediment, by a person designated by the Board itself. 

	 The Board of Directors is validly constituted if a majority of directors in office are 
present and resolutions are made with a vote in favour by an absolute majority of 
directors present. 

	 Art. 25.5 identifies the so-called “Significant Board Matters” which are the sole 
responsibility of the Board of Directors and cannot be delegated to directors and/
or special representatives and must be decided upon with the Chairman and 
Deputy Chairperson present and voting in favour. 

	 Pursuant to article 25.6. there are also additional matters for which a qualified 
majority is required, again obtained with a vote in favour from the Chairman, 
the Deputy Chairman and the representative from the “C-list”. 

	 The Board of Directors currently in office met 8 times with an average meeting 
duration of 3 hours. 

	 The Board of Statutory Auditors always took part in these meetings. 
(iii)	Board of Statutory Auditors: article 28 of the Articles in Association in effect 

govern the methods used to appoint the Board of Statutory Auditors and its 
structure. 

	 On 05 May 2023, the Burgo Group Shareholders’ Meeting appointed the Board 
of Statutory Auditors for 2023-2025, or until the approval of the 2025 Financial 
Statements, as follows: 

a) G. Terrin – Chairman 
b) R. Spada – Regular Auditor 
c) F. Gubitosi – Regular Auditor 
d) F. Gallio – Alternate Auditor 
e) L. Zoani – Alternate Auditor 

All auditors hold the professional and ethical requirements established under the law. 
Finally, with the Resolution of 12 May 2022 the Company appointed EY S.p.A. to 
conduct the independent audit of its accounts for the 2022-2024 period. This appoint-
ment will expire with the approval of the 2024 Financial Statements.
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Internal audit system 

The Company's Board of Directors adopted, already in financial year 2003, in appli-
cation of Italian Legislative Decree 231 of 08 June 2001, an "Organisation, Manage-
ment and Control Model", which serves to identify and apply a collection of behav-
ioural, organisational and control rules which constitute a control system reasonably 
able to identify and prevent conduct associated with corporate liability pursuant to 
Italian Legislative Decree 231/2001, as amended. 
The Model consists of a General Section and 17 Special Sections accompanied by opera-
tional protocols/management procedures integrated with internal certification systems.
The responsibility of monitoring the effective functioning and observance of the Mod-
el, as well as proposing updates, is assigned to a collegial Oversight Committee, which 
reports to the Chairperson. 
The Board of Statutory Auditors consists of three regular auditors and two alternate 
auditors. Their terms will expire on the date the financial statements at 31 December 
2025 are approved.

Equity financial instruments

Mediobanca S.p.A.				     54,333,684 

QuattroR SGR S.p.A.				     22,544,931 

Banco BPM S.p.A. 				     6,471,529 

				    83,350,144   

Equity financial instruments 

Following the Capital Increase Operation and refinancing carried out on 29/30 Octo-
ber 2020, the SFP regime was also changed. 
More specifically, the Special Meeting of SFP Holders irrevocably renounced their 
right to convert the existing equity financial instruments, entirely or partially, into 
ordinary and/or privileged Company shares, and adopted a new Regulation which 
profoundly changed the regulations for the equity financial instruments, both in 
terms of equity and administrative rights. As part of this, the Financial Instruments 
lost the right to be converted into Company shares and all Governance rights. 
These equity instruments were originally subscribed through the conversion of € 200 
million of debt by certain financial institutions. 
With the Resolution adopted on 07 May 2024, the Burgo Group S.p.A. Shareholders’ 
Meeting approved the distribution of a total gross dividend of € 22,755,008.00, to be 
paid no later than 30 June 2024 and divided as follows in accordance with the provi-
sions of the Articles of Association and related annexes:

1) € 4,551,002.00 as a gross dividend to be paid to shareholders with a dividend of 
€ 0.002098341 per share;

2) € 18,204,006.00 as a Distribution pursuant to Article 6(b)(i) of the Burgo Group 
S.p.A. Equity Instrument Issue Rules, paid pro rata to holders of the Equity Finan-
cial Instruments, out of the Reserve for Equity Financial Instruments consisting of 
profit reserves.

	 Therefore, at the time of writing, equity instruments totalled € 83,350,144, divided 
as follows:
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72 BURGO GROUP

Business crisis and insolvency code 

Pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 14/2019 (Business Crisis and Insolvency Code), 
amended by Legislative Decree 83/2022, the Company adopts an organisational, 
administrative and accounting structure appropriate to the nature of its business such 
to enable the early detection of business crises and the implementation of appropriate 
action to ensure business continuity.

Privacy protection, Italian legislative decree 196 of 30 
June and GDPR, no. 679 of 27 April 2016 

The Company adjusted to the requirements established under the European regula-
tions prior to the deadline.

With reference to financial year 2024, there were no significant incidents regarding 
files containing personal data used by the Company or process of the same, nor did 
any interested subjects indicate damages deriving from use of the same.

List of secondary offices 

As required by the final paragraph of article 2428 of the Italian Civil Code, note that 
the Company has no secondary offices.
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76 BURGO GROUP

Consolidated statement of financial position

Consolidated statement of financial position: 
Liabilities €/000		  Note	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change

Shareholders’ equity			   509,374   	 540,665   	 31,292   

Share capital		  10	 90,000   	 90,000   	 -   

Reserves		  10	 196,770   	 176,246   	 (20,524)  

Accumulated profits/(losses) including profit/(loss)
for the period		  10	 218,700   	 270,422   	 51,722   

Shareholders’ equity attributable to non-controlling interests	 10	 3,904   	 3,998   	 94   

Non-current liabilities			   262,409   	 127,919   	 (134,490)  

Non-current financial liabilities		  11	 175,649   	 53,053   	 (122,596)  

Severance indemnities and other provisions
related to personnel		  12	 16,214   	 14,474   	 (1,740)  

Provisions for deferred tax liabilities	 13	 14,136   	 13,073   	 (1,063)  

Provisions for risks and charges		  14	 55,934   	 46,740   	 (9,194)  

Other payables and non-current liabilities	 15	 476   	 579   	 103   

Current liabilities			   417,961   	 502,187   	 84,226   

Current financial liabilities		  16	 49,565   	 155,774   	 106,209   

Trade payables		  17	 305,628   	 285,397   	 (20,230)  

Payables for current taxes		  18	 7,481   	 8,613   	 1,132   

Other payables and current liabilities	 19	 55,288   	 52,404   	 (2,884)  

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 		  1,189,745   	 1,170,772   	 (18,972)  

Consolidated statement of financial position:
Assets €/000		  Note	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change

Non-current assets				    460,542   	 451,089   	 (9,453)  

Property, plant and equipment			   385,073   	 377,232   	 (7,841)  

Property, plant and equipment			   1	 375,369   	 366,168   	 (9,201)  

Property investments			   1	 410   	 391   	 (19)  

Right of use assets			   1	 9,293   	 10,673   	 1,380   

Intangible assets				    13,355   	 18,157   	 4,803   

Goodwill and other intangible assets with undefined life	 2	 6,224   	 6,224   	 -   

Intangible assets with defined life			  2	 7,130   	 11,933   	 4,803   

Other non-current assets				    26,091   	 26,740   	 649   

Equity investments			   3	 27   	 27   	 -   

Equity investments in other companies		  3	 7,174   	 9,052   	 1,878   

Financial receivables and other non-current financial assets	 3	 8,279   	 6,289   	 (1,990)  

Other receivables and non-current assets		  3	 10,611   	 11,372   	 761   

Deferred tax assets				    36,024   	 28,960   	 (7,064)  

Deferred tax assets			   4	 36,024   	 28,960   	 (7,064)  

Current assets				    729,202   	 719,683   	 (9,519)  

Warehouse inventories			   5	 184,835   	 194,561   	 9,725   

Trade receivables			   6	 184,449   	 173,006   	 (11,443)  

Other receivables and current assets		  7	 29,171   	 28,364   	 (807)  

Financial receivables and other current financial assets	 8	 58,342   	 54,900   	 (3,442)  

Cash on hand and other cash equivalents		  9	 272,404   	 268,852   	 (3,552)  

Total assets				    1,189,745   	 1,170,772   	 (18,972)  
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Consolidated Income Statement Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Consolidated Income statement for the year €/000	 Note	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 % change 

Revenues		  21	 1,470,813   	 1,466,094   	 -0.3%

Other income		  22	 58,639   	 67,067   		

Total operating revenues and income		  1,529,452   	 1,533,161   	 0.2%

Costs for materials and external services	 23	 (1,064,184)  	 (1,213,219)  		

Personnel expenses		  24	 (175,705)  	 (173,786)  		

Other operating expenses		  25	 (47,432)  	 (33,792)  		

Change in inventories		  26	 (94,960)  	 9,725   		

Capitalised costs for internal work		 27	 1,107   	 1,017   		

Depreciation and amortization		  28	 (46,678)  	 (46,989)  		

Capital gains/losses on disposal of non-current assets	 29	 899   	 (164)  		

Write-backs/write-downs of non-current assets	 30	 (5,837)  	 (4,050)  		

Total operating expenses			   (1,432,792)  	 (1,461,258)  	 2.0%

Operating result			   96,661   	 71,903   	 -25.6%

Financial expenses		  31	 (13,152)  	 (13,467)  		

Financial income		  32	 7,644   	 11,678   		

Result before taxes			   91,153   	 70,114   	 -23.1%

Income taxes		  33	 (17,595)  	 (15,215)  		

Profit/(loss) for the period			   73,558   	 54,899   	 -25.4%

Attributable to:					   

Profit (loss) for the period pertaining to
non-controlling interests			   332   	 312   

Profit (loss) for the period pertaining to
the owners of the Parent			   73,225   	 54,586  

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income €/000			   Note	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024

A - Profit (loss) for the period					     73,558   	 54,899   
Other components of the Statement of Comprehensive Income:				    -   	 - 

Other components of the Statement of Comprehensive
Income to be subsequently reclassified in the
annual Income statement:					     -   	 -   
Translation differences from foreign financial statements				    (5)  	 113

						      (5)  	 113   

	 Net (loss) profit from cash flow hedge			   34	 (4,238)  	 (1,102)  

	 Income taxes					     885   	 105   

 					     	 (3,354)  	 (997)  

	 Net (loss) profit from financial assets FVOCI			   34	 -   	 -   

B- Total other components of the Statement of
Comprehensive Income to be subsequently
reclassified in the annual Income statement net of taxes				    (3,359)  	 (885)
Other components of the Statement of Comprehensive
Income not to be subsequently reclassified in the
annual Income statement:			 

	 (Losses) gains from discounting of defined benefit plans			   34	 (113)  	 436   

	 Income taxes					     27   	 (107)  

 						      (86)  	 329   

C- Total Other components of the Statement of
Comprehensive Income not to be subsequently reclassified
in the annual Income statement net of taxes				    (86)  	 329   

D - Total other components of the Statement of
Comprehensive Income net of taxes (B + C)				    (3,445)  	 (556)  

E - Total Comprehensive Income net of taxes (D + A)				    70,113   	 54,343		

Attributable to:			 

minority shareholders (non-controlling interests)				    332   	 312   

the Group (owners of the parent)					     69,781   	 54,030

For comments on the schedule, please see note 34 “Consolidated schedule of other components of the statement of comprehensive income".
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Statement of Changes in Consolidated Shareholders' Equity

For comments on the changes in shareholders' equity, please see note 10 "shareholders' equity".

Changes in shareholders' equity €/000	

Balances at start of previous period		  90,000   	 16,797   	 138,797   	 6,158   	 165,992   	 -   	 (66,836)  	 7,805   	 157,372   	 516,085   	 3,509   	 381   	 519,975   

Destination of result - distribution of dividends		  -   	 1,203   	 -   	 -   	 (64,438)  	 2,559   	 -   	 137,500   	 (157,372)  	 (80,547)  	 81   	 (381)  	 (80,847)  

Net change profits (losses) directly recognised in shareholders' equity		  -   	 -   	 -   	 (3,440)  	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 (3,440)  	 -   	 -   	 (3,440)  

Other changes in shareholders' equity		  -   	 -   	 -   	 (18)  	 -   	 -   	 -   	 169   	 -   	 151   	 (19)  	 -   	 132   

Exchange differences from translation of foreign financial statements		  -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 (5)  	 -   	 -   	 (5)  	 -   	 -   	 (5)  

Profit/(loss) for the period		  -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 73,225   	 73,225   	 -   	 332   	 73,558   

Balances at end of previous period		  90,000   	 18,000   	 138,797   	 2,700   	 101,554   	 2,559   	 (66,841)  	 145,475   	 73,225   	 505,470   	 3,571   	 332   	 509,374   

Destination of result - distribution of dividends		  -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 (18,204)  	 -   	 -   	 68,674   	 (73,225)  	 (22,755)  	 122   	 (332)  	 (22,965)  

Net change profits (losses) directly recognised in shareholders' equity		  -   	 -   	 -   	 (668)  	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 (668)  	 -   	 -   	 (668)  

Other changes in shareholders' equity		  -   	 -   	 -   	 2   	 -   	 (1,766)  	 -   	 1,686   	 -   	 (78)  	 (8)  	 -   	 (86)  

Exchange differences from translation of foreign financial statements		  -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 113   	 -   	 -   	 113   	 -   	 -   	 113   

Profit/(loss) for the period		  -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 54,586   	 54,586   	 -   	 312   	 54,899   

Balances at period end		  90,000   	 18,000   	 138,797   	 2,033   	 83,350   	 793   	 (66,728)  	 215,836   	 54,586   	 536,667   	 3,686   	 312   	 540,665   

Share 
capital

Legal 
reserve

Distributable 
reserve from 
share capital 

reduction

IAS reserve Reserve 
for equity 
financial 

instruments

Non-
distributable 

exchange 
gains reserve

Third party 
reserves

Undistributed 
profits - Carried 

forward

Other 
reserves

Shareholders' 
equity, 

majority 
shareholder

Result for 
the year

Profit (loss) 
for the year 
pertaining 
to minority 

shareholders

Group 
shareholders' 

equity
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 

For the structure of final net monetary availability, please see note 9 "Cash on hand and other cash equivalents", which provides 
a reconciliation statement regarding cash on hand and other cash equivalents.

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement €/000	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024

A - Net initial monetary availability	 95,935   	 255,678   
B- Monetary flow from operating activities		
Net profit (loss) deriving from operating activities	 73,558   	 54,899   
Amortization, depreciation, write-downs and write-backs	 52,515   	 51,039   
Write-downs and write-backs of financial assets	 -   	 350   
Capital (gains) losses on disposal of non-current assets	 (899)  	 164   
Change in TFR and provisions for risks	 (11,254)  	 (10,561)  
Change in deferred tax assets and provision for deferred taxes	 9,814   	 6,062   

Profit (loss) for the period before changes in working capital	 123,734   	 101,953   
Change in inventories		  94,756   	 (9,725)  
Change in trade receivables		  94,831   	 11,443   
Change in trade payables		  (104,747)  	 (20,230)  
Change in other assets and liabilities	 (18,664)  	 2,932   

Change in net working capital		  66,176   	 (15,580)  
Assets held for sale and discontinued operations	 36,347   	 -   

Total B- Monetary flow from operating activities	 226,257   	 86,373   

C - Monetary flow from investing activities		
Investments in property, plant and equipment	 (49,302)  	 (43,095)  
Investments in intangible assets		  (605)  	 (424)  
Recognition of other non-current assets	 (9,708)  	 (15,770)  
Change in equity investments		  (27)  	 (2,228)  
Revenues from sales of fixed assets	 19,013   	 11,151   

Total C - Monetary flow from investing activities	 (40,629)  	 (50,367)  

D - Monetary flow from financing activities	 	
Change in non-current securities and financial receivables	 (2,329)  	 1,990   
Change in financial receivables and other current financial assets	 88,653   	 (2,196)  
Change in current and non-current other non-financial liabilities	 1,309   	 1,844   
New loans		  486   	 4,733   
Repayment of loans		  (30,448)  	 (28,800)  
Repayment right of use loans		  (3,010)  	 (3,368)  
Dividends distributed and/or resolved	 (80,547)  	 (22,965)  
Changes in Shareholders' Equity		  -   	 -   

Total D - Monetary flow from financing activities	 (25,885)  	 (48,762)  
E - Monetary flow for the period (B + C + D)	 159,743   	 (12,756)  

Net final monetary availability (A + E)	 255,678   	 242,922   
		

Additional information:		
Interest received during the period	 5,776   	 10,966   
Interest paid during the period		  (22,088)  	 (11,180)  
Taxes paid during the period		  (18,760)  	 (12,133)  
Dividends received during the period	 -   	 -   

Explanatory notes to the consolidated financial statements

General information

Group structure and scope of consolidation

Details of consolidated companies, broken down by the consolidation criteria used, 
with information about company name, registered office, equity and stake held, are 
provided below.

Company name 

Mosaico S.p.A.	 Altavilla Vicentina (VI)	 EUR	 75,000,000 	 100.00	 Burgo Group S.p.A.            Line-by-line
(paper manufacturing)

Burgo Energia S.r.l.	 Altavilla Vicentina (VI)	 EUR	 5,015,000   	 100.00	 Burgo Group S.p.A.	 Line-by-line
(energy production and sales)				  

Burgo Distribuzione S.r.l.	 Altavilla Vicentina (VI)	 EUR	 9,060,000   	 100.00	 Burgo Group S.p.A.	 Line-by-line
(sales and distribution)				  

Burgo Ardennes S.A.	 Virton (Belgium)	 EUR	 75,000,000	 99.99	 Burgo Group S.p.A.	 Line-by-line
(paper manufacturing)				    0.01	 Mosaico S.p.A.

Burgo Factor S.p.A.	 Milan	 EUR	 3,000,000	 90.00	 Burgo Group S.p.A.	 Line-by-line
(financial assets)				  

S.E.F.E. S.à r.l.	 Ecouviez (France)	 EUR	 72,250	 99.80	 Burgo Ardennes S.A.	 Line-by-line
(forestry resource management)			   	 0.20	 Burgo Group S.p.A.

Burgo Iberica Papel S.A.	 Barcelona (Spain)	 EUR	 268,000   	 100.00	 Burgo Ardennes S.A.	 Line-by-line
(sales and distribution)				  

Burgo Benelux S.A.	 Brussels (Belgium)	 EUR	 247,900   	 100.00	 Burgo Group S.p.A.	 Line-by-line
(sales and distribution)				  

Burgo France S.à r.l.	 Champeaux (France)	 EUR	 600,000   	 100.00	 Burgo Group S.p.A.	 Line-by-line
(sales and distribution)				  

Burgo UK Ltd	 Milton Keynes (UK)	 GBP	 250,000   	 100.00	 Burgo Group S.p.A.	 Line-by-line
(sales and distribution)				  

Burgo Central Europe GmbH	 Munich (Germany)	 EUR	 256,000   	 100.00	 Burgo Group S.p.A.	 Line-by-line
(sales and distribution)				  

Burgo North America Inc	 Stamford -
(sales and distribution)	 Connecticut (USA)	 USD	 100,000   	 100.00	 Burgo Group S.p.A.	 Line-by-line

Burgo Eastern Europe Sp. z o.o.	 Warsaw (Poland)	 PLN	 5,000   	 100.00	 Burgo Group S.p.A.	 Line-by-line
(sales and distribution)				  

Burgo Recycling S.r.l.	 Altavilla Vicentina (VI)	 EUR	 100,000   	 51.00	 Burgo Group S.p.A.	 Line-by-line
(paper for recycling management)

Gever S.p.A. in Liquidation	 Altavilla Vicentina (VI)	 EUR	 100,360   	 100.00	 Burgo Group S.p.A.	 Line-by-line
(energy production and sales)

Consorzio Energy Paper s.c.a.r.l.	 Altavilla Vicentina (VI)	 EUR	 58,776      	 28.03	 Burgo Group S.p.A.	 Equity
(interruptibility service)				    17.21	 Mosaico S.p.A.

Consolidation
method

Stake held
%                            by

Shared 
capital

Registered office
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Accounting standards and consolidation criteria

The consolidated financial statements for Burgo Group S.p.A. at 31 December 2024 
were prepared by applying the international accounting standards issued by the Inter-
national Accounting Standard Board (IASB) and approved by the European Union, 
including among these the international subjects subject to interpretation (International 
Accounting Standards – IAS/IFRS) and interpretations issued by the International 
Financial Reporting Interpretation Committee (IFRIC) and the previous Standing 
Interpretations Committee (SIC).
The Group adopted the referenced accounting standards as of 01 January 2006, with 
reference to Italian Legislative Decree 38 of 28 February 2005, which implemented the 
option found within article 5 of Regulation EC 1606/2002.

Financial statement schedules

All that illustrated in the previous section is understood to be fully referenced here.
The Group's consolidated financial situations are shown in thousands of euros. The euro 
is also the functional currency used by the Group, given that it is the currency used in 
the economies in which the Group mainly operates.
The Group's fiscal year coincides with the calendar year (01 January - 31 December).
Preparation of the consolidated financial statements and accounting schedules required 
the following choices:

• Consolidated Statement of Financial Position: a form of representation was select-
ed that distinguishes between current and non-current assets and liabilities, based on 
that allowed under paragraphs 60 and subsequent of IAS 1;

•	Consolidated Income Statement: it was decided to classify items by nature, holding 
this the most representative with respect to presentation by destination. In fact, the 
form selected complies with internal management and reporting methods and offers 
reliable and significant information for understanding the annual income statement. In 
addition, as of 2020 the schedules included in the Notes have been updated, with the 
eliminated subtotals now included in the Report on Operations schedules;

•	Cash flow statement: this is structured based on the indirect method.

The Group ended financial year 2024 with profits of € 54.9 million, shareholders' equi-
ty of € 540.7 million and net financial position with a liquidity of € 121.2 million. 
The consolidated financial situations were prepared using the general cost principle, 
except for financial assets, measured in accordance with IFRS 9, and derivatives, 
measured at fair value.
Assets and liabilities and income and expenses are not offset, unless this is allowed or 
required under an international accounting standard or interpretation. 

Consolidation standards

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Burgo Group 
S.p.A., the parent company, and those of subsidiaries over which Burgo Group S.p.A. 
holds direct or indirect control.
In addition to the subsidiaries, the scope of consolidation also includes affiliated compa-
nies and companies under joint control.
Control exists when the parent company has the power to determine the financial and 
operating policies of a company, in order to obtain benefits from its business.
Subsidiaries are consolidated starting on the date on which control is effectively ob-
tained by the Group and consolidation ceases on the date on which control is transferred 
outside of the Group.
These companies are consolidated on a line-by-line basis.
Associated companies, over which Burgo Group S.p.A. exercises significant influence, or 
companies for which it exercises joint control over financial and operating policies, are 
measured using the equity method.
In preparing the consolidated figures, the equity, economic and financial situations of 
subsidiaries as prepared at the reporting date were used, as well as additional informa-
tion useful for the translation to the standards adopted in preparing the consolidated 
financial statements, in order to allow for application of homogeneous accounting 
standards.

The main operations carried out in preparing the consolidated financial statements are:

• elimination of the book value of equity investments held by the parent company 
and other companies within the scope of consolidation with the relative sharehold-
ers' equity, while taking on the assets and liabilities of companies consolidated with 
the line-by-line method. Positive differences emerging from the purchase cost of the 
equity investments with the relative shares of shareholders' equity are recognised as 
adjustments to the relevant assets item on the basis of the assessment carried out at 
the time of purchase. Any residual amount not allocated is recognised in an assets 
item called "goodwill", which is subject to an impairment test. Any negative residual 
amounts are recognised in the annual income statement, as envisaged under IFRS 3 
(business combinations);

• elimination of reciprocal relationships between companies consolidated using the 
line-by-line method, specifically:
-	transactions that give rise to receivables and payables, as well as costs and revenues;
-	unrealised gains and losses, included in measurements of inventories;

• reversal of dividends received from consolidated companies;
• adjustment of the carrying value of companies consolidated using the equity meth-

od, in order to include the portion of the pertinent result.
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Operations in foreign currencies

Revenues and costs relative to operations in foreign currencies are recorded at the 
exchange rate in effect at the time the operation was completed. Monetary assets and 
liabilities in foreign currencies are converted by applying the current exchange rate 
on the reporting date for the reference period, attributing any exchange differences 
generating to the annual income statement.

Financial statements of foreign companies

Translation into euro of items in the consolidated statement of financial position ex-
pressed in currencies other than the euro is done by applying the exchange rates at the 
end of the year. Items in the annual income statement are translated into euro using 
the average exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences originating from the 
translation into current end of year exchange rates of items in the initial shareholders' 
equity and the results of the year to average exchange rates are recognised in consol-
idated shareholders' equity. The table below shows the exchange rates applied when 
translating financial statements in currencies other than the euro for financial years 
ending on 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2024.

Accounting standards and consolidation criteria

Accounting standards and measurement criteria

The consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2024 were prepared in com-
pliance with the IAS/IFRS accounting standards for preparing individual financial 
statements at 31 December 2023, considering the amendments and new standards 
which took effect as of 01 January 2024, listed below.

IFRS accounting standards, amendments and interpretations applied as of 
01 january 2024

For the preparation of these Consolidated Financial Statements, the Group has 
adopted for the first time certain accounting standards and amendments effective 
for financial years beginning on or after 01 January 2024, a list of which is provided 
below, noting that these changes have not affected the financial position and income 
statement amounts shown:

• Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and Non-current Liabilities with 
Covenants – Amendments to IAS 1; 

•	Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback – Amendments to IFRS 16;
•	Disclosures: Supplier Finance Arrangements – Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7.  

There are no other new standards, amendments or interpretations that are effective as 
of the reference date of these Consolidated Financial Statements and which are likely 
to have a significant impact on the Group.
Below we examine in detail the criteria adopted for the following items:

Property, plant and equipment

A cost sustained to acquire a property, plant, machinery or part of the same is recog-
nised as an asset on the condition that the cost of the asset can be reliably determined 
and the Group can make use of the relative future economic benefits.

Property, plant and equipment

Assets recognised among property, plant and equipment are recognised at the pur-
chase cost, including any directly attributable accessory costs, necessary to render the 
asset functional to the use for which it was acquired, and net of any relative deprecia-
tion accumulated and impairment losses.
Subsequent expenses are then added to the cost, to the extent that they can improve 
the originally determined performance of the asset.
Assets recognised among property, plant and equipment through business combinations 
are measured at their fair value upon initial recognition, as determined at the time they 
were acquired. Subsequently, they are measured using the historic cost method.

Exchange rates	 2023	 2024	

US dollar	 1.105		  1.081	 1.039		  1.082

Pound sterling	 0.869		  0.870	 0.829		  0.847

Polish zloty	 4.340		  4.542	 4.275		  4.306

Balance sheet
(exchange rate at 

end of year)

Balance sheet
(exchange rate at 

end of year)

Income statement 
(average exchange

 rate)

Income statement 
(average exchange

 rate)
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Assets recognised among property, plant and equipment, apart from land, depreciate 
at constant rates throughout the course of the useful life of the asset, understood to 
be the estimated period during which the asset will be used by the company, starting 
from the moment the asset becomes available for use. The value to be depreciated is 
represented by the carrying value of the asset net of any impairment and reduced by 
the presumable realisable value at the end of the useful life, if this is significant and 
can be reasonably determined.
If the asset is composed of several significant components with different useful lives, 
depreciation is carried out for each component, following the component approach 
established in IAS 16.
Spare parts of significant value relative to plant and machinery are capitalised and de-
preciated on the basis of the useful life of the asset to which they refer, in accordance 
with the indications found in IAS 16.
The book value of property, plant and equipment is subject to verification to identify 
any losses in value when events or changes indicate that the book value may not be 
recoverable. 
For newly acquired assets, the following useful lives are applied:

Useful life and realisable values are reviewed every year, and any changes are made 
prospectively. When necessary, they are applied prospectively and may involve an 
extension or reduction in the original amortization/depreciation period.
Land, whether free of construction or containing civil or industrial buildings, is rec-
ognised separately and not depreciated, given that it is an element with unlimited use-
ful life. When an asset is disposed of or when no future economic benefit is expected, 
it is eliminated from the financial statements and any losses or profits are recognised 
in the annual income statement during the financial year in which it was eliminated.
Expenses for leasehold improvements such as expenses to remodel real estate that 
is not owned are capitalised in consideration of the fact that for the duration of the 
leasing contract the user company has control over the assets and can take advantage 
of their future economic benefits. Said costs are amortized over a period equal to the 
lesser of that representing the residual useful life of the fixed asset and the residual 
duration of the leasing contract.
Pursuant to IAS 23, the Group capitalises financial expenses attributable to the pur-
chase, construction or production of a capitalisable asset.

Property investments

The item includes land, buildings or parts of non-instrumental buildings, held in 
order to benefit from leasing fees, increases in value or both.
Property investments are measured at cost, net of any losses due to write-downs and 
depreciation accumulated.

Right of use assets

This item includes the accounting measurement of contracts to which IFRS 16 
applies. This item recognises leasing contracts for assets over which the Group holds 
control (right of use) over an asset. As discriminating factors to identify these, the 
following were used: the asset can be identified, there is a right to replacement of the 
asset, the right to obtain substantially all economic benefits deriving from use of the 
asset and, finally, the right to direct the use of the asset underlying the contract. The 
Standard establishes a single model for recognising and measuring lease contracts for 
the lessee, which involves recognition of the asset underlying the lease in the assets, 
whether operational or not, and a matching entry in the form of a financial payable.

Useful life of newly acquired assets			   Useful life

Industrial buildings				    30 years

General plants				    15 years

Specific plants				    20 years

Miscellaneous equipment				    4 years

Office machines and machinery			   8 years

Vehicles				    5 years

Electronic machines				    5 years
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The Group has made use of the practical expedients and exemptions allowed in paragraphs: 

i)	 16.5(a) in relation to short term contracts, for all asset classes (exclusion of leases 
with a duration of less than 12 months at the time of first time adoption from the 
scope of application); 

ii)	 16.5(b) in relation to contracts with a value of less than € 5,000;
iii)	 16.15 in relation to the possibility of not separating non-lease components; 
iv)	 the Portfolio approach was not adopted.

In particular, relative to lease contracts the Group recognises:

a)	 a right of use equal to the value of the financial liability as of the date the con-
tract takes effect;

b)	 a financial liability, equal to the current value of residual future payments as of the 
date the contract takes effect, discounted using an average rate for each contract.  

Intangible assets

Intangible assets are non-monetary elements without physical substance, which can 
be identified and are controlled by the Group, intended to generate future economic 
benefits. Intangible assets can be recognised in the accounts when it is probable that 
use of the asset will generate future economic benefits and when the cost of the asset 
can be determined in a reliable manner.
Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at cost, those acquired 
through business combinations are measured at fair value upon initial recognition.
Expenses sustained after initial acquisition are added to the cost of the asset to the 
degree in which these expenses are able to generate future economic benefits.
After initial recognition, intangible assets are measured net of provisions for amortiza-
tion and any accumulated losses of value.

Goodwill and other intangible assets with undefined life

An intangible asset is considered to have undefined life when, on the basis of analysis 
of the relevant factors, there is no foreseeable limit on the period of use during which 
it is expected the asset will generate net incoming financial flows for the Group.
The Group has identified goodwill as an intangible asset with undefined useful life, 
which represents the positive difference between the cost of a business combination 
and the equity interest held by the Group in the current fair value of the assets, liabili-
ties and potential liabilities acquired and identifiable on the purchase date.
Any negative difference (negative goodwill) is instead recognised in the annual income 
statement at the time of acquisition.
After initial recognition, goodwill is not amortized, but is decreased relative to any 
losses of value, determined in accordance with IAS 36 (impairment of assets).
Goodwill is annually subject to recoverability analysis. This may also occur more fre-
quently if events or changes in circumstances occur which could lead to possible losses 
of value.
In the cases in which goodwill is assigned to a cash generating unit (or group of units) 
whose assets are partially dismissed, the goodwill associated with the transferred 
asset is considered in order to determine any capital gains or losses deriving from the 
transaction, and is measured on the basis of the values of the disposed of assets, with 
respect to the assets still held relative to the same CGU.

Intangible assets with defined life

These assets are recognised at the acquisition or production cost, including all attrib-
utable accessory charges, and depreciated at a constant rate in relation to their utility 
over time, starting at the moment the asset becomes available for use.
Useful life is reviewed every year and any changes are made prospectively, when necessary.
Plant and expansion costs, if recognised in the assets, as well as patent and usage 
rights for intellectual property are depreciated over a maximum period of five years.
Concession, license, trademark costs and those for similar rights are annually reduced 
as a function of the contractual duration and the limits of the presumable period of 
economic utilisation.
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Environmental securities: emission stocks and White Certificates

Different evaluation criteria apply between stock/certificates held for own-use, i.e. for 
one’s own requirements (“Industrial Portfolio”) and those held with the intention of 
trading (“Trading Portfolio”). Stock/certificates held for own-use (“Industrial Port-
folio”) exceeding the requirement, calculated in relation to the obligations accrued at 
year-end (“surplus”), are recognised under other intangible assets at the cost incurred. 
Certificates that are freely assigned are recorded with a zero value. Given that this 
refers to an asset that is immediately usable, it is subject to an impairment test and 
not amortization. The recoverable value is the higher figure between the value in use 
and market value. If on the other hand, the requirement exceeds stock/certificates in 
the portfolio at the reporting date (“deficit”), an allocation is made in the financial 
statements of the expenses needed to address the residual obligation, estimated on 
the basis of purchase contracts, including spot contracts, already signed at the report-
ing date, and market prices for the residual portion. Stock/certificates held with the 
intention of trading (“Trading portfolio”) are recognised under inventories and valued 
at the lesser amount between the purchase cost and presumable realisable value, to be 
deduced from market performance. Certificates that are freely assigned are recorded 
with a zero value. The market value is defined with reference to any sales contracts, 
including spot contracts, already signed at the reporting date, and to market prices, 
for the residual portion.

Impairment test

The value of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment is subject to recover-
ability checks every time it is held that a lasting loss of value has occurred.
Relative to goodwill, other intangible assets with undefined useful life and other assets 
not available for use, impairment tests are performed at least once a year.
The test is done by comparing the book value with the greater of the fair value and the 
value in use of the asset.
If no binding sales agreement or an active market for the asset is available, the fair val-
ue is determined on the basis of the best available information, in order to reflect the 
amount that the Group could obtain, at the reporting date of the financial statements, 
if disposing of the asset in a free transaction between knowledgeable and willing par-
ties, after deducting disposal costs.

The value in use of an asset is calculated by discounting expected cash flows from 
usage of the asset (both incoming and outgoing), basing financial flow projections on 
reasonable and sustainable suppositions, able to represent the best possible estimates by 
corporate management of a series of economic conditions that will exist throughout the 
remaining life of the asset, giving greater significance to information obtained externally.
The discount rate applied reflects current market evaluations of the time value of mon-
ey and the specific risks of the asset.
Measurement is done for each individual or for the smallest combination of assets 
(cash generating units) that generate independent incoming cash flows deriving from 
their utilisation.
When the value determined with the impairment test is lower than the cost, the loss of 
value is recognised against the asset and among the costs in the annual income statement.
If in subsequent financial years the reasons behind recognising the impairment are 
determined to no longer exist following a new impairment test, the asset, with the 
exception of goodwill, is written back up to the new recoverable value, which in any case 
cannot exceed the value that would have existed if no loss in value had been recognised.
The writeback is recognised in the annual income statement, unless the asset is 
recognised at the written back value, in which case the writeback is recognised in the 
revaluation reserve.

Equity investments measured at equity

This item includes equity investments in affiliated companies and equity investments 
in jointly controlled companies.
These equity investments are measured using the equity method. Any losses exceeding 
shareholders' equity are recognised in the financial statements to the degree in which 
the investor has undertaken to fulfil legal or implicit obligations relative to the inves-
tee or, in any case, to cover its losses.

Associated companies are those over which the Group exercises significant influence 
but does not have control or joint control over financial and operating policies. The 
consolidated financial statements include the portion pertaining to the Group of the 
results of its associated companies, accounted for using the equity method, starting 
on the date on which it begins to hold significant influence and until the moment in 
which this influence ceases to exist. Unrealised infra-group profits relative to minority 
shareholders are eliminated relative to the portion pertaining to the Group held in the 
investee. Unrealised infra group losses relative to minority shareholders are also elimi-
nated if they do not represent an effective lower value for the asset disposed of.
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Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset for an entity 
and a financial liability or an instrument representing capital for another entity. 

Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

At the time of initial recognition, financial assets are classified, based on the case, on 
the basis of subsequent measurement methods, that is at amortized cost, at fair value 
through other comprehensive income or at fair value through profit and loss. 
Classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the characteristics of 
the contractual cash flows associated with the financial assets and the business model 
used by the Group to manage them. Except for trade receivables which do not contain 
a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical 
expedient, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus trans-
action costs, in the case of a financial recognised in the income statement not at fair 
value. Trade receivables which do not contain significant financing component or for 
which the Group has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction 
price, determined according to IFRS 15. 

For a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortized cost or at fair value 
through other comprehensive income, it must generate cash flows associated solely 
with payments of principal and interest (SPPI). Assessment of this aspect is known as 
the SPPI test and is performed at the individual instrument level.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers to the manner in 
which it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The business 
model determines whether the cash flows derive from collecting contractual cash 
flows, sales of financial assets or from both.
The purchase or sale of a financial asset which requires delivery either through a 
standardised sale or through regular way trade is recognised on the negotiation date, 
that is the date on which the Group undertook to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement

For the purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified into four 
categories:

•	financial assets at amortized cost (debt instruments);
•	financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income with reclassifica-

tion of cumulated profits and losses (debt instruments);
•	financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income without reversal of 

cumulated profits and losses at the time of elimination (equity instruments);
•	financial assets at fair value through profit and loss.

Classification depends on the purpose for which the assets are acquired and held. The 
Group determines classification of assets at initial recognition, verifying the category 
at each subsequent reporting date. 

Financial assets at amortized cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets at amortized cost if both of the following re-
quirements are met:

• the financial asset is held under a business model with the objective of holding financial 
assets to collect contractual cash flows;

• the contractual terms of the financial asset establish cash flows at set dates representing 
solely payments of principal and interest.

Financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently measured using the criteria of ef-
fective interest and are subject to impairment testing. Profits and losses are recognised 
in the income statement when the asset is eliminated, amended or remeasured.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (debt instruments)

The Group measures debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive 
income if both of the following conditions are met:

•	the financial asset is held under a business model which has the dual objectives of 
collecting contractual cash flows and sale of the financial assets;

•	the contractual terms of the financial asset establish cash flows, at set dates, repre-
senting solely payments of principal and interest.
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For assets involving debt instruments measured at fair value through other com-
prehensive income, interest receivable, variations due to exchange differences and 
impairment, together with write-backs, are recognised in the income statement and 
calculated in the same way as financial assets measured at amortized cost. Remaining 
changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income. At the time of 
elimination, the cumulative change in fair value recognised in OCI is reclassified to 
the income statement.

Investments in equity instruments

At initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably decide to classify its stock invest-
ments as equity instruments recognised at fair value through other comprehensive 
income when the satisfy the definition of equity instruments pursuant to IAS 32 
"Financial instruments: Presentation" and are not held for trading. Classification is 
done for each individual instrument.
Profits and losses resulting from these financial assets are never reversed to the income 
statement. Dividends are recognised as other revenues in the income statement when 
the right to payment has been resolved, except when the Group benefits from these 
amounts as recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, the profits 
are recognised under OCI. Equity instruments recognised at fair value through other 
comprehensive income are not subject to impairment testing.

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss

This category includes assets held for trading, assets designated at initial recognition 
as financial assets at fair value with changes recognised in the income statement and 
financial assets necessarily measured at fair value. Assets held for trading are all assets 
acquired to be sold or repurchased over the short term. Derivatives, including sep-
arated ones, are classified as financial instruments held for trading, unless they are 
designated as effective hedging instruments. Financial assets with cash flows which do 
not pass the SPPI test are classified and measured at fair value through profit and loss, 
regardless of the business mode. Despite the criteria for debt instruments for classi-
fication at amortized cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income, as 
described above, debt instruments can be recognised at fair value through profit and 
loss at initial recognition if this involves the elimination or significant reduction of an 
accounting misalignment.

Derecognition
A financial asset (or, when applicable, part of a financial asset or part of a group 
of similar financial assets) is derecognised in the first place (e.g. removed from the 
Group's statement of financial position) when:

• the rights to receive financial flows from the asset no longer exist, or
• the Group has transferred the right to receive cash flows from the asset to a third party 

or has taken on the contractual obligation to pay them fully and promptly and (a) has 
substantially transferred all risks and benefits of ownership of the financial asset or (b) 
has not substantially transferred nor retained all the risks and benefits of the asset but 
has transferred control over the same.

In cases where the Group has transferred the rights to receive cash flows from an asset 
or has signed an agreement based on which it maintains contractual rights to receive 
cash flows from the financial asset, but has a contractual obligation to pay the cash 
flows to one or more beneficiaries (pass-through), it determines if and to what extent it 
has retained the risks and benefits inherent to ownership. If it has neither substantially 
transferred nor retained all the risks and benefits or has not lost control over the same, 
the asset continues to be recognised in the Group's financial statements to the extent 
of its residual involvement with the asset in question. In this case, the Group also 
recognises an associated liability. The asset transferred and the associated liability are 
measured to reflect the rights and obligations that continue to apply to the Group.
When the entity's residual involvement is a guarantee for the transferred asset, in-
volvement is measured on the basis of the lesser of the amount of the asset and the 
maximum amount of the fee received which the entity may have to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises impairment due to Expected Credit Loss (ECL) for all financial 
assets represented by debt instruments not held at fair value through profit and loss. 
ECLs are based on the difference between contractual cash flows due in compliance 
with the contract and all the cash flows the Group expects to receive, discounted by 
an approximation of the original effective interest rate. Expected cash flows include 
cash flows deriving from enforcement of collateral held or other credit guarantees 
which are an integral part of the contractual conditions.
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Expected losses are recognised in two phases.  Relative to credit exposures for which 
no significant increase in credit risk has been seen following initial recognition, it is 
necessary to recognise credit losses deriving from an estimate of default events likely 
to occur within the subsequent 12 months (12 month ECL). For credit exposures that 
have seen a significant increase in credit risk after initial recognition, expected losses 
relative to the full residual duration of the exposure must be recognised, regardless of 
when the default event is expected to occur (lifetime ECL).
For trade receivables and assets deriving from contracts, the Group applies a simplified 
approach to calculate expected losses. Therefore, the Group does not monitor changes 
in credit risk but recognises the expected loss in full at each reference date. The Group 
has established a matrix system based on historic information, revised to consider 
forward looking elements with reference to specific types of debtors and the economic 
environment, used as tool to determine expected losses.
For assets represented by debt instruments measured at fair value through other com-
prehensive income, the Group applies the simplified approach allowed for low credit 
risk assets. At each reporting date, the Group evaluates whether a debt instrument has 
low credit risk, using available information.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement 

At initial recognition, financial liabilities are classified among financial liabilities 
measured at fair value through profit and loss, among mortgages and loans or among 
derivatives designated as hedging instruments. 
All financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value, to which is added in the 
cases of mortgages, loans and payables, the transaction costs directly attributable to 
the same.
The Group's financial liabilities include trade payables and other payables, mortgages 
and loans, including current account overdrafts, guarantees granted and derivatives.

Subsequent measurement
Measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss with changes recognised in the 
income statement include liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities initially 
recognised at fair value with changes recognised in the income statement. 
Liabilities held for trading are all those kept to be sold over the short term. This category 
also includes derivative financial instruments subscribed by the Group which are not 
designated as hedging instruments in a hedging relationship as defined under IFRS 9.
Profit or loss associated with liabilities held for trading is recognised in the annual 
income statement.
Financial liabilities are designated at fair value with changes recognised in the income 
statement as of the initial recognition date only if the criteria in IFRS 9 are satisfied. 
At initial recognition, the Group has not designated financial liabilities at fair value 
with changes recognised in the income statement.

Loans and receivables

After initial recognition, loans are measured using the amortized cost criteria, using 
the effective interest rate method. Profits and losses are recognised in the income state-
ment when the liability is extinguished, as well as through the amortization process.
The amortized cost is calculated by recognising the discount or premium on acquisi-
tion and fees or costs which are an integral part of the effective interest rate. Amor-
tization at the effective interest rate is recognised among financial expenses in the 
income statement.

Financial guarantee liabilities

Financial guarantee liabilities issued by the Group are contracts which require pay-
ment to reimburse the holder of a debt security against a loss suffered by them follow-
ing the debtor not making payments at contractually established due dates. Financial 
guarantee contracts are initially recognised as liabilities at fair value, plus any transac-
tion costs directly attributable to issuing of the guarantee. Subsequently, the liability 
is measured as the greater of the best estimate of the payment required to fulfil the 
guaranteed obligation as of the reporting date and the amount initially recognised, 
net of cumulative amortization.
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Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation underlying the liability is re-
paid, cancelled or fulfilled. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another 
of by the same lender, under substantially different conditions, or the conditions for 
an existing liability are substantially changed, this exchange or change is recognised 
as the accounting derecognition of the original liability, followed by recognition of a 
new liability, with any differences between the book values recognised in the annual 
income statement.

Offsetting of financial instruments

An asset and a financial liability can be offset and the net balance recognised in the 
statement of financial position if there is a current legal right to offset the amounts 
recognised for accounting purpose and there is an intention to extinguish the residual 
net amount or to realise the asset and simultaneously extinguish the liability.

Derivatives

As of 01 January 2019, the Group no longer makes use of the possibility to continue 
to make use of the provisions established in IAS 39 solely relative to hedge account-
ing, instead following the provisions contained in IFRS 9.
Derivatives are used with the sole purpose of hedging to reduce financial risks. They 
are measured at fair value starting on the date they are stipulated. When a hedg-
ing transaction begins, the Group formally designates and documents the hedging 
relationship for which hedge accounting will be used, indicating its risk management 
objectives and the strategy pursued. This document involves identifying the hedging 
instrument, the element of the transaction being hedged, the nature of the risk and 
methods the Group intends to use to measure the efficacy of the hedge in compensat-
ing for variations in the fair value of the hedged element or financial flows associated 
with the hedged risk. Efficacy must be measured in a reliable manner. It is expected 
that these hedges are highly effective in compensating for the exposure of the hedged 
element to changes in the fair value of financial flows associated with the risk cov-
ered. Assessment of whether the hedges are effective is done continuously during the 
accounting periods in which they are designated as such.

Transactions which meet the criteria for hedge accounting are recognised as follows:

Fair value hedge

If a derivative is designated to hedge against exposure to variations in the fair value of 
an asset or liability attributable to a particular risk, profit or loss deriving from subse-
quent changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument is recognised in the annual 
income statement.
Profit or loss deriving from an adjustment in the fair value of the hedged item, relative 
to the portion attributable to the risk hedged against, changes the book value of this 
item and is recognised in the annual income statement.

Cash flow hedge

If a derivative is designated as an instrument hedging against exposure to changes 
in the financial flows of an asset or liability recognised in the financial statements or 
a transaction deemed highly probable, the effective portion of the profits or losses 
deriving from the fair value adjustment of the derivative is recognised in a specific 
shareholders' equity reserve and reclassified in the annual income statement when the 
effects of the transaction being hedged are recognised in the annual income statement. 
The profit or loss associated with this ineffective portion of the hedging is instead 
immediately recognised in the annual income statement. If a hedging instrument is 
closed by the transaction being hedged has not yet been realised, cumulative profits 
and losses remain in the shareholders' equity reserve and are reclassified in the annual 
income statement at the time the relative transaction is realised.
If the transaction being hedged is no longer deemed probable, profits or losses not yet 
realised and recognised in the shareholders' equity reserve are immediately recognised 
in the annual income statement.
If hedge accounting can no longer be applied, profits or losses deriving from the fair 
value measurement of the derivative are directly recognised in the annual income 
statement.
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Inventories

Inventories of raw materials, products in progress and finished products are measured 
at the lesser of the cost, determined using the average weighted cost method, and the 
net realisable value presumable from market trends.
For raw materials, market value means replacement cost. For finished and semi-fin-
ished products, it means the amount the Group expects to obtain from sales in normal 
business operations, net of estimated costs to complete the good and sales and distri-
bution costs it will sustain.
Measurement of warehouse inventories include direct costs for materials and labour 
and indirect costs (variable and fixed).
Provisions for impairment of materials, finished products, spare parts and other 
obsolete or slow rotation stocks are calculated, considering future expected use and 
realisable value.
Products in progress relative to work orders are measured using the percentage of com-
pletion, recognising costs and revenues relative to said progress to the annual income 
statement.
Any losses from these contracts are recognised in the annual income statement in the 
full amount, at the time they become known.

Cash on hand and other cash equivalents

This item indicates cash and other cash equivalents and short-term highly tradable 
financial investments that can be readily turned into cash and are subject to irrelevant 
risks in terms of variations in their value. These financial items are recognised at their 
nominal value.
For the purposes of the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, cash and other cash 
equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts as of the reporting date.

Assets and liabilities held for sale

Non-current assets and groups of assets and liabilities for which the book value will mainly 
be recovered through sale, rather than through continuous use, are presented separately 
under other assets and liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position.
These assets, classified within a specific item in the consolidated statement of financial 
position, are measured at the lower of the book value and the fair value minus fore-
seeable sales costs. Gains and losses, net of the relative tax effects, from non-current 
assets disposed of or held for sale are recognised in a specific item within the annual 
income statement.

Trade payables and miscellaneous payables

This item includes payables due to suppliers and other liabilities, apart from financial 
liabilities which are recognised separately. These liabilities are initially recognised at 
the fair value of the fee to be paid.
Subsequently, payables are measured using the amortized cost criteria, determined 
with the effective interest method.

Employee benefits

Benefits due after the termination of the employment relationship are divided into 
defined contribution plans and defined benefit plans.
For defined contribution plans, the legal or implicit obligation of the company is 
limited to the amount of contributions to be paid consequently, actuarial risk and 
investment risk fall to the employee.
For defined benefit plans, the company's obligation consists in granted and ensuring 
the agreed upon benefits for the employees: actuarial risk and investment risk fall to 
the company.

Until 31 December 2006, the severance indemnity was classifiable among defined 
benefit plans.
The regulations for this provision were amended by Italian Law 296 of 27 December 
2006 ("2007 Financial Law"), and by subsequent Decrees and Regulations issued 
during the initial months of 2007. In the light of these changes, and particularly those 
with reference to companies with at least 50 employees, this practice is not to be con-
sidered a defined benefit plan solely for the portions accrued prior to 01 January 2007 
(and not yet liquidated as of the reporting date). Portions accruing after this date can 
be classified as a defined contribution plan.

The Group's obligation to finance defined benefit plans and the annual cost recog-
nised in the annual income statement are determined by applying actuarial methodol-
ogy, based on demographic hypotheses, in relation to mortality rates and turnover in 
the reference population and on financial hypotheses, in relation to the discount rate 
which reflects the value of money over time, the inflation rates, and future salary and 
wage levels.
The amount recognised as a liability for defined benefits indicates the current value of 
the obligation as of the reporting date, net of the current value of any existing pro-
gram assets.
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The amount recognised in the annual income statement consists of the following 
elements:

• social security costs relative to current work performed;
• interest expenses;
• expected returns from program assets, if existing.

The revision of IAS 19 referenced above required the Group, as of the financial year 
which began on 01 January 2013, to directly recognise actuarial profits and losses rela-
tive to defined benefit plans deriving from changes in the actuarial hypotheses used or 
changes in plan conditions in shareholders' equity and the Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.
The amount of rights accrued by employees during the year is recognised under the 
item personnel expenses, while the financial component, which represents the charge 
that the company would face if it were to finance the amount of the severance indem-
nity (TFR) on the market, is recognised under financial income/expenses.

Provisions for risks and charges 

The Group allocates provisions for risks and charges when:

• there is a current obligation (legal or implied) relative to third parties and deriving 
from a past event;

• it is probable that the Group will need to use resources to comply with the obliga-
tion;

• a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.

Provisions are recognised at the value which represents the best estimate that the 
Group would reasonably pay to fulfil the obligation (fair value) or to transfer it to 
third parties, on the reporting date.
Changes in estimates are shown in the annual income statement for the period in 
which the change occurred.
When financial effects associated with the time forecast of the payment is significant 
and the payment date for the obligations can be reliably estimated, the provision is 
discounted using a discount rate that reflects current assessments of the cost of money 
in relation to time. In this case, the amount recognised in the financial statements 
increases each year to reflect the passage of time and this increase is recognised in the 
annual income statement under the item "financial expenses".

Significant potential liabilities represented by the following are illustrated in the Notes:

• possible (but not probable) obligations, deriving from past events, the existence of 
which will only be confirmed if one or more future events occur, which are not fully 
under the control of the company;

• current obligations deriving from past events, for which the amount cannot be relia-
bly estimated, or for which compliance may not involve any expenses.

Items in other currencies or subject to "exchange risk"

These are registered at the current exchange rate in effect on the date of the transaction. 
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are converted using the exchange 
rate on the reporting date. Non-monetary items are kept at the conversion rate for the 
transaction, unless there is a persistent unfavourable trend in the exchange rate.
Both exchange differences generated from the repayment of items with different 
exchange rates relative to the conversion rate used at initial recognition, and those 
relative to the measurement of monetary items at the reporting date are recognised in 
the annual income statement.

Recognition of revenues and costs

Revenues are measured based on the payment the Group believes it is entitled to 
receive for the sale of its products or services.
Revenues from sales of products are recognised, net of discounts, including discounts for 
advance payments, rebates or returns, when control over the assets or services is trans-
ferred to the customer. Transfer of control occurs when the following conditions are met:

• the Group does not have the possibility to make use of the goods or services, as this 
has been transferred to the customer;

• the significant risks and benefits associated with ownership of the goods has been trans-
ferred to the purchaser of the goods (generally upon shipment or delivery of the goods);

• the value of the revenues is reliably determined;
• the economic benefits deriving from the sale will be used by the Group;
• the costs sustained or to be sustained are reliably determined.

Revenues from services are recognised once the services are complete.
Revenues of a financial nature are recognised on an accrual basis.
Dividends are recognised when they are received, under the item "Income from equity 
investments".
Costs are recognised using criteria analogous to those used for the recognition of reve-
nues, and in any case on an accrual basis.
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Current, prepaid and deferred taxes

Income taxes are determined on the basis of estimated taxable income, with reference 
to the current tax regulations, in the countries in which the Group companies reside.
Forecast debt, net of any advances and withholdings, is recognised under the state-
ment of financial position liabilities in the item "current tax payables".
Taxes relative to components recognised directly under shareholders' equity are recog-
nised directly to shareholders' equity and not in the annual income statement.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated for all temporary differences between 
the book value attributed to assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the 
value attributed to the same assets and liabilities for tax purposes, unless the tempo-
rary differences derive from:

• initial recognition of goodwill;
• initial recognition of an asset or liability, in a transaction which:

- is not a business combination and
- does not influence accounting results nor taxable income on the date of the trans-
action in question;

• equity investments in subsidiaries, affiliated companies and companies under joint 
control, when:
- the Group can control the schedule for cancelling temporary taxable differences;
- it is probable that the temporary differences will not be cancelled for the foreseea-
ble future.

Deferred tax assets are not recognised when it is not reasonably certain they will be 
recovered, in compliance with the principle of prudence.
Additionally, their value is reviewed at the end of each period and is reduced to the ex-
tent that it is no longer probable sufficient taxable profits will be available in the future 
to allow full or partial use of these assets.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are defined on the basis of the tax rates which are ex-
pected to be applied in the year in which the assets will be realised or the liabilities will be 
repaid, considering rates in effect or those substantially issued as of the reporting date.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified among non-current assets and liabilities.

Estimates and assumptions

Application of certain accounting standards necessarily requires significant elements 
based on estimates and assumptions that are uncertain when formulated. For the 
2024 financial statements, it is held that the assumptions made were appropriate and 
consequently, that the financial statements were prepared with the intent of clarity 
and to truly and accurately represent the equity and financial situation and the eco-
nomic results for the year. Within the explanatory notes, information is provided in 
the relevant sections about the reasons underlying decisions made, measurements tak-
en and estimate criteria adopted in applying the international accounting standards. 
To formulate reliable estimates and hypotheses, historic experience was used, as well 
as other factors deemed reasonable for the case in question, on the basis of the infor-
mation available. Nonetheless, it cannot be excluded that changes in said estimates 
and assumptions could create significant effects on the equity and economic situation, 
as well as on the potential liabilities and assets reported within the financial statement 
disclosures, in the case that different elements of judgement arise with respect to those 
previously expressed. More specifically, greater use of subjective assessments on the 
part of company management was necessary in the following cases:

•	determining impairment of goodwill, property, plant and equipment and equity 
investments;

•	determining the fair value of financial assets and liabilities when the amounts could 
not be directly observed on active markets. In this case, the subjective elements are 
found in the selection of measurement models and input parameters that may not be 
observable on the market;

•	quantifying provisions for risks and charges and provisions for employee benefits, due 
to the uncertainty of that required, survival times and actuarial hypotheses used;

•	estimating the recoverability of prepaid tax assets.

The presentation of these cases is provided with the intention of allowing those reading 
the financial statements to better understand the main areas of uncertainty but is not in 
any case to suggest that alternative assumptions could be appropriate or more valid.
Estimates and assumptions are periodically reviewed, and the effects of each change are 
shown in the annual income statement for the period in which the change occurred.
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Consolidated statement of financial position

Non-current assets

1  |  Property, plant and equipment

The assets indicated in the following breakdown are included in this item: 

Flows from property, plant
and equipment €/000	

Historic cost at start of period		  382,532   	 2,044,510   	 16,742   	 43,011   	 28,900   	 2,515,696   
	 Increases during period		  678   	 16,033   	 197   	 1,033   	 20,642   	 38,583   
	 Disposals during period		  -   	 (9,080)  	 -   	 (575)  	 -   	 (9,655)  
	 Revaluations, impairment during period	 -   	 (4,029)  	 (6)  	 (15)  	 -   	 (4,050)  
	 Other changes		  1,247   	 25,535   	 33   	 720   	 (27,601)  	 (67)  

Historic cost at period end		  384,456   	 2,072,969   	 16,966   	 44,175   	 21,941   	 2,540,507   

Provision for amortization/
depreciation at start of period		  272,357   	 1,811,487   	 16,260   	 40,223   	 -   	 2,140,327   
	 Amortization/depreciation
	 during period		  4,156   	 37,727   	 260   	 1,129   	 -   	 43,272   
	 Uses during period		  -   	 (8,660)  	 -   	 (551)  	 -   	 (9,211)  
	 Other changes in the provision	 0   	 0   	 -   	 (49)  	 -   	 (49)  

Provision for amortization/
depreciation at period end		  276,513   	 1,840,555   	 16,520   	 40,752   	 -   	 2,174,339   

Net book value at period end		  107,943   	 232,414   	 446   	 3,423   	 21,941   	 366,168   

Land and 
buildings

Industrial 
and sales 

equipment

Fixed assets in 
progress

Plant and 
machinery

Other 
assets

Total

Property, plant and equipment €/000	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change

Property, plant and equipment	 375,369   	 366,168   	 (9,201)  

Property investments		  410   	 391   	 (19)  

Right of use assets		  9,293   	 10,673   	 1,380   

 		  385,073   	 377,232   	 (7,841)  

Property, plant and equipment

The table below shows changes occurring during the year.

Capitalisation carried out during the year amounted to € 38,583 thousand (€ 49,302 
thousand in 2023) and also included other increases for € 1,017 thousand relative to 
internal work, capitalisation of financial expenses equal to € 166 thousand (€ 219 thou-
sand in 2023), calculated with reference to a rate of 1,68% implementing IAS 23 and 
advances on maintenance work for € 2,066 thousand (€ 2,350 thousand in 2023). 

The companies in which the major investments have been made are Burgo Group 
S.p.A., Burgo Ardennes S.A., and Mosaico S.p.A., with interventions particularly made 
at the sites of Virton (€ 10,630 thousand), Sora (€ 6,482 thousand), Sarego (€ 4,322 
thousand), Villorba (€ 4,285 thousand), and Tolmezzo (€ 4,665 thousand). Please see 
the Report on Operations for comments and details on investments in 2024.

The main negative changes concern the company Burgo Group S.p.A. and relate to 
decreases due to the decommissioning of plants and equipment for a historic cost of 
€ 4,277 thousand (of which the residual net value was zero) relative to asset sales to 
Mondi as part of the disposal of the Duino site.

During the year write-downs of € 4,050 thousand were made, mainly in relation to 
plants and equipment at the Lugo plant subsequent to impairment testing. For more 
information on the parameters used for the impairment test, please refer to the fol-
lowing note on Intangible Assets.
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Property investments Right of use assets 

Flow of property investments  €/000	 	 Civil land	 Civil buildings	 Total 

Historic cost at start of period			   80   	 680   	 760   
	 Increases during period			   -   	 -   	 -   

	 Disposals during period			   -   	 -   	 -   

	 Revaluations, impairment during period		  -   	 -   	 -   

	 Transfer			   -   	 -   	 -   

	 Other changes			   -   	 -   	 -   

Historic cost at period end			   80   	 680   	 760   

Provision for amortization/depreciation at start of period	 -   	 350   	 350   
	 Amortization/depreciation during period		 -   	 19   	 19   

	 Uses during period			   -   	 -   	 -   

	 Transfer			   -   	 -   	 -   

	 Other changes in the provision		  -   	 -   	 -   

Provision for amortization/depreciation at period end	 -   	 369   	 369   

Net book value at period end			   80   	 311   	 391

Right of use assets
flow €/000	

Historic cost at start of period		  4,229   	 1,265   	 9,333   	 1,410   	 1,734   	 258   	 18,228   
	 Increases during period		  385   	 324   	 3,284   	 676   	 101   	 -   	 4,771   

	 Disposals during period		  436   	 (46)  	 (2,148)  	 (472)  	 (185)  	 -   	 (2,416)  

	 Other changes 		  -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 (258)  	 (258)  

Historic cost at period end		  5,050   	 1,543   	 10,469   	 1,614   	 1,649   	 -   	 20,325   

Provision for amortization/
depreciation at start of period		  (1,993)  	 (780)  	 (3,903)  	 (887)  	 (1,373)  	 -   	 (8,935)  
	 Amortization/depreciation
	 during period		  (684)  	 (240)  	 (1,325)  	 (275)  	 (319)  	 -   	 (2,843)  

	 Uses during period		  (439)  	 46   	 2,014   	 338   	 166   	 -   	 2,126   

	 Other changes 		  -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   

Provision for amortization/
depreciation at period end		  (3,117)  	 (974)  	 (3,213)  	 (823)  	 (1,525)  	 -   	 (9,652)  

Net book value at period end		  1,934   	 569   	 7,256   	 790   	 124   	 -   	 10,673   

Commercial 
leases

Industrial 
leases

Fixed assets in 
progress

ITResidential 
leases

Vehicle 
leases

Total

During the year, changes in civil properties consisted of amortization totalling € 19 
thousand.

In 2024 increases were recorded following the signing of new asset lease contracts for € 
4,771 thousand, mainly relative to the steam turbine at the Villorba plant and forklift 
machinery at various plants; amortization during the period totalled € 2,843 thousand, 
while disposals in the year net of provisions totalled € 290 thousand. 
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2  | Intangible assets

The balance is as follows:

Intangible assets €/000			   31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Goodwill and other assets with undefined life			 

Goodwill			   6,224   	 6,224   	 -   

 				    6,224   	 6,224   	 -   

Intangible assets with defined life			 

Concessions, licenses, trademarks and similar rights	 1,605   	 1,318   	 (287)  

Other intangible assets			   5,074   	 10,290   	 5,216   

Fixed assets in progress and advances		  452   	 326   	 (126)  

 				    7,130   	 11,933   	 4,803   

 				    13,355   	 18,157   	 4,803   

The item goodwill includes that recognised through the incorporation of the Valchiampo 
plant (€ 5,819 thousand) and for the acquisition of 100% of Cavallari S.r.l., subse-
quently renamed Burgo Distribuzione S.r.l. (€ 414 thousand). 
Recoverability of goodwill is verified annually or more frequently if deemed necessary, 
by determining the value in use. 
Goodwill is allocated to the respective cash generating units (CGU). CGUs refer to 
individual production sites. To determine the value in use, the current value of future 
financial flows was calculated estimated by applying discounting rates that reflect cur-
rent market values of the temporal value of money, the specific risks of the business as 
well as terminal growth rates in line with inflation levels.
Finally, the current value of the flows and the terminal value of the individual CGUs 
was compared with the capital invested in them.
For the purposes of the impairment test, the main assumptions, in line with current 
measurements of the cost of money, which take into account the specific risks of the 
CGUs, involve the risk-free rate of 3.70% (4.27% in 2023), the market risk premium 
unchanged on the previous year at 5.50% (increased, in 2024, from a minimum of 
1.0% to a maximum of 3.5% to incorporate other risks for certain CGUs), the growth 
rate of 2.00%, the cost of debt before taxes of 1.93% (1.79% in 2023) and the ratio be-
tween equity and debt, respectively equal to 67.97% and 32.03% (respectively 83.97% 
and 16.03% the previous year) derived as the average value of a panel of comparable 
listed companies in the same sector.

During the year in question the impairment test performed did not indicate a need to 
carry out write-downs on goodwill.
Below is a breakdown of residual goodwill at the end of the year for each CGU:

• Valchiampo € 5,810 thousand;
• Burgo Distribuzione € 414 thousand.

The impairment test was also carried out with reference to the CGUs for which, in 
previous years or in the current year, there were indicators of impairment, and as antic-
ipated in the previous note on Intangible Assets, the test in one case, that of the Lugo 
plant, highlighted the need to impair the values of the assets recorded in the Statement 
of financial position.

The Group, which has the right to receive green certificates against the production of 
energy from renewable sources at the Ardennes plant, recognised securities totalling 
€ 10,290 thousand under assets (€ 5,074 thousand in 2023). The other intangible assets 
are mainly composed of software licenses.
The table below shows changes occurring during the year.

Flow from intangible assets €/000	

Historic cost at start of period						     6,224   	 17,651   	 5,074   	 452   	 29,401   
Increases during period						     -   	 66   	 15,770   	 358   	 16,194   

Disposals during period						     -   	 -   	 (10,554)  	 -   	 (10,554)  

Revaluations, impairment during period					    -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   

Other changes						     -   	 503   	 -   	 (485)  	 18   

Historic cost at period end						     6,224   	 18,220   	 10,290   	 326   	 35,059   

Provision for amortization/depreciation
at start of period						     -   	 16,046   	 -   		  16,046   
Amortization/depreciation during period					    -   	 855   	 -   		  855   

Uses during period						     -   	 -   	 -   		  -   

Other changes in the provision						     -   	 -   	 -   		  -   

Provision for amortization/depreciation at period end	 -	 16,902   	 -   		  16,902   

Net book value at period end						     6,224   	 1,318   	 10,290   	 326   	 18,157   

Goodwill and 
other intangible 

assets with 
undefined life

Concessions, 
licenses, 

trademarks and 
similar rights

Fixed assets in 
progress and 

advances

Other intangible 
assets

Total
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Equity investments and securities  €/000		  31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Equity investments			   27   	 27   	 -   

Equity investments in other companies		  7,174   	 9,052   	 1,878   

				    7,201   	 9,079   	 1,878   

Financial receivables due from others totalled € 6,289 thousand, mainly composed 
of € 5,352 thousand for the financial receivable due to Burgo Group relative to the 
investee Consorzio Interconnector Energy Italia S.c.a.r.l. and € 562 thousand for 
an interest-bearing deposit made by Burgo Ardennes for the measures prescribed in 
the current “permis d'exploiter” (equivalent to the Italian Integrated Environmental 
Authorisation).

Other receivables and non-current assets

Financial receivables and other non-current financial assets

Financial receivables and other non-current
financial assets  €/000			 

31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Non-current financial receivables due from others	 8,279   	 6,289   	 (1,990)  

 				    8,279   	 6,289   	 (1,990)  

The increase in other receivables and non-current assets of € 761 thousand compared 
to the previous year is mainly due to the increase in the  security deposit made with 
Terna relative to the Interconnector procedure to guarantee the execution of intercon-
nection work.

Other receivables and non-current assets €/000	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Non-current sundry receivables due from others	 87   	 89   	 2   

Non-current security deposits			   10,524   	 11,283   	 759   

 			   	 10,611   	 11,372   	 761   

The increases for € 16,194 thousand include the recognition of green certificates in the 
amount of € 15,770 thousand, as well as € 424 thousand related mainly to IT inter-
ventions, especially regarding software and user licences.

The decreases relate to the sale of green certificates relative to Burgo Ardennes for 
€ 10,554 thousand. 

3  | Other non-current assets

These include the items indicated below:

Equity investments and securities

The "equity investments” item refers to the equity investment in the affiliate company 
Consorzio Energy Paper S.c.a.r.l. for € 27 thousand.

The increase in “Equity investments in other companies” is due to the reclassifica-
tion of the loans to Consorzio Italia Energy Interconnector as part of the obligations 
arising from the Interconnector procedure, which in the previous year were recognised 
as financial receivables from other companies. The item mainly includes the equity 
investment in Paper Interconnector S.c.a.r.l., recorded on the balance sheet at a net 
value of € 7,191 thousand, and the equity investment in Interconnector Energy Paper 
for € 1,858 thousand; note that the latter was written down by € 350 thousand during 
the year.
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4  | Deferred tax assets 

Deferred tax assets amount to € 28,960 thousand, a decrease of € 7,064 thousand. 
Below is a detailed explanation:  

Deferred tax assets €/000	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	

IRES						    

Taxed provisions (allocated)		  108,342   	 24.0   	 26,002   	 90,668   	 24.0   	 21,760

Derivatives		  (6,087)  	 24.0   	 (1,461)  	 (4,985)  	 24.0   	 (1,196)  

IAS 19 discounting - actuarial G/L		  2,248   	 24.0   	 540   	 2,222   	 24.0   	 533   

Amortization, depreciation and write-downs	 21,100   	 24.0   	 5,064   	 22,481   	 24.0   	 5,395   

IRES losses to be used in future financial years	 24,401   	 24.0   	 5,856   	 19,437   	 24.0   	 4,665   

Allocation of shortfall		  (31,004)  	 24.0   	 (7,441)  	 (30,428)  	 24.0   	 (7,303)  

Other items		  22,827   	 24.0   	 5,478   	 16,375   	 24.0   	 3,930      

			   141,826   		  34,038   	 115,770   		   27,785  

IRAP						    

Taxed provisions (allocated)		  39,241   	 3.9   	 1,530   	 27,348   	 3.9   	 1,067   

Amortization, depreciation and write-downs	 18,761   	 3.9   	 732   	 19,174   	 3.9   	 748   

Allocation of shortfall		  (31,008)  	 3.9   	 (1,209)  	 (30,432)  	 3.9   	 (1,187)  

Derivatives		  2,383   	 3.9   	 93   	 (1,707)  	 3.9   	 (67)  

Other items		  21,509   	 3.9   	 839   	 15,740   	 3.9   	 614      

			   50,885   		  1,985   	 30,123   		  1,175          

Prepaid foreign taxes						    

Other items		  4   	 28.0   	 1   	 -   	 28.0   	 -      

			   4   		  1   	 -   		  -      

				    	 36,024   			   28,960   

Taxable (Debit)/
credit

% rate% rate Taxable (Debit)/
credit

Deferred tax assets show the balance between positions receivable and payable deriving 
from companies for which offsetting is legally allowed.
During the year deferred tax credits fell by € 7,064 thousand. The main differences 
seen during the year can be attributed to the following phenomena:

• provisions taxed for IRES and IRAP purposes, whose recognised deferred tax assets 
decreased by € 4,706 thousand;

• amortization/depreciation and impairment for IRES and IRAP, an increase in de-
ferred tax assets of € 348 thousand;

• IRES losses to be used in future financial years whose deferred tax assets decreased 
by € 1,191 thousand;

• fair value on derivative financial instruments hedged recorded in Equity whose 
deferred tax liabilities decreased by € 105 thousand;

• allocation of shortfalls for IRES and IRAP whose deferred tax liabilities decreased 
by € 161 thousand;

• other liabilities with temporary differences, whose related deferred tax assets de-
creased by € 1,780 thousand.

For more details about the applicable rate, please see note 33 "Income taxes".
Note that the tax losses of the parent company can currently all be carried forward 
indefinitely.
Recognition of deferred tax assets relative to a portion of IRES tax losses that can 
be carried forward is justified by a reasonable expectation of sufficient future taxable 
income, based on the economic forecasts found in the industrial plan. 
Tax losses which led to tax losses, summarised by year of creation and maturity, relate 
to the parent company. 2002 tax losses can only be used by Burgo Group S.p.A. 
The difference between the losses accrued at the end of 2023 and 2024 derives from 
the use of these losses to reduce Burgo Group S.p.A.’ s taxable base for the current year 
and for adjustments between the estimated tax calculation recorded in the Financial 
Statements as at 31 December 2023 and the final tax return.
Deferred tax assets refer to legal entities which have a positive balance in their indi-
vidual financial statements. Specifically, these refer to the Burgo Group S.p.A., Burgo 
Distribuzione S.r.l., Burgo Energia S.r.l., Mosaico S.p.A. and Burgo Recycling S.r.l.
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Current assets

5  |  Inventories

Warehouse inventories increased overall by € 9,725 thousand (in 2023 the change was 
€ -94,756 thousand). 
The value of raw materials, stocks, consumables, semi-finished products and finished 
products is shown net of the provision for obsolescence for € 29,121 thousand 
(€ 36,334 thousand the previous year).
This provision was adjusted during the year on the basis of the most recent assess-
ments of the risk of not recovering the value of inventories.
Refer to the “Market Prices” paragraph in the Report on Operations for a breakdown 
of raw material price trends.

The value of inventories at € 43,321 thousand is in line with the figure at the end of 
the previous year.

The increase in the value of finished products, which amounted to € 1,902 thousand, 
is mainly due to higher stock quantities (up by around 7% on the previous year), only 
partially offset by a reduction in the average production cost associated mainly with 
lower energy costs.

Warehouse inventories €/000			   31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

	 Raw materials inventories			   54,410   	 54,349   	 (60)  

	 Spare parts			   42,625   	 43,321   	 696   

	 Provision for impairment of raw materials and spare parts	 (17,440)  	 (17,197)  	 243   

Raw materials, subsidiary and consumable items	 79,595   	 80,473   	 879   

	 Products in progress and semi-finished products	 30,253   	 30,228   	 (25)  

Products in progress and semi-finished products	 30,253   	 30,228   	 (25)  

	 Finished products and goods			   93,881   	 95,783   	 1,902   

	 Provision for impairment of products		  (18,894)  	 (11,924)  	 6,969   

Finished products			   74,987   	 83,859   	 8,871   

 				    184,835   	 194,561   	 9,725   

Finally, as at 31 December 2024 the Group recorded IRES tax losses amounting to 
€ 112,030 thousand, for which no deferred tax assets have been recognised.

Furthermore, based on current estimations, it is unlikely that the Group will be subject to 
global minimum tax in the current year due to the application of existing safe harbours.

Tax losses €/000	 2023	 2024	

2002	 can be carried forward indefinitely	 24,401	 5,856	 19,437	 4,665

		  24,401	 5,856	 19,437	 4,665

lossmaturity tax taxloss
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6  |  Trade receivables 

Trade receivables do not accrue interest. It is held that the value inserted (adjusted by the 
provision for doubtful accounts) approximates the presumable realisable value.
Allocations to the provision for doubtful accounts during the year amounted to € 1,090 
thousand, with releases of € 26 thousand, while uses of the provision came to € 4,218 
thousand following the write-off of certain positions that were no longer recoverable.
The table below provides a breakdown of trade receivables by geographic area.
The reduction in trade receivables is mainly a result of the lower revenues recorded 
in the first quarter of the year compared to the previous year and an improvement in 
payment terms.

Trade receivables €/000			   31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

From customers			   228,831   	 206,474   	 (22,357)  

Provision for doubtful accounts			   (50,259)  	 (47,104)  	 3,154      

				    178,572   	 159,370   	 (19,202)    

from affiliated companies			   5,877   	 13,636   	 7,759   

				    5,877   	 13,636   	 7,759      

 				    184,449   	 173,006   	 (11,443)  

Trade receivables by geographic area  €/000	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Italy			   112,574   	 105,124   	 (7,450)  

Europe E.U.			   52,562   	 50,997   	 (1,566)  

Other countries			   19,313   	 16,885   	 (2,428)    

				    184,449   	 173,006   	 (11,443)  

7  |  Other receivables and current assets  

Other receivables and current assets €/000	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Current tax receivables			   17,362   	 11,577   	 (5,785)           

	 Current sundry receivables due from others	 10,121   	 13,516   	 3,394   

	 Current receivables due from social security entities	 222   	 26   	 (196)  

	 Current derivative assets			   203   	 1,707   	 1,504        

Other sundry receivables			   10,547   	 15,249   	 4,702   

Other assets			   1,262   	 1,538   	 276     

 				    29,171   	 28,364   	 (807)  	

Other receivables and current assets decreased by € 807 thousand.
Current tax receivables fell by € 5,785 thousand, mainly due to a lower receivable 
from IRES and IRAP payments, lower residual tax receivables, and lower VAT receiv-
ables from the tax authorities.
As regards other sundry receivables, the main changes relate to the increase in sundry 
receivables due from others due to the receivable from the subsidiary Burgo Ardennes 
for insurance settlements, and the increase of € 1,504 thousand to the fair value of 
derivative assets.
Other assets, consisting of accrued income and prepayments, increased mainly due to 
higher prepayments to suppliers.
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Financial receivables due from others mainly regard:

• advances paid to suppliers of the parent company and the subsidiaries Mosaico 
and Burgo Ardennes by Burgo Factor for € 30,252 thousand (€ 37,935 thousand in 
2023) at market rates, the average duration of which falls between 30 and 90 days;

• financial receivables due from factoring companies to the Parent Company and the 
subsidiary Mosaico, for the recourse transfer of receivables for € 3,838 thousand 
(€ 2,141 thousand in 2023);

• deposit accounts to support the operations of the subsidiary Burgo Energia S.r.l. for 
€ 11,875 thousand (€ 3,848 thousand in 2023); 

• deposit accounts for € 2,442 thousand in respect of the Parent Company, of which 
€ 1,829 thousand not freely available as it is subject to a pledge lien to guarantee an 
FIT subsidised loan granted to the Sora plant.

Financial assets for current derivatives amounted to € 3,536 thousand to cover medi-
um- to long-term credit lines. 

Financial receivables and other current financial assets  €/000	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Financial receivables due from others		  46,805   	 48,726   	 1,920   

Derivative financial assets			   9,175   	 3,536   	 (5,638)  

Other financial assets			   2,362   	 2,638   	 276         

 				    58,342   	 54,900   	 (3,442)  

8  |  Financial receivables and other current financial assets 9  |  Cash on hand and other cash equivalents

Cash on hand and other cash equivalents totalled € 268,852 thousand. The book 
value is equal to the fair value.
It is reported that cash equivalents include readily convertible deposit accounts, with 
repayment on demand or with a maximum maturity of three months, for a total of 
€ 122,700 thousand, of which €120,000 thousand subscribed during the year by the 
Parent company and € 2,700 thousand by the subsidiary Burgo Ardennes SA.

Below is a reconciliation table for the item "Cash on hand and other cash equivalents" 
with net monetary availability recognised in the cash flow statement:

Cash on hand and other cash equivalents  €/000	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Bank and postal deposits			   272,378   	 268,827   	 (3,551)  

Cash and cash on hand			   27   	 25   	 (2)      

			    	 272,404   	 268,852   	 (3,552)  

Reconciliation of cash on hand
other cash equivalents €/000			 

31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Cash on hand and other cash equivalents		  272,404   	 268,852   	 (3,552)  

Current accounts and other loans			  (16,726)  	 (25,930)  	 (9,204)     

			   	 255,678   	 242,922   	 (12,756)  



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2024  I  BURGO GROUP CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 125124

S
E

C
T

IO
N

 2

BURGO GROUP

Shareholders’ equity

10  |  Shareholders’ equity

Total consolidated shareholders' equity amounted to € 540,665 thousand (€ 509,374 
thousand on 31 December 2023). 
The share capital of the Parent Company on 31 December 2024 consisted of 
2,168,857,500 ordinary shares with no nominal value, for a total value of € 90,000 
thousand. 
The parent company has no treasury shares in its portfolio.
Consolidated shareholders' equity at 31 December 2024 increased by € 31,292 thousand 
with respect to 31 December 2023, as a consequence of the following main changes:

• an increase due to profits for the year of € 54,899 thousand (€ +73,558 thousand in 2023);
• an increase due to net fair value changes in financial derivatives recognised using 

hedge accounting for € 997 thousand (€ +3,354 thousand in 2023);
• a decrease for net changes equal to € 329 thousand (€ +86 thousand in 2023) due to 

discounting of TFR and other social security plans pursuant to IAS 19;
• a decrease due to the distribution of dividends of € 22,965 thousand, of which 

€ 18,204 thousand from the Equity Instruments reserve component of profit reserve, 
€ 4,551 thousand from the 2023 result, and € 210 thousand from minority sharehold-
ers of Burgo Factor S.p.A.

For more information, please see the "Statement of changes in consolidated sharehold-
ers' equity".

The main variations are commented below:

• reserve for equity financial instruments decreases due to the distribution of dividends;
• the non-distributable reserve for unrealised exchange rate gains reduced following 

the adjustment to the reserve for unrealised gains at the end of the previous year;
• CFH reserve decreases due to the reduction in fair value of hedging derivatives, 

accounted for using the option of recording in equity;
• reserve for retained earnings/(loss) varies by € 70,361 thousand mainly due to the 

carryover of 2023 earnings, net of the dividends distributed in 2024 from the 2023 
results, amounting to € 68,674 thousand.

Deferred taxes relative to items directly attributed to shareholders' equity are as fol-
lows:

Reserves and profits carried forward €/00		  31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Distributable reserve from share capital reduction	 138,797   	 138,797   	 -   

Legal			   18,000   	 18,000   	 -   

Reserve for equity financial instruments		  101,554   	 83,350   	 (18,204)  

Non-distributable exchange gains reserve		  2,559   	 793   	 (1,766)  

Other reserves			   48   	 48   	 -   

Consolidation			   (66,889)  	 (66,776)  	 113   

IAS 19 reserve			   (6,704)  	 (6,375)  	 329   

Reserve for accounting standard change - FTA		  4,684   	 4,686   	 2   

Cash flow hedge reserve			   4,719   	 3,722   	 (997)    

 				    196,770   	 176,246   	 (20,524)  

Reserve for retained earnings/(loss)			  145,475   	 215,836   	 70,361   

				    145,475   	 215,836   	 70,361   

Deferred taxes recognised directly			    
to shareholders' equity  €/000			 

31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Fair value changes in cash flow hedges		  (1,529)  	 (1,424)  	 105   

Actuarial gains/(losses)			   1,914   	 1,806   	 (107)  

Other			   1,052   	 1,052   	 -   

				    1,436   	 1,434   	 (2)  
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Non-current financial liabilities include:

• bank loan obtained by the subsidiary Burgo Ardennes for the cooker investment of 
€ 6,729 thousand (€ 8,854 thousand in 2023);

• amounts due to Parent Company shareholders due after the end of the year and 
valued at amortized cost at € 14,345 thousand (€ 83,746 thousand at the end of the 
previous year) and medium/long-term loans to others for € 14,627 thousand 
(€ 64,344 thousand at the end of the previous year);

• a subsidised loan of € 754 thousand (initial nominal value of € 3,292 thousand) and 
a bank loan of € 170 thousand, relative to the admission to receive the benefits of the 
Fund for Technological Innovation, Law FIT 46/82 for the Sora plant, granted to 
the Parent Group;

• a subsidised loan obtained during the year for € 444 thousand (€ 309 thousand at 
year-end 2023), relating to project at the Avezzano plant for the new White Top 
Liner paper production for corrugated packaging;

• FRIE mortgages granted to the subsidiary Mosaico S.p.A.:
- in 2016 by Mediocredito FVG at a subsidised variable rate, with a residual amount 
of € 438 thousand; 

- in 2021 by Civibank at a subsidised variable rate, with a residual amount of € 9,824 
thousand.

• payables subscribed by S.E.F.E. for € 40 thousand;
• liabilities for rights of use of € 6,863 thousand.

Interest on variable rate loans was determined every six months. The conditions for 
fixed rate loans remained constant through to maturity of the instruments. For all 
payables relative to loans, valued at the amortized cost, it is held that the book value 
reflects the fair value of the financial instrument as of the reporting date.

Non-current liabilities

11  |  Non-current financial liabilities

Non-current financial liabilities  €/000	 	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Bonds			   425   	 -   	 (425)  

Loan payables			   169,559   	 46,190   	 (123,369)  

Right of use liabilities			   5,664   	 6,863   	 1,198      

 				    175,649   	 53,053   	 (122,596)  

Loan payables - breakdown of maturity dates €/000	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

from 2 - 3 years			   150,192   	 36,257   	 (113,935)  

from 4 - 5 years			   12,347   	 3,957   	 (8,390)  

over 5 years			   7,021   	 5,976   	 (1,044)    

				    169,559   	 46,190   	 (123,369)  

Right of use liabilities - breakdown of maturity dates €/000	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

from 2 - 3 years			   3,162   	 3,976   	 814   

from 4 - 5 years			   1,752   	 1,889   	 137   

over 5 years			   750   	 998   	 248      

				    5,664   	 6,863   	 1,199   
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TFR (severance indemnity) €/000		  31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Actuarial measurement of TFR at start of period	 17,340   	 16,214   	 (1,126)  

Provisions			   152   	 33   	 (119)  

Payments			   (2,180)  	 (2,058)  	 122   

TFR discounting - IAS 19 reserve			   130   	 (190)  	 (320)  

TFR discounting - financial expenses (income)	 791   	 559   	 (232)  

Other changes - incoming (outgoing) transfers	 (19)  	 (84)  	 (65)    

 				    16,214   	 14,474   	 (1,740)  

For actuarial measurement of the provision for severance indemnities (TFR) on 31 
December 2024, on the basis of accounting standard IAS 19 an independent actuary 
carried out the calculation, on the basis of information provided by the Group.

In the calculation, the actuary made use of the following demographic hypotheses:

• to estimate probability of death within the group of employees subject to measure-
ment, the RG48 survival table used by the Italian General Accounting Office to 
estimate pension expenses for the Italian population was used;

• to estimate probability of disability within the group of employees subject to meas-
urement, an INPS table was used, broken down by age and gender;

• for retirement age for the generic active population, achievement of the minimum 
requirements established for General Obligatory Insurance was assumed;

• for probability of departure for reasons other than death, an annual frequency of 
3.00% was considered (unchanged with respect to the previous year);

• for the probability of TFR advances, a yearly value of 2.00% was assumed (un-
changed with respect to the previous year).

Financial economic hypotheses used in the measurement are described below:

Economic/financial hypotheses used  	 	 2023	 2024

Annual theoretical discounting rate  		  3.08%	 3.18%

Annual inflation rate			   2.00%	 2.00%

Annual TFR increase rate			   3.00%	 3.00%

The validity of this data is connected to the stability of the reference regulatory 
situation, expected performance of interest rates on the financial market, the expect-
ed performance of salary trends, of future liquidation trends and the frequency with 
which employees make use of advances, which must be on average compatible with 
the economic/financial hypotheses made.
Based on the social security reform, for companies with more than 50 employees 
future portions of the TFR provision accruing no longer accumulate within the com-
pany but go to supplementary social security or the INPS treasury fund. Therefore, 
projection of salaries based on given growth rates and professional roles is no longer 
necessary.

12  |  Severance indemnities (TFR) and other provisions relative to personnel
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13  |  Provision for deferred taxes

The provision for deferred taxes amounted to € 13,073 thousand (€ 14,136 thousand 
at the end of the previous year). This provision includes amounts allocated for deferred 
taxes that cannot be compensated for with deferred tax assets.

Below is a breakdown:

Deferred tax liabilities €/000	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	

IRES						    

Taxed provisions (allocated)		  1,913   	 24.0   	 459   	 1,918   	 24.0  	 460   

Other items		  (1,013)  	 24.0   	 (243)  	 (519)  	 24.0   	 (125)  

			   901   		  216   	 1,399   		  336                     

IRAP						    

Other items		  (1,013)  	 3.9   	 (39)  	 (519)  	 3.9   	 (20)  

			   (1,013)  		  (39)  	 (519)  		  (20)            

Deferred foreign taxes						    

Taxed provisions (allocated)		  50,837   	 25.0   	 12,709   	 47,411   	 25.0   	 11,853   

Other items		  4,964   	 25.2   	 1,250   	 3,583   	 25.3   	 905   

			   55,801   		  13,960   	 50,994   		  12,758   

					     14,136   			   13,073   

Taxable Debit/
credit

% rate% rate Taxable Debit/
credit

Deferred tax liabilities refer to legal entities which have a negative balance in their 
individual financial statements. Specifically, these were Burgo Ardennes S.A., Burgo 
Factor S.p.A. and Burgo Central Europe G.m.b.H. 

14  |  Provisions for risks and charges 

Provisions for risks and charges €/000		  31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Provision for industrial charges			   19,119   	 22,006   	 2,887   

Provision for ongoing disputes			   24,796   	 14,108   	 (10,688)  

Provision for supplementary customer allowance	 4,752   	 4,774   	 22   

Provision for restructuring charges		  1,639   	 1,639   	 -   

Other provisions for risks and charges		  2,437   	 1,697   	 (739)  

Provision for future personnel plans		  3,192   	 2,517   	 (675)    

		  	  	 55,934   	 46,740   	 (9,194)  

Below a breakdown and information about changes in the provisions is provided:

Provisions for risks and
charges - changes €/000	

Provision for industrial charges		  19,119   	 7,580   	 (4,693)  	 -   	 22,006   

Provision for ongoing disputes		  24,796   	 2,944   	 (13,632)  	 -   	 14,108   

Provision for supplementary customer allowance	 4,752   	 186   	 (164)  	 -   	 4,774   

Provision for restructuring charges	 1,639   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 1,639   

Other provisions for risks and charges	 2,437   	 38   	 (777)  	 -   	 1,697   

Provision for future personnel plans	 3,192   	 -   	 (492)  	 (183)  	 2,517      

 			   55,934   	 10,747   	 (19,758)  	 (183)  	 46,740   

Balance at start 
of period

Increases Decreases Discounting Balance at 
end of period
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The provision for other personnel expenses includes:

• the provision "unemployment fund with company contribution" refers to the sub-
sidiary Burgo Ardennes which, as required under local regulations, must pay supple-
mentary indemnities to employees with certain work seniority and age requirements, 
if they choose to make use of the pre-pension provided by the government and 
decide to leave work prior to the age established for old age pensioning;

• a provision for a defined social security plan determined through payments to an 
insurance company.

For actuarial measurement of the "unemployment fund with company contribution" 
at 31 December 2024, based on accounting standard IAS 19 an independent actuary 
carried out the calculation, on the basis of information provided by the Group.
In the calculation, the actuary made use of the following demographic hypotheses:

• for probability of death, the tables in effect in Belgium, specifically MR-5 for men 
and FR-5 for women;

• for the rate of adhesion to pre-pensioning it was assumed that 5% of employees over 
60 and 4% of employees between 55 and 59 would opt for the benefit as soon as 
possible, and that the rest would remain in service until reaching 60.

Please note that in Belgium the pension age was increased: between 2025 and 2029 it 
will rise from the current 65 years to 66 years. 

Financial economic hypotheses used in the measurement are described below:

The provision for industrial charges, which is composed as the table above, has 
undergone the following main movements listed below: 

• provision for industrial charges associated with the CO2 quota deficit, calculated 
at 31/12/2024 after free allocations received on an accrual basis and acquisitions 
already made to deal with the deficit in question. Allocations for € 1,356 thousand 
were recognised during the period. The provision as at 31 December stands at 
€ 5,320 thousand (€ 3,965 thousand in the previous year);

• provision for expenses to be incurred for the demolition and redevelopment of cer-
tain production facilities and for the management of waste disposal sites for a total 
amount, as at 31 December 2024, of € 8,295 thousand to Burgo Ardennes, 
€ 1,841 to the Burgo Group and € 2,000 to Mosaico. During the year, accruals were 
made for the remediation of properties and plants, amounting to € 2,000 thousand 
for Mosaico and € 324 thousand for Burgo Group, while respective utilizations of 
€ 4,104 thousand to Burgo Group and € 589 thousand to Burgo Ardennes were made;

• provision for future maintenance costs of production facilities amounting to € 4,550 
thousand attributable to Burgo Ardennes. Amortization during the year was € 3,900 
thousand.

The provision for ongoing disputes is created to deal with potential liabilities that 
could arise in relation to legal disputes and disputed items. The decrease in the year 
was mainly due to utilisations for € 4,923 thousand at Burgo Group and € 900 
thousand at Mosaico for an allocation recognised in the previous year against risk of 
a tax clearance application on tax credits for energy-intensive companies, and € 7,000 
thousand at Burgo Group in relation to settlements of disputes over energy charges. 
Furthermore, provisions for € 1,130 thousand were recorded for the dispute with the 
Abruzzo Region regarding water rights fees for hydroelectric use, and € 1,337 thou-
sand for employment-related legal disputes.

The provision for supplementary customer allowance is an estimate of the indem-
nities to be paid to sales agents for interruption of the agency relationship.

The provision for restructuring costs at the Burgo Group includes provisions made 
for expenses to be sustained to carry out the restructuring plan.

The provision for other risk and charges includes allocations for other potential 
liabilities, other than those above. 

Economic/financial hypotheses used  	 	 2023		 2024

Annual theoretical discounting rate  		  3.15%	 2.80%

Annual inflation rate			   2.20%	 2.00%

For the actuarial assessment of the social security plan on 31 December 2024 on the 
basis of accounting standard IAS 19, the same basic hypotheses adopted for the "Pro-
vision for unemployment fund with company contribution" were used.
Similar to that done for the provision for employee severance indemnities, the interest 
cost component was recognised among financial expenses.
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15  |  Other payables and non-current liabilities 16  |  Current financial liabilities

The payable refers to multi-year premiums paid to suppliers of wood by the subsidiary 
Burgo Ardennes S.A., for € 579 thousand.

Other payables and non-current liabilities €/000	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Non-current payables due to suppliers		  476   	 579   	 103   

			    	 476   	 579   	 103   

The increase in current financial liabilities of € 106,209 thousand is mainly attributa-
ble to the reclassification to short-term of part of the medium-to-long term loans due 
by the end of 2025. Please note that in the current loan payables the current payables 
to shareholders of the Parent Company, valued at amortized cost, stood at € 70,745 
thousand (compared to € 12,261 thousand the previous year).
The current portion of right of use liabilities amount to € 2,514 thousand.
The item “Other financial liabilities” includes interest expenses payable accruing on 
medium to long-term loans and the use of short-term credit lines.
Interest on variable rate loans is determined half-yearly, while that for fixed rate loans 
remained constant until the instrument matured. For all payables relative to loans, 
valued at the amortized cost, it is held that the book value approximates the fair value 
of the financial instrument as of the reporting date.
It should also be noted that, at the end of the 2024 financial year, credit lines totalling 
around € 238.1 million were available to meet short-term financial needs, of which 
€ 201.4 million were for ST lines in Italy and € 36.7 million in Belgium for Burgo 
Ardennes, utilised as at 31 December 2024 for a total of about € 65 million, most of 
which related to unsecured lines.
The Group also has access to without-recourse factoring lines with a total limit of 
more than € 100 million, in addition to a limit with recourse of € 8 million on Burgo 
Ardennes included in the ST lines. 

Current financial liabilities €/000		  31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Bonds			   1,700   	 425   	 (1,275)  

Loan payables - current portion			   26,602   	 125,277   	 98,675   

Current accounts and other loans			  16,726   	 25,930   	 9,204   

Payables due from other lenders			   1   	 2   	 0   

Right of use liabilities			   2,563   	 2,514   	 (49)  

Other financial liabilities			   1,972   	 1,625   	 (347)    

			    	 49,565   	 155,774   	 106,209   

Current liabilities
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17  |  Trade payables

Trade payables do not accrue interest. The amount recognised in the financial state-
ments approximates the market value. 

The reduction in trade payables of € 20,230 thousand compared to the previous year 
is mainly due to lower purchases made in the final part of the year compared to the 
same period of 2023, to lower costs of certain raw materials compared to the previous 
year, and the lack of any large investments at the end of the year. Trade payables due 
to affiliated companies refer to Burgo S.p.A. and Mosaico S.p.A. payables to the affili-
ate Consorzio Energy Paper S.c.a.r.l..

The table below provides a breakdown by geographic area: 

Trade payables €/000			   31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Current payables due to suppliers			  305,254   	 284,557   	 (20,697)  

Current payables due to affiliated companies	 373   	 841   	 467   

			    	 305,628   	 285,397   	 (20,230)  

Trade payables by geographic area €/000		  31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Italy			   142,374   	 132,923   	 (9,451)  

Europe E.U.			   157,686   	 144,673   	 (13,013)  

Other countries			   5,568   	 7,802   	 2,233   

				    305,628   	 285,397   	 (20,230)  

Payables for current taxes €/000		  31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Tax payables, income tax			   2,599   	 2,483   	 (115)  

Tax payables, VAT			   171   	 221   	 50   

Payables for withholdings			   3,644   	 4,558   	 914   

Tax payables for municipal taxes			   39   	 34   	 (5)  

Other tax payables			   1,028   	 1,316   	 287      

			    	 7,481   	 8,613   	 1,132   

18  |  Current tax payables

Current tax payables amounted to € 8,613 thousand. The item mainly includes paya-
bles due to the tax authorities for substitute taxes and income taxes for Italian compa-
nies and foreign subsidiaries.
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Commitments and potential liabilities €/000	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Personal guarantees provided in favour of:	 		

	 subsidiaries	 25,255   	 33,039		  7,784   

	 other subjects	 17,439   	 5,587	  	 (11,852)  

 		  42,694   	 38,626	  	 (4,068)  

20  |  Commitments and potential liabilities  
The following table shows the guarantees granted in the interest of the subsidiaries of 
Burgo Group S.p.A., for € 33,039 thousand, by credit institutions based on unsecured 
lines granted to Burgo Group S.p.A. 

The subsidiaries (contractors/debtors) are: 

• Burgo Recycling S.r.l.; up compared to the previous year due to the development of 
its business;

• Burgo Distribuzione S.r.l.; in line with the previous year;
• Burgo Energia S.r.l.; down on the previous year following lower energy market prices;
• Mosaico S.p.A. in line with the previous year.

Guarantees granted to other parties by banks and insurance companies in the interest 
of Burgo Group S.p.A., for € 5,587 thousand, are also indicated.

19  |  Other payables and current liabilities

Other payables and current liabilities are comprised as follows: 

Other payables and current liabilities €/000	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Current sundry payables due to others		  9,578   	 9,148   	 (430)  

Payables for commissions and premiums		  5,106   	 6,057   	 952   

Payables due to personnel			   24,942   	 19,304   	 (5,638)  

Current payables due to social security entities	 6,445   	 6,404   	 (42)  

Current derivative liabilities			   2,564   	 5,434   	 2,870   

Accruals and deferred income 			   6,652   	 6,056   	 (596)    

 				    55,288   	 52,404   	 (2,884)  

The reduction of € 2,884 thousand is mainly due to the combined effect of:

• an increase in liabilities for the fair value of current derivative of commodities instru-
ments for € 2,870 thousand;

• a decrease in payables due to personnel mainly due to the allocation of lower variable 
remuneration components at year-end; 

• a decrease in passive accruals and deferred income on capital contributions on invest-
ments.
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Consolidated Income Statement

Below are the main items which were not commented on relative to the consolidated 
income statement. For comments on changes in the most significant items, please see 
the analysis of the Group's income results in the Report on Operations.

21  |  Revenues

The decrease in revenues for € 4,719 thousand (-0.3%) is mainly due to the reduction 
in paper sales which came to € 22,208 thousand (-1.9%) and energy and natural gas 
sales for € 3,563 thousand (-2.1%). Revenues from pulp sales also increased by 
€ 11,692 thousand (15.1%), as did revenues from paper for recycling sales, by € 9,052 
thousand. 
The decrease in paper revenues is primarily due to the lower average sales prices for 
paper that went from € 1,075/t in 2023 to € 998/t in 2024, only partly offset by the 
increase in volumes sold, which rose from 1,111 thousand tonnes in 2023 to 1,174 
thousand tonnes in 2024.

Revenues €/000			   31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Paper			   1,194,169   	 1,171,961   	 (22,208)  

Pulp			   77,477   	 89,169   	 11,692   

Paper for recycling			   1,640   	 10,692   	 9,052   

Energy			   142,848   	 134,437   	 (8,412)  

Gas				   28,421   	 33,270   	 4,848   

Others			   26,257   	 26,566   	 309      

 				    1,470,813   	 1,466,094   	 (4,719)  

Markets €/000			   31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Italy			   637,007   	 620,346   	 (16,661)  

Europe E.U.			   635,560   	 657,404   	 21,844   

Other countries			   198,246   	 188,345   	 (9,901)  

				    1,470,813   	 1,466,094   	 (4,719)  

Other income increased by € 8,427 thousand, specifically due to:

• insurance settlements on claims paid out by the Group, at the Burgo Ardennes 
plant, which during the year increased by a total of € 5,244 thousand;

• higher revenues for white certificates for € 7,086 thousand recognised to the subsidi-
aries Burgo Ardennes and Mosaico;

• lower revenues for recoveries and miscellaneous energy income mainly resulting 
from consideration paid for electricity and gas interruptibility services for a total of 
€ 3,254 thousand.

22  |  Other income

Other income €/000			   31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Insurance settlements			   876   	 6,120   	 5,244   

Environmental certificates			   19,843   	 26,929   	 7,086   

Energy expenses recovery and reimbursements	 28,099   	 24,845   	 (3,254)  

Sundry income and expenses recovery		  6,657   	 6,706   	 49   

Fair value assets derivative financial instruments	 0   	 -   	 (0)  

Grants for current capital expenditure		  3,165   	 2,468   	 (697)    

 				    58,639   	 67,067   	 8,427   
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Purchases of materials and external services €/000	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024 	 Change 

Purchases of raw materials, subsidiary and consumable
items and goods			   617,424   	 711,065   	 93,642   

Transport and accessory expenses on purchases	 24,452   	 24,392   	 (60)  

Transport and accessory expenses on sales		  89,179   	 96,136   	 6,957   

Other industrial services			   23,707   	 27,014   	 3,308   

Industrial maintenance			   24,777   	 29,592   	 4,816   

Electricity and natural gas			   251,018   	 286,341   	 35,324   

Fees to independent auditing firm		  350   	 404   	 54   

Fees to statutory auditors			   194   	 213   	 19   

Other general and administrative services		  29,412   	 34,727   	 5,315   

Rentals and leases			   3,672   	 3,334   	 (338)    

 				    1,064,184   	 1,213,219   	 149,034   

23  |  Purchases of materials and external services 24  |  Personnel expenses

Purchases of materials and external services increased by € 149,034 thousand. The 
most significant changes include:

• the purchase of raw materials, ancillary materials, consumables and goods which 
increased by € 93,642 thousand, due to higher volumes purchased in the period due to 
higher production volumes, and the effect of higher average purchase costs, specifically 
for pulp, paper for recycling and kaolin;

• higher transportation costs and ancillary expenses on sales (€ 6,957 thousand), also 
due to higher volumes;

• other industrial services saw an increase (€ 3,308 thousand) mainly due to additional 
services requested from external suppliers;

• energy product costs increased by € 35,324 thousand due to the increased production 
by plants and the resulting increase in energy consumption, only partly offset by the 
reduction on natural gas and purchased electricity;

• industrial maintenance increased by € 4,816 thousand, mainly due to extraordinary 
maintenance on certain assets at the Duino plant, which was disposed of in 2023;

• other general administrative services increased by € 5,315 thousand, mainly due to 
consultancy costs related to extraordinary operations and activities.

Personnel expenses €/000			   31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Wages and salaries			   111,289   	 112,815   	 1,526   

Social security contributions			   36,481   	 36,444   	 (38)  

Expenses for defined benefit programs		  5,831   	 5,687   	 (144)  

Others			   22,104   	 18,841   	 (3,264)    

 				    175,705   	 173,786   	 (1,919)  

Personnel expenses decreased by € 1,919 thousand compared to the previous year and 
accounted for 11.9% of revenue, in line with the previous year. 
The reduction in personnel expenses is due to the combined effect of the lower allo-
cation for staff bonuses, offset only partially by an increase in hours worked, reduced 
use of social safety nets compared to the same period of the previous year, as well as 
the indexing of labour costs in Belgium and the wage increases provided for in the 
collective bargaining agreement currently in force in Italy.
For more details, please see the Report on Operations, under the item "Personnel".
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25  |  Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses decreased by € 13,640 thousand overall. 
More specifically:

• provisions for future credit losses increased. However, the provision is in any case lim-
ited thanks to the broad coverage offered by the credit insurance policies established by 
the Group;

• provisions for ongoing disputes fell by € 10,294 thousand, mainly due to lower alloca-
tions to energy risk provisions and for the dispute with the Abruzzo Region, and sub-
sidies for energy-intensive companies that were prudentially allocated in the previous 
year;

• net CO2 costs for the year were down by € 6,396 thousand compared to the previous 
year due to greater offsetting of CO2 charges in Italy and Belgium compared to the 
previous year.

Other operating expenses €/000			  31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Provisions			     

	 for impairment of receivables			   (777)  	 1,063   	 1,841   

	 for industrial charges			   7,000   	 6,224   	 (776)  

	 for disputes in course			   12,502   	 2,208   	 (10,294)  

	 for supplementary customer allowance		  265   	 185   	 (80)    	

				    18,989   	 9,680   	 (9,309)  	

Other costs				  

	 Corporate expenses, taxes and indirect taxes	 12,932   	 12,706   	 (225)  

	 Fair value liabilities derivative financial instruments	 -   	 1,570   	 1,570   

	 Contributions, donations and sundry costs	 1,317   	 1,190   	 (127)  

	 Losses and other costs			   1,393   	 2,239   	 846   

				    15,641   	 17,706   	 2,065   	

CO2 certificates 

	 CO2 costs net of price setting			   11,134   	 5,050   	 (6,084)  	

	 CO2 allocations			   1,667   	 1,356   	 (311)  	

				    12,801   	 6,406   	 (6,396)  	

				    47,432   	 33,792   	 (13,640)  	

26  |  Change in inventories

The change in inventories led to revenues of € 9,725 thousand, following the increase 
in the value of stock at the end of the year.
See note 5) Inventories for more details.

This item includes costs for employee work, warehouse materials and other costs 
sustained to complete internal systems work. The change is linked to the main in-
vestments made during the yearat the Sora and Tolmezzo plants. Please see the Report 
on Operations for more details on the main investments made during 2024.

Capitalised costs for internal work €/000		  31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Capitalised costs			   1,107   	 1,017   	 (90)  

				    1,107   	 1,017   	 (90)  

Change in inventories €/000			   31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Change in inventories			   (94,960)  	 9,725   	 104,686   

				    (94,960)  	 9,725   	 104,686   

27  |  Capitalised costs for internal work
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28  |  Depreciation and amortization 

Depreciation and amortization, amounting to € 46,989 thousand, were in line with 
the previous year and mainly concerned the investments made in 2024; for more 
information, see the “Investments” item in the Report on Operations.

Depreciation and amortization €/000	 	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Buildings			   5,104   	 4,156   	 (947)  

Plant and machinery			   36,172   	 37,298   	 1,125   

Industrial equipment			   307   	 260   	 (47)  

Other assets			   1,525   	 1,558   	 33   

Buildings for civil use			   19   	 19   	 -   

Rights of use			   2,744   	 2,843   	 99   

Intangible assets with defined life			  807   	 855   	 48      

			    	 46,678   	 46,989   	 311   
Capital gains/losses related to disposals in the year, especially the sale of the gas turbine 
rotor at the Sarego plant. 

Capital gains/losses on disposal 			    
of non-current assets €/000	 		

31 Dec 2023	 31Dec 2024	 Change
 

Capital gains			   928   	 67   	 (861)  

Capital losses			   (30)  	 (231)  	 (202)  

 				    899   	 (164)  	 (1,063)  

29  |  Capital gains/losses on disposal of non-current assets

During the year write-downs on fixed assets amounting to € 4,050 thousand were 
made, relative to plants and machinery at the Lugo plant following impairment 
testing.

Write-backs/write-downs of assets €/000	 	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Plant and machinery			   2,810   	 4,029   	 1,219   

Industrial equipment			   -   	 6   	 6   

Other assets			   -   	 15   	 15   

Fixed assets in progress and advances		  3,026   	 -   	 (3,026)  

			    	 5,837   	 4,050   	 (1,787)  

30  |  Write-backs/write-downs of non-current assets
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32  |  Financial income

Financial income €/000			   31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Other financial income 

Financial income from the sale of equity investments	 196   	 -   	 (196)  

Interest income from banks			   2,691   	 6,837   	 4,146   

Interest income from reverse factoring		  2,865   	 3,387   	 521   

Financial income from derivative valuation		  705   	 -   	 (705)  

Other financial income			   220   	 742   	 522   

Exchange gains			   966   	 712   	 (254)    

				    7,644   	 11,678   	 4,034   

Financial income amounted to € 11,678 thousand, compared to € 7,644 thousand the 
previous year and increased with respect to the previous year by € 4,034 thousand. 
The increase is mainly due to the rise in interest income from banks (€ 4,146 thou-
sand) compared to the previous year, due to the recognition of interest accruing on 
investments in time deposits.

Financial expenses  €/000			   31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Interest expenses on payables due to banks		  6,611   	 6,770   	 160   

Discounting of severance indemnities (TFR)		  791   	 559   	 (232)  

Financial expenses from measurement of derivatives	 -   	 446   	 446   

Other financial expenses			   5,171   	 5,032   	 (139)  

Exchange losses			   579   	 310   	 (270)  

Write-downs of equity investments		  -   	 350   	 350      

 			   	 13,152   	 13,467   	 315   

Financial expenses amounted to € 13,467 thousand, showing a slight increase of € 315 
compared to the previous year.

The main changes involved: 

• write-down of the equity investment in Consorzio Energy Italia Interconnector for 
€ 350 thousand;

• financial expenses of € 446 thousand deriving from the change in the fair value of 
interest rate hedging derivatives for the component not recognised under the CFH 
reserve as it did not meet the requirements of the accounting standard; last year, this 
same component was positive; 

• other financial expenses decreased by € 139 thousand, mainly attributable to:
- the year's competence portion of fees paid in advance for the availability of short-

term credit facilities (revolving credit facility);
- costs for discounting and fees charged on the transfer of tax credits to energy-in-

tensive companies incurred in 2023 and not repeated in 2024;
- guarantees costs are also decreasing due to the lower guarantees required to operate 

in the energy markets following the drop in prices.

31  |  Financial expenses
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Reconciliation of income taxes recognised in the annual income statement and theo-
retical taxes resulting from application of the tax rate in effect on before tax profit is as 
follows: 

Reconciliation between income 
tax and theoretical tax €/000	

2023	 2024

Before tax results for the year		  91,153   		  70,114           

Before tax results for the year - recorded to discontinued operations			 

Before tax results for the year recorded to the Income Statement		  91,153   		  70,114 		
	

Theoretical tax (IRES) - Italian tax rate in effect: 24.0%			   21,877   		  16,827      

Current taxes (IRES) recognised in the financial statements			   -   		  960   

Deferred taxes (IRES) recognised in the financial statements			   10,774   		  6,592   

Current/deferred taxes, foreign companies			   4,103   		  4,875     

Total taxes recognised in the financial statements			   14,877   		  12,427  

Effective tax rate on before tax profit			   16.3% 		  17.7%	

	Current taxes (IRAP) recognised in the financial - 3.9% rate in effect		  1,763   		  2,119  

Deferred taxes (IRAP) recognised in the financial - 3.9% rate in effect		  955   		  669  

Total (IRAP) taxes recognised in the financial statements			   2,718   		  2,789  

Effective (IRAP) tax rate on before tax profit			   3.0% 		  4.0%

Taxes - CORPORATE TAX - Total recognised in the financial statements  		  17,595   		  15,215           

Effective tax rate on before tax profit			   19.3%		  21.7%

33  |  Income taxes

Current taxes reflect the amount allocated relative to the regulations in effect in the 
various countries in which the Group operates.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised in the annual income statement reflect the 
changes in the same occurring at the equity level, with respect to the previous year.

Income taxes  €/000		  	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Current taxes - IRES			   -   	 960   	 960   

Current taxes - IRAP			   1,763   	 2,119   	 357   

Current taxes - foreign companies			  5,998   	 6,207   	 209   

Other taxes			   -   	 (132)  	 (132)  

Deferred tax assets/liabilities - IRES		  10,774   	 6,592   	 (4,182)  

Deferred tax assets/liabilities - IRAP		  955   	 669   	 (286)  

Deferred tax assets/liabilities - foreign companies	 (1,895)  	 (1,200)  	 695   

			    	 17,595   	 15,215   	 (2,379)  

By way of illustration, below are the nominal rates applied in each jurisdiction. 

Tax rates				    2024

Italy				    27.90%

Belgium				    25.00%

France				    25.00%

Spain				    25.00%

Great Britain				    25.00%

Germany				    15,825% *

Poland				    19.00%

United States of America				    21.00%

* subject to a sales tax ranging from 8.75% to 20.3%, depending on the location of the business.
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34  |  Consolidated Schedule of Other Components of the Statement
           of Comprehensive Income

The schedule presented on page 65 illustrates the economic result that would be 
achieved in the case that all changes in items directly attributed to shareholders' equity 
passed through the annual income statement and has been adjusted to the provisions 
of IAS 1, indicating through grouping the items which, upon the meeting of specific 
conditions, will be reclassified to profit (loss) for the year and, separately, those that will 
not be reclassified to profit (loss) for the year.

The Group presents the following items:

• year-end fair value adjustment of hedging derivatives. During the year, the gross 
variation was negative for € 1,102 thousand, which net of taxes (€ 105 thousand) is 
equal to -€ 997 thousand;

• profits and losses from discounting of defined benefit plans associated with defined 
benefit plans recognised within a specific shareholders' equity reserve: in 2024 € 436 
thousand was recognised which, net of tax effects of € 107 thousand, led to a posi-
tive change of € 329 thousand;

• the effects of translating the financial statements of foreign companies (€ +113 thou-
sand).

Relations with related parties

Related party transactions, including infra-group transactions, are not classified as atypi-
cal or unusual, as they are part of the ordinary business of the Group's companies.
These operations, when not completed under standard conditions or those dictated by 
specific regulatory provisions, are in any case carried out under market conditions.
Related party transactions (based on the definition in IAS 24) essentially involve the 
exchange of goods, the provision of services or the supply and use of financial means.
Below are the economic and equity effects of transactions with subsidiaries of Burgo 
Group S.p.A. related parties at 31 December 2024.

Relations with related parties €/000		 Subsidiaries			  Total financial statement items		

				    	

Financial receivables and other 
non-current financial assets		  2,800  	  	 2,800   	 9,750   	 29%	 8,152   	 34%

Trade receivables		  61,254  	  	 48,686   	 118,534   	 52%	 93,080   	 52%

Other receivables and current assets	 10,950  	  	 9,054   	 25,497   	 43%	 18,139   	 50%

Financial receivables and other 
current financial assets		  14,228 	   	 16,626   	 29,165   	 49%	 25,939   	 64%

Current financial liabilities		  (79,256) 	  	 (101,540)  	 (104,869)  	 76%	 (225,609)  	 45%

Trade payables		  (108,190)  		  (55,281)  	 (220,576)  	 49%	 (158,767)  	 35%

Other payables and current liabilities	 (3,587)  		  (4,530)  	 (25,373)  	 14%	 (25,042)  	 18%	

Economic relationships						    

Revenues		  183,157  	  	 173,263   	 869,476   	 21%	 803,964   	 22%

Other income		  6,142   		  5,917   	 22,120   	 28%	 23,085   	 26%

Costs for materials and external services	 (426,911) 	  	 (369,961)  	 (714,964)  	 60%	 (724,114)  	 51%

Personnel expenses		  -   		  (15)  	 (60,351)  	 0%	 (58,657)  	 0%

Other operating expenses		  (8,383) 	  	 (10,726)  	 (20,467)  	 41%	 (12,518)  	 86%

Capitalised costs for internal work		 (14)	   	 -   	 528   	 -3%	 338   	 0%

Financial expenses		  (871) 	  	 (1,249)  	 (10,283)  	 8%	 (11,156)  	 11%

Financial income		  52,148 	  	 56,924   	 59,005   	 88%	 65,196   	 87%

Income taxes		  10,726  	  	 8,009   	 (155)  	 -6941%	 (242)  	 -3307%

31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 202431 Dec 2024 % %
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In addition, the transactions reported above, at 31 December 2024 there were medi-
um/long-term loans, interest rate hedging contracts and insurance policies covering 
industrial risks and civil liability with related parties, all stipulated at market condi-
tions.
As at 31 December 2024, loans with related parties amounted to a nominal € 86,006 
thousand (€ 98,257 thousand at 31 December 2023), including the amount to be 
repaid within and after year-end.

Significant events after year end 

After a year characterised by persisting geopolitical uncertainties linked to the on-
going wars and macro-economic tensions, in 2025 these uncertainties remain and 
are further exacerbated by the probable effects of the policies adopted by the new US 
administration, which are likely to have a significant impact on geopolitical, economic 
and financial dynamics.

During the initial months of 2025, the Group continued to carry out its business 
without any significant transactions or events. There are no further events to report.

Other information
Reconciliation statement of parent company and Group results

The statement below illustrates the connection between the shareholders' equity and 
results for the year of Burgo Group S.p.A. and the shareholders' equity and result for 
the year in the consolidated financial statements.

Reconciliation between shareholders' equity and
parent company and consolidated result €/000		 Shareholders’ equity	 Profit/(loss) for the period	

	

Parent Company Financial Statements	 569,605   	 618,234   	 67,628   	 73,417            

Elision of consolidated equity investments	 (60,671)  	 (79,153)  	 57,948   	 36,109   

Elimination of dividends from consolidated companies	 -   	 -   	 (52,772)  	 (55,771)  

Adjustments for adaptation to Group accounting standards	 439   	 1,585   	 754   	 1,143        

Consolidated Financial Statements	 509,374   	 540,665   	 73,558   	 54,899   

31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2024
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Number of employees 

Independent auditing fees (article 2427, paragraph 1, 16 bis,
Italian Civil Code)  

Number of employees	 Start of year	 Year end	 Average 2023	 Average 2024

Executives		  45   	 49   	 44   	 47   

Office Workers	 768   	 760   	 813   	 764   

Manual Workers	 1,997   	 1,946   	 2,254   	 1,972   

Temporary Workers	 124   	 132   	 165   	 128      

		  2,934   	 2,887   	 3,276   	 2,911   

Compensation for statutory auditing pursuant to article 2427, 
paragraph 1, no. 16 bis, Italian Civil Code€/000			   2024 Financial
				    Statements

Statutory auditing services for the annual accounts:	

Parent Company				    140,862 	

Italian subsidiaries				    149,734 	

Foreign subsidiaries				    127,984 		

				    418,581

Disclosure for transparency in public subsidies, required by Italian Law 
124/2017, article 1, paragraphs 125-129, as amended

Italian Law 124 of 2017 (the annual market and competition law) introduced new dis-
closure requirements relative to transparency in public subsidies received and granted, 
in article 1, paragraphs 125-129.
The following schedule provides information about grants and other economic advan-
tages received from Italian public administrations during 2024:

Note that on the basis of the most authoritative interpretations of the stated law, any 
payments, general measures or tax subsidies which can be used by all companies or 
generally by companies within specific sectors, such as the paper sector or sector of 
heavy energy user companies, were not considered.

The amounts indicated in the disclosure above are also shown in the financial state-
ments of the relevant Group companies.

Granting entity 

Ministry of 
Economic 
Development

Ministry of 
Economic 
Development

Purpose 

Agrifood grant for Project 
at Avezzano Plant for 
"New White Top-Liner 
paper production for 
corrugated packaging"

Subsidised rate loan 
Agrifood for Project 
at Avezzano Plant for 
"New White Top-Liner 
paper production for 
corrugated packaging"

Subsidised rate

annual fixed rate 
0.13%

Amount financed 

Total amount of € 230 
thousand disbursed in 
2024, € 69 thousand still 
outstanding. 

Total amount of € 216 
thousand disbursed in 
2024, € 61 thousand still 
outstanding.

Contributions and subsidised rate loans
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Net financial position as defined in CONSOB Communication 
DEM/6064293 of 28 July 2006, and in accordance with ESMA
Recommendations ESMA/2013/319

The table below shows the detailed breakdown of net financial position determined 
according to the definition set out in CONSOB Communication DEM/6064293 of 
28 July 2006 and in compliance with the ESMA/2013/319 recommendations and the 
new guidelines published on 04 March 2021 on the reporting requirements deriving 
from Regulations 1129, 979 and 980. 

Note that, against short-term portions of long-term financial liabilities of € 128.2 
million, due within the year, the Group has € 122.7 million in financial assets readily 
convertible into cash, in addition to € 146.2 million in cash on hand and cash equiv-
alents.

ESMA Financial Position  €/000	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024 

A. Cash on hand	 176,184	 146,152

B. Cash equivalents 	 96,220	 122,700

C. Other current financial assets	 47,338	 49,535	

Liquidity (A+B+C) 	 319,742	 318,387      

E. Current financial liabilities (including debt instruments, but excluding
current portion of non-current financial payable)	 18,699	 27,557

F. Current portion of long-term financial payables	 30,866	 128,217

G. Current financial indebtedness (E+F) 	 49,565	 155,774

H. Net current financial position (G‑D) 	 (270,177)	 (162,613)

I. Non-current financial liabilities
(excluding current portion and debt instruments) 	 175,224	 53,053

J. Debt instruments (non-current bonds)	 425	 0

K. Non-current trade and other payables	 0	 0

L. Non-current financial indebtedness (I+J+K) 	 175,649	 53,053

M. ESMA financial position (H+L) 	 (94,528)	 (109,560)

Reconciliation between Net Financial Position
and ESMA Financial Position  €/000	

31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024 

Current financial assets	 (330,746)	 (323,752)

Current financial liabilities	 49,565	 155,774

Financial receivables and other non-current financial assets	 (8,279)	 (6,289)

Non-current financial liabilities	 175,649	 53,053

Net Financial Position	 (113,811)	 (121,214)      

Financial receivables and other non-current financial assets	 8,279	 6,289

Financial receivables and other current financial assets subject to pledge lien	 1,829	 1,829

Fair value on financial instruments for hedging	 9,175	 3,536

ESMA Financial Position	 (94,528)	 (109,560)
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Financial instruments  €/000		  		  31 Dec 2023	                                 31 Dec 2024

					     Book value 	 Book value 

Trade receivables and other receivables			   232,308   	 217,325   

Financial receivables				    49,167   	 51,363   

Cash and cash equivalents				    272,404   	 268,852   

Derivatives:	

      Assets				    9,378   	 5,243   

      Liabilities				    (2,564)  	 (5,434)  

Lending from banks				    (100,151)  	 (86,375)  

Right of use liabilities				    (8,227)  	 (9,377)  

Loans from associated companies			   (96,010)  	 (85,093)  

Bonds and converting loans				    (2,125)  	 (425)  

Trade payables and other payables			   (366,310)  	 (341,560)  

Payables due to banks				    (18,698)  	 (27,555)    

				     	 (30,829)  	 (13,036)  

Information about the financial risk management policy

The following information, pursuant to current accounting standard IFRS 7, is aimed 
at illustrating the impact that financial instruments have on the amount of risk expo-
sure, providing details on measurements and mechanisms that the Group has imple-
mented to manage this exposure.

Significance of financial instruments relative to the equity and financial 
situation and economic result

Below is information regarding the significance of financial instruments relative to 
the consolidated equity situation and the consolidated economic result is provided 
separately.

Significance of financial instruments to the equity and financial situation

The table shows the book value recognised for each financial asset and liability in the 
consolidated statement of financial position.
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€/000	

Trade receivables and other receivables	 -   	 232,308   	 -   	 -   	 232,308   

Financial receivables		  -   	 49,167   	 -   	 -   	 49,167   

Derivatives: assets		  10,847   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 10,847      

Total financial assets		  10,847   	 281,475   	 -   	 -   	 292,322      

Derivatives: liabilities		  -   	 -   	 (2,564)  	 -   	 (2,564)  

Lending from banks		  -   	 -   	 -   	 (100,151)  	 (100,151)  

Right of use liabilities		  -   	 -   	 -   	 (8,227)  	 (8,227)  

Loans from associated companies	 -   	 -   	 -   	 (96,010)  	 (96,010)  

Bonds and converting loans		  -   	 -   	 -   	 (2,125)  	 (2,125)  

Trade payables and other payable	 -   	 -   	 -   	 (366,310)  	 (366,310)  

Payables due to banks		  -   	 -   	 -   	 (18,698)  	 (18,698)    

Total financial payables		  -   	 -   	 (2,564)  	 (591,522)  	 (594,086)  

Derivatives 
designated 
as hedging 

instruments 
(assets)

Financial assets 
valued at 

amortized cost

Derivatives 
designated 
as hedging 

instruments 
(liabilities)

Financial 
liabilities 

recognised at 
amortized cost

31 Dec 2023

The reconciliation between the balance sheet items of financial assets and liabilities 
and the categories provided for their recognition under IFRS 7 is shown below: 

€/000	

Trade receivables and other receivables	 -   	 217,325   	 -   	 -   	 217,325   

Financial receivables		  -   	 51,363   	 -   	 -   	 51,363   

Derivatives: assets		  5,243   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 5,243   

Total financial assets		  5,243   	 268,688   	 -   	 -   	 273,931   

Derivatives: liabilities		  -   	 -   	 (5,434)  	 -   	 (5,434)  

Lending from banks		  -   	 -   	 -   	 (86,375)  	 (86,375)  

Right of use liabilities		  -   	 -   	 -   	 (9,377)  	 (9,377)  

Loans from associated companies	 -   	 -   	 -   	 (85,093)  	 (85,093)  

Bonds and converting loans		  -   	 -   	 -   	 (425)  	 (425)  

Trade payables and other payables	 -   	 -   	 -   	 (341,560)  	 (341,560)  

Payables due to banks		  -   	 -   	 -   	 (27,555)  	 (27,555)  

Total financial payables		  -   	 -   	 (5,434)  	 (550,385)  	 (555,820)  

Derivatives 
designated 
as hedging 

instruments 
(assets)

Financial assets 
valued at 

amortized cost

Derivatives 
designated 
as hedging 

instruments 
(liabilities)

Financial 
liabilities 

recognised at 
amortized cost

31 Dec 2024

Note that the amounts shown under the “derivatives” item include all derivatives rec-
ognised using hedge accounting rules regardless of the nature of risk hedged against, 
and any derivatives for which the Group did not make use of the right to use hedge 
accounting and derivatives recognised at fair value through profit and loss.
The analysis below shows the portion of derivatives designated as hedges against the 
specific risk analysed, on a case-by-case basis.
Analysing liquidity risk, only derivatives which hedge against financial liabilities are 
included, excluding positions which hedge against commodity risk.

After summarising the criteria and financial models used to estimate the fair value of the 
financial instruments shown above, further details will be provided about the individual 
financial items.
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Derivatives

In general, the fair value of derivatives is determined based on market prices, if available.
If this reference is not available/accessible, fair value estimates are made on the basis of 
standard financial algorithms.
In particular, the fair value of forward exchange rate and commodity derivatives is 
calculated by discounting the difference between the contractual price and the end 
price, redetermined on the basis of market conditions on the reporting date.
For interest rate derivatives, when recognised, different models are used based on the 
type of instrument being evaluated. In particular:

• for interest rate swaps, the discount cash flow model is used. Fair value is determined 
by discounting estimated future cash flows on the basis of interest rate conditions at 
the reporting date;

• the Black & Scholes model is used for collars. Use of this model is common practice 
and makes it possible to assess the fair value of the option, quantifying the probabili-
ty of receiving a positive payoff.

In some cases, the Group used appropriately verified and confirmed counterparties to 
determine the fair value of valuation interest rate derivative positions.
For commodity derivatives, the discount cash flow model is used, estimating future 
cash flows on the basis of market prices available at the reporting date.

Fair value hierarchy according to IFRS 13

Financial instruments at fair value according to IFRS 13, measured based on
the quality of the input sources used in the valuation, are classified according to the 
hierarchy below:

• Level 1: fair value measurement based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets
	 for identical assets or liabilities. The category includes all instruments used by the 

Group to operate directly in active markets (e.g. futures);
• Level 2: fair value measurement based on inputs other than those included in
	 “Level 1” that are directly or indirectly observable futures markets);
• Level 3: fair value measurement based on assessment models that do not use inputs 

based on observable markets (unobservable inputs). 

€/000		 31 Dec 2023			  31 Dec 2024

Financial assets 
Current financial assets	 9,175	 9,175	 3,536	 3,536

Current assets  	 1,672	 1,672	 1,707	 1,707

Non-current assets	 0	 0	 0	 0

	 10,847	 10,847	 5,243	 5,243
Financial liabilities				  
Current financial liabilities  	 0	 0	 0	 0

Current liabilities  	 (2,564)	 (2,564)	 (5,434)	 (5,434)

Non-current liabilities  	 0	 0	 0	 0

	 (2,564)	 (2,564)	 (5,434)	 (5,434)   

Book value Book valueFair value Fair value

€/000		  31 Dec 2024

Financial assets 
  - management of interest rate risk	 0	 3,536	 0

  - management of exchange rate risk  	 0	 0	 0

  - management of commodity risk	 115	 1,591	 0

	 115	 5,128	 0
Financial liabilities
  - management of interest rate risk	 0	 0	 0

  - management of exchange rate risk 	 0	 0	 0

  - management of commodity risk	 (3,873)	 (1,561)	 0

	 (3,873)	 (1,561)	 0

Level 2Level 1 Level 3

€/000		  31 Dec 2023

Financial assets 
  - management of interest rate risk	 0	 9,175	 0

  - management of exchange rate risk 	 0	 0	 0

  - management of commodity risk	 258	 1,414	 0

	 258	 10,588	 0
Financial liabilities
  - management of interest rate risk	 0	 0	 0

  - management of exchange rate risk  	 0	 0	 0

  - management of commodity risk	 (1,314)	 (1,250)	 0

	 (1,314)	 (1,250)	 0

Level 2Level 1 Level 3
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Details on financial risk hedging instruments

As part of its financial risk management processes the Group stipulates derivative 
contracts. Although these derivatives are traded solely for hedging purposes, not all 
transactions are subject to hedge accounting rules.

Details on market risk hedging instruments

Among commodity exposures, price risk deriving from volatility in electricity, has and 
emission rights purchase prices was partially managed through the establishment of 
commodity swaps and futures, recognised based on hedge accounting rules, and in 
part through setting prices with counterparties.
As shown in the table “financial instruments”, the fair value of derivatives generated fi-
nancial assets of € 5.2 million (€ 9.4 million the previous year) and financial liabilities 
for € 5.4 million (€ 2.6 million the previous year).

Investments in equity instruments

The fair value of equity instruments held to maturity and financial assets at FVTOCI 
held for sale is determined on the basis of official stock market listings obtained on the 
reporting date.

Debt securities

The value of debt securities is calculated by adding together the current values, deter-
mined on the reporting date, of all future cash flows, including capital and interest. 
To quantify the portion of interest held in indexed instruments, the rate curve availa-
ble at the reporting date was used.

Capital management

No risks nor significant information was identified relative to capital management.

Receivables and loans include trade receivables, factoring business, temporary cash 
deposits, guarantee deposits and other receivables and receivables due from social 
security institutions and tax authorities.

Financial assets

The tables below provide a breakdown of financial assets.

Non-current financial assets €/000		  31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024

Loans and receivables			   18,891   	 17,661      

			    	 18,891   	 17,661   

Current financial assets €/000			   31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024

Loans and receivables			   262,584   	 251,027   

Cash and cash equivalents			   272,404   	 268,852   

Current derivative assets			   203   	 1,707   

Current derivative financial assets			  9,175   	 3,536      

				    544,367   	 525,122   
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Non-current financial liabilities  €/000		  31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024

Lending from banks			   (85,810)  	 (31,843)  

Loans from associated companies		  (83,749)  	 (14,348)  

Non-current bonds			   (425)  	 -   

Right of use liabilities			   (5,664)  	 (6,863)  

Other payables			   (476)  	 (579)    

 				    (176,125)  	 (53,632)  

Current financial liabilities  €/000		  31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024

Lending from banks			   (14,341)  	 (54,532)  

Loans from associated companies		  (12,261)  	 (70,745)  

Bonds			   (1,700)  	 (425)  

Derivatives			   (2,564)  	 (5,434)  

Right of use liabilities			   (2,563)  	 (2,514)  

Payables due to banks			   (16,726)  	 (25,930)  

Trade payables and other payables		  (367,806)  	 (342,606)  

			    	 (417,961)  	 (502,187)  

Financial liabilities
The table below provides a breakdown of financial liabilities.

Other additional information

The Group did not carry out any reclassification of financial assets, changing the 
measurement criteria relative to the same. Therefore, no remeasurement was done. 
Additionally, no assets were transferred that did not involve elimination from the 
accounts.

Impact of financial instruments on the annual income statement

To highlight the impact financial instruments have on the result for the year, the 
following tables are provided. 

Income components recognised to Shareholders’ Equity €/000	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024 

Change in cash flow hedge reserve	 (3,354)  	 (997)  

		  (3,354)  	 (997)  

Note that the change in the Cash Flow Hedge reserve is shown net of deferred taxes 
accruing during the year. 

Financial income and expenses recognised in the consolidated
income statement €/000	

31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024 

Income from securities in fixed assets, not equity investments	 2,865   	 3,387   

Interest income from current account	 2,691   	 6,837   

Financial income from derivative valuation	 705   	 -   

Income from customers	 24   	 37   

Exchange gains	 966   	 712   

Other income	 392   	 705         

 		  7,644   	 11,678      
Interest expenses from current account	 (31)  	 (38)  

Interest expenses on mortgages	 (6,579)  	 (6,733)  

Charges due to suppliers	 (0)  	 (0)  

Factoring commissions	 (2,315)  	 (2,964)  

Financial expenses from measurement of derivatives	 -   	 (446)  

Exchange losses	 (579)  	 (310)  

Other expenses	 (2,857)  	 (2,068)      

 		  (12,361)  	 (12,558)    

Net income (expenses) from discounting	 (791)  	 (559)  	

		  (5,508)  	 (1,439)  
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Credit Risk

This section describes credit risk exposures and methods used to manage them in 
qualitative and quantitative terms.

Risk exposure

As of the reporting date, the Group's exposure to credit risk was as follows:

Trade receivables and impairment of receivables

Positions are subject to individual impairment when an objective situation of partial 
or full non-collectability is determined, if individually significant. Relative to receiv-
ables not subject to individual impairment, provisions are allocated on a collective 
basis, taking historical experience and statistical data into account.
Changes in the provision for impairment of trade receivables are summarised in the 
table below.

Exposure to credit risk  €/000			   31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024

Trade receivables and other receivables		  281,475   	 268,688   

Cash and cash equivalents			   272,404   	 268,852   

				    553,879   	 537,540   

Provision for impairment of financial assets  €/000	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Balance at start of period			   (56,470)  	 (50,259)  	 6,211   

Uses			   7,294   	 4,244   	 (3,051)  

Provisions			   (1,083)  	 (1,090)  	 (7)  

 				    (50,259)  	 (47,104)  	 3,154   

Concentration of credit risk

As of the reporting date, the Group's exposure to credit risk was as follows::

Breakdown of risk by customer type  €/000	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024

End consumers			   111,476   	 94,142   

Retailers			   1,587   	 -   

Stock exchange			   5,331   	 8,518   

Wholesalers			   23,001   	 26,487   

Printers			   43,834   	 35,605   

Publishers			   1,792   	 3,067   

Other group companies			   5,877   	 13,636   

Credit institutions			   274,767   	 271,490   

Tax authorities			   17,362   	 11,577   

Others			   77,302   	 81,467      

 				    562,328   	 545,989   
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Credit risk management methods

Trade receivables and other receivables	

Within the context of its normal credit management activities through the dedicated 
department, the Group has instituted an internal credit risk management process with 
the aim of defining every customer's creditworthiness and carefully monitoring credit 
limits and overdue items. Regarding measurement of creditworthiness, functional 
to assignment of credit and the creation of commercial relationships, internal proce-
dures require the collection and analysis of qualitative and quantitative information. 
Customer credit levels are periodically reviewed using a process that also makes use 
of historic solvency information. Customers are classified based on a two-level scor-
ing system, that differentiates between reliable and non-reliable customers. At-risk 
customers are subject to strict controls and any future orders are only fulfilled after 
approval by the Credit Committee. Risk control is based on constant analysis of cus-
tomers with overdue items or who have exceeded their credit limits, monitored daily 
for application of corrective actions, which range from blocking orders to legal action.
In 2024, the Group protected itself from credit risk from customers by stipulating 
credit insurance contracts with leading insurance companies.

Financial investments

The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by exclusively investing in securities with 
high liquidity and only with counterparties recognised as reliable by the market. As at 
31 December 2024 the Group had no security exposures. Financial assets include time 
deposit investments made with Italian banks known to be reliable.

Guarantees

Group policies allow for the issuing of financial guarantees for associated companies.

Market Risk

Market risk is defined as the possibility that the fair value or cash flows associated with 
a given financial instrument fluctuate because of changes in market variables, such as 
exchange rates, interest rates, raw materials prices or stock market prices.
The market risk to which the Group was exposed during the year just ended can be 
classified as follows:

• Exchange risk;
• Interest rate risk;
• Commodity risk.

Below is an analysis of the significance of these risks and the methods used to manage them.

Exchange risk

The Group holds some of its trade receivables/payables in currencies other than the euro.
The exchange risk management policy establishes that derivatives should only be 
used to hedge against risk. Derivatives existing at 31 December 2024 used to man-
age exchange risk include only futures contract to purchase/sell foreign currencies. 
Even if these serve hedging purposes, these derivatives are not recognised using hedge 
accounting, as the rigidity of this treatment would negative impact the operational 
efficiency of the hedges.
The foreign currencies used by the Group are AUD, JPY, NOK, DDK, SEK, CHF, 
GBP and USD, with the latter two currencies representing almost the entirety of trade 
items in foreign currencies.

Sensitivity analysis relative to exchange risk

To measure the possible effects of changes in the exchange rate obtained at the re-
porting date on the consolidated statement of financial position and annual income 
statement, a variation in the value of the euro with respect to the reference foreign 
currencies at 31 December 2024 was hypothesised.
Specifically, a 10% upward and downward shock in the Euro exchange rate was 
applied, recognising the additional profit or loss with respect to the market scenario to 
risky items, which in this case were represented by trade payables and receivables and 
exchange rate derivatives.
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Since the exchange rate derivatives are not recognised using hedge accounting, the 
impact of these transactions - similar to trade payables/receivables - is seen solely in 
the profit or loss for the year and hence in the annual income statement.
The net impact on the result from the year deriving from a +/- 10% shock would have 
been € +2,070 thousand (€ +1,406 thousand in 2023) and € -2,529 thousand (€ -1,719 
thousand in 2023), respectively.

Exchange risk management methods

In relation to sales activities, the Group makes purchases and sales other currencies, at 
present mainly in USD and GBP. Therefore, hedging policies are mainly focused on 
stipulating futures contracts against the euro.
Additionally, other currencies are periodically monitored, which may be used in invoi-
ces on a continuous or occasional basis.

General aspects

Hedges are carried out on the basis of estimates of future financial flows in currencies 
on the basis of invoices payable and receivable and taking budget and/or forecasts into 
account.

Exchange risk management policies

The special nature of the Group's business allows it to make forecasts relative to finan-
cial issues relative to flows in foreign currencies.
Estimates of flows must meet all the formal requirements relative to amount, cur-
rency, date of manifestation and status relative to the probability of manifestation, 
necessary when producing exposure measurements.
Exchange risk hedging transactions are carried out in compliance with cash flow 
hedge principles, which amount to neutralising the effects induced by changes in the 
exchange rate on the value in euro of cash flows denominated in foreign currencies.
Hedging policies are managed exclusively using forward contracts and options rel-
ative to exchange rates, to guarantee more flexible coverage with respect to forward 
contracts. Currently, exposure to exchange rate derivatives falls within the forward 
category.

Interest rate risk

Financial liabilities which expose the Group to interest rate risk are medium/long-
term variable rate loans.
With regard to assets, items exposed to interest rate risk consist of a shareholders’ loan 
to a company in which an equity investment is held, classified among equity invest-
ments in other companies.
These assets are classified as "held to maturity" and do not generate effects on the 
annual income statement/consolidated statement of financial position if not due to 
effects of cash flows received (financial income) or any lasting losses of value which 
make recognition of impairment necessary.
The table below identifies positions subject to interest rate risk.

Positions with interest rate risk  €/000		  31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024

Fixed rate financial instruments		

Fixed rate loans			   (20,660)  	 (15,635)   

 	 			   (20,660)  	 (15,635)    

Variable rate financial instruments	 	

Financial assets		

Non-current security deposits			   10,524   	 11,283   

Financial instruments with positive FV		  9,378   	 5,243   

Loans to others			   8,279   	 6,289      

Financial liabilities		

Derivatives with negative FV			   (2,564)  	 (5,434)  

Variable rate loans			   (184,616)  	 (162,378)  

Current account advances			   (18,698)  	 (27,555)  

Right of use liabilities			   (1,235)  	 (706)  

 				    (178,932)  	 (173,258)   

 				    (199,592)  	 (188,893)  
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Sensitivity analysis relative to interest risk

Analysis was done to determine the impacts of a +/- 100 basis point shift in the esti-
mated interest rate curve at 31 December 2024 on the annual income statement and 
statement of financial position.
Analysis was done supposing that the other variables, in particular exchange rates, 
remained constant and was done using the same suppositions as in the previous year.
As at 31 December 2024 the Group held interest rate swap derivatives.
As at 31 December 2024, hedging instruments had a notional value of € 149,090 
thousand and provided almost full coverage of the medium- and long-term payables 
that form most of the Group's debt. As a result, the effect on the result for the year of 
variable-rate indexed assets and liabilities is not significant.  

	
Interest risk management methods
General aspects

In the context of its own economic production, which is capital intensive, the Group 
makes investments for production purposes by taking out loans. In this context, it 
carries out cash flow hedge transactions, which serve to neutralise the effects of an 
increase in the rates on the cost the Group must pay to service its debts. The general 
objectives of a hedging operation therefore can be summarised as transforming the 
cost of a variable rate debt to the cost of a fixed rate debt, or to reduce the extent to 
which it is variable.

Interest risk management policies

Medium/long-term hedges are organised based on projections over a multi-year period 
prepared on the basis of economic and financial budgets, cash flow projections and 
net financial position. The amount hedged may vary between 0% to 100% of the 
notional value of the instrument hedged and be structured for a period of time that in 
general ranges from a minimum of 3 years to a maximum of 6 years (up to the current 
maturity of the loans).

Commodity risk

Commodity price risk arises for purchases/sales of gas and purchases/sales of electrici-
ty and rights to emit carbon dioxide.  

Gas and electricity price risk

In order to supply its various plants with the electricity necessary for production, the 
Group has various contracts to purchase gas. Given the variable nature of the price of 
the commodity, the Group suffers risk deriving from fluctuations in the supply prices 
which it can partially protect itself from by setting prices with counterparties. Group 
energy costs are optimised through the subsidiary Burgo Energia.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had gas purchases with the following characteristics:

• Fixed price purchases;
•	Variable price purchases on the basis of the spot gas price recorded on the Italian 

PSV market;
•	Variable price purchases on the basis of the spot gas price recorded on the European 

TTF market;
•	Hedging derivatives on gas price risk.

In order to supply its various plants with the electricity necessary for production, the 
Group has a contract to purchase electricity through its subsidiary Burgo Energia S.r.l. 
Given the variable nature of the price of electricity, the Group is exposed to risk deriv-
ing from fluctuations in the supply prices which it can partially protect itself from by 
using derivatives and by setting prices with counterparties. As at 31 December 2024, 
the Group had no fixed price electricity sales. 

Within commodity exposures, price risk deriving from an imbalance between indexed 
purchases and sales is partly managed through the subscription of a commodity swap. 
Derivative financial instruments on commodities outstanding at the end of the year 
were almost entirely accounted for using hedge accounting, in accordance with IFRS 9. 
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Carbon dioxide emission rights price risk

To supply its various plants with the rights to issue carbon dioxide, needed to comply 
with the obligations deriving from the ETS scheme, the Group has signed purchase 
contracts with the subsidiary Burgo Energia S.r.l. Given the variable nature of the 
price of the commodity, the Group suffers risk deriving from fluctuations in the 
supply prices which it can partially protect itself from by using derivatives and by 
setting prices with counterparties. Derivative financial instruments on commodities 
outstanding at the end of the year were accounted for using hedge accounting, in 
accordance with IFRS 9.

Sensitivity analysis relative to commodity risk

In order to measure the possible effects of changes in the value of carbon dioxide 
emission rights, in the statement of financial position and annual income statement, 
a +/-10% change in the value of EUA prices was hypothesised at 31 December 2024.  
The impact on the annual income statement deriving from this type of shock would be 
€ -0.5 million (€ -0.4 million in the previous year) and € +0.5 million (€ +0.4 million 
in the previous year). Sensitivity analysis is not done for gas and electricity price risk, 
because all the assets and liabilities associated with these are recognised at a fixed price.

Commodity risk management methods

General aspects

The Group’s strategic objective is to stabilise profit margins in terms of reducing risks 
associated with volatility in electricity purchase/sales prices and purchase prices of 
materials used in production processes, to minimise exposure to the correlated risk 
and losses. With an eye to continuously reducing loss risks, the Group has the simul-
taneous objective of minimising costs associated with obtaining its production factors.
When negotiating financial contracts for raw materials, the Group does not have the 
ability to take risk positions on the commodities market. These contracts will have the 
sole purpose of reducing the risk of an increase in the purchase prices of the produc-
tion factors used in production processes.
Relative to risk monitoring, the Group applies a quantitative measure for risks, both 
with reference to analysing physical portfolio exposures to VaR analysis of trading activi-
ties, and when measuring the efficacy of derivatives negotiated for hedging purposes.

Commodity risk management policies

Management of risks associated with oscillations in commodities prices involves sever-
al administrative departments, at the individual Group company level.
In determining its hedging strategy and with reference to the various types of supply 
contracts, the Group implements mitigation strategies with the objective of stabilising 
its profit margin.
With reference to the procedures used to estimate exposure to risks associated with 
commodities, the following elements are considered:

• nominal quantities, that it is the quantity recognised within physical and financial 
contracts;

• fair value/stop loss, that is the amount calculated on the basis of the current value of 
future financial flows generated by the contract as a function of price indexing rules. 
Stop loss identifies the largest sustainable loss in terms of fair value. In addition to this 
threshold, the position must also be closed with a symmetrical contract in the opposite 
direction;

• the change in the value of the position following a marginal variation in the price of 
energy (only for variable price contracts);

• the change in the value of the position following a marginal variation in the price of the 
fuels (only for indexed price contracts).
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Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will have difficulty complying with its future 
obligations relative to financial liabilities.
Risk analysis is done with the aim of quantifying cash flows deriving from the various 
types of financial liabilities held by the Group at 31 December 2024, at each contrac-
tual repayment date.
Financial liabilities have been broken down into non-derivative financial liabilities and 
derivative financial liabilities, based on their nature. For the latter, given the difference 
in accounting treatment, it was necessary to carry out a further classification based on 
whether the derivative is classified as a hedging instrument according on the account-
ing standards.
Relative to cash flow maturities, given the nature of the Group's monetary cycle it was 
held expedient to group payments into half-yearly payment buckets.
To quantify cash flows on liabilities index at variable rates, the measurement method 
based on forward interest rates implicit in the market rate curve was used.

For derivatives, the following approach was used:

•	Collar: cash flows were estimated on the basis of the non-discounted fair value of 
individual caplets/floorlets.

Below is a summary of analysis done on derivative financial liabilities and non-deriva-
tive financial liabilities, at 31 December 2024.

31 Dec 2024 €/000 		  Book value	

	 		  	

Non-derivative financial
liabilities:						    

Loans		  171,468   	 19,461   	 105,816   	 33,226   	 6,485   	 6,479   

Bonds		  425   	 425   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   

Trade payables and other payable		  341,560   	 341,560   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   

Right of use liabilities		  9,377   	 1,319   	 1,194   	 3,978   	 1,910   	 976                     

Derivative financial liabilities:						    

Derivatives		  5,434   	 2,717   	 2,717   	 -   	 -   	 -   

Currency futures contracts		  -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -      

			   528,265   	 365,483   	 109,727   	 37,204   	 8,395   	 7,455   

6 months 
or less

2-3
years

4- 5
anni

Over 5 
years

7-12 
months
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Liquidity risk management methods

General aspects

The Group's approach to liquidity management is aimed at guaranteeing, as much as 
possible, that there are always sufficient funds available to comply with obligations 
when maturity dates are reached.

Liquidity risk management policies

The Group performs liquidity analysis as a function of budget forecasts, determin-
ing short, medium and long-term cash flows. Estimates are periodically reviewed 
to ensure there is adequate on demand cash and cash equivalents to cover operating 
expenses forecast for the short term (around 3 months). 
To meet short-term financial needs as at 31 December 2024, short-term credit lines 
were available, totalling € 238.1 million, of which € 201.4 million in Italy and € 36.7 
million in Belgium available to Burgo Ardennes.
For its long-term financial needs, the Group's loans and bonds recorded on the state-
ment of financial position, both for the short-term and long-term portion, totalled a 
nominal value of € 173.5 million, valued according to the “amortized cost” criterion.
Burgo Group S.p.A. also has access to a Revolving line totalling € 100 million that 
was unused as at 31 December 2024.
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Report of the independent auditing firm
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Statement of financial position

Statement of financial position: Assets €	 Note	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change

Non-current assets			   640,693,808   	 638,422,825   	 (2,270,983)  

Property, plant and equipment		  152,813,682   	 156,161,552   	 3,347,870   

Property, plant and equipment		  1	 151,216,430   	 152,543,336   	 1,326,906   

Property investments		  1	 138,807   	 133,932   	 (4,875)  

Right of use assets		  1	 1,458,445   	 3,484,284   	 2,025,839   

Intangible assets			   1,945,297   	 1,563,664   	 (381,634)  

Intangible assets with defined life		 2	 1,945,297   	 1,563,664   	 (381,634)  

Other non-current assets			   461,545,703   	 462,590,407   	 1,044,704   

Equity investments in subsidiaries	 3	 434,430,944   	 434,430,944   	 -   

Equity investments in associates		  3	 16,483   	 16,483   	 -   

Equity investments in other companies	 3	 7,174,090   	 9,052,424   	 1,878,334   

Financial receivables and other non-current
financial assets		  3	 9,749,531   	 8,152,170   	 (1,597,361)  

Other receivables and non-current assets	 3	 10,174,655   	 10,938,386   	 763,731   

Deferred tax assets			   24,389,126   	 18,107,203   	 (6,281,924)  

Deferred tax assets		  4	 24,389,126   	 18,107,203   	 (6,281,924)  

Current assets			   474,840,525   	 453,261,489   	 (21,579,036)  

Warehouse inventories		  5	 57,936,472   	 64,880,481   	 6,944,009   

Trade receivables		  6	 118,533,622   	 93,079,818   	 (25,453,804)  

Other receivables and current assets	 7	 25,496,904   	 18,139,011   	 (7,357,894)  

Financial receivables and other current financial assets	 8	 29,164,812   	 25,938,585   	 (3,226,227)  

Cash on hand and other cash equivalents	 9	 243,708,714   	 251,223,594   	 7,514,879      

Total assets			   1,115,534,333   	 1,091,684,314   	 (23,850,020)  

Statement of financial position: Liabilities €	 Note	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change

Shareholders’ equity			   569,605,227   	 618,233,885   	 48,628,658              

Share capital		  10	 90,000,000   	 90,000,000   	 -   

Reserves		  10	 264,701,304   	 242,697,907   	 (22,003,396)  

Accumulated profits (losses)		  10	 147,275,472   	 212,118,857   	 64,843,385   

Profit (loss) for the year		  10	 67,628,451   	 73,417,121   	 5,788,670   

Shareholders’ equity attributable to non-controlling interests	 10	 -   	 -   	 -   

Non-current liabilities			   192,980,666   	 61,423,537   	 (131,557,129)  

Non-current financial liabilities		  11	 150,842,746   	 32,903,783   	 (117,938,963)  

Severance indemnities and other provisions related to personnel	 12	 7,702,521   	 6,906,914   	 (795,608)  

Provisions for risks and charges		  13	 34,435,398   	 21,612,840   	 (12,822,558)  

Current liabilities			   352,948,440   	 412,026,891   	 59,078,451   

Current financial liabilities		  14	 104,869,308   	 225,608,875   	 120,739,567   

Trade payables		  15	 220,576,369   	 158,767,064   	 (61,809,305)  

Payables for current taxes		  16	 2,129,421   	 2,608,495   	 479,074   

Other payables and current liabilities	 17	 25,373,343   	 25,042,458   	 (330,885)    

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities		  1,115,534,333   	 1,091,684,314   	 (23,850,020)  
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Annual Income Statement Statement of Comprehensive Income

Income statement for the year €		  Note	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 % change  

Revenues		  19	 869,476,185   	 803,964,150   	 -7.5%

Other income		  20	 22,119,701   	 23,085,030   	

Total operating revenues and income		  891,595,886   	 827,049,180   	 -7.2%

Costs for materials and external services	 21	 (714,964,264)  	 (724,114,356)  	

Personnel expenses		  22	 (60,351,179)  	 (58,656,661)  	

Other operating expenses		  23	 (20,467,300)  	 (12,518,448)  	

Change in inventories		  24	 (56,051,000)  	 6,944,009   	

Capitalised costs for internal work		 25	 528,318   	 338,233   	

Depreciation and amortization		  26	 (19,070,851)  	 (19,246,159)  	

Capital gains/(losses) on disposal of non-current assets	 27	 870,021   	 (176,573)  	

Write-backs/write-downs of non-current assets	 28	 (3,028,196)  	 -   	

Total operating expenses			   (872,534,451)  	 (807,429,954)  	 -7.5%

Operating result			   19,061,435   	 19,619,226   	 2.9%

Financial expenses		  29	 (10,283,232)  	 (11,156,079)  	

Financial income		  30	 59,004,788   	 65,196,148   	

Result before taxes			   67,782,992   	 73,659,295   	 8.7%

Income taxes		  31	 (154,540)  	 (242,174)  	

Profit/(loss) for the period			   67,628,451   	 73,417,121   	 8.6%

Statement of Comprehensive Income €	 Note	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 % change

A - Profit (loss) for the period			   67,628,451   	 73,417,121   	 8.6%
Other components of the Statement of
Comprehensive Income: 

Other components of the Statement of
ComprehensiveIncome to be subsequently
reclassified in the annual Income statement:  		

	 Net (loss) profit from cash flow hedge		  (3,364,538)  	 (2,706,457)    

	 Income taxes			   640,759   	 552,618      

 	 			   (2,723,779)  	 (2,153,839)          	

	 Net (loss) profit from financial assets FVOCI		  -   	 -	

				           	

B- Total other components of the Statement
of Comprehensive Income to be subsequently
reclassified in the annual Income
statement net of taxes		  32   	 (2,723,779)  	 (2,153,839)       

Other components of the Statement of
Comprehensive Income not to be subsequently
reclassified in the annual Income statement:     	
	 (Losses) gains from discounting of
	 defined benefit plans			   102,151   	 158,400          

	 Income taxes			   (24,516)  	 (38,016)            	

				    77,634   	 120,384              

C- Total Other components of the Statement
of Comprehensive Income not to be
subsequently reclassified in the annual Income
statement net of taxes		  32   	 77,634   	 120,384              	

D - Total other components of the Statement
of Comprehensive Income net of taxes (B + C)		  (2,646,144)  	 (2,033,455)               	

E - Total Comprehensive Income net of taxes (D +A)		  64,982,307   	 71,383,666   	 9.9%
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Statement of Changes in Shareholders' Equity

For comments on the changes in shareholders' equity, please see note 10 "shareholders' equity".

Changes in shareholders' equity €/000	

Balances at start of previous period			   90,000   	 16,797   	 138,797   	 6,199   	 165,992   	 -   	 238   	 47,831   	 119,316   	 585,170   

Destination of result - distribution of dividends			   -   	 1,203   	 -   	 -   	 (64,438)  	 2,559   	 -   	 99,444   	 (119,316)  	 (80,547)  

Net change profits (losses) directly recognised in shareholders' equity		  -   	 -   	 -   	 (2,646)  	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 (2,646)  

Other changes in shareholders' equity			   -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   

Exchange differences from translation of foreign financial statements		  -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   

Profit/(loss) for the period				    -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 67,628   	 67,628   

Balances at end of previous period			   90,000   	 18,000   	 138,797   	 3,553   	 101,554   	 2,559   	 238   	 147,275   	 67,628   	 569,605   

Destination of result - distribution of dividends			   -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 (18,204)  	 -   	 -   	 63,077   	 (67,628)  	 (22,755)  

Net change profits (losses) directly recognised in shareholders' equity		  -   	 -   	 -   	 (2,033)  	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 (2,033)  

Other changes in shareholders' equity			   -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 (1,766)  	 -   	 1,766   	 -   	 -   

Exchange differences from translation of foreign financial statements		  -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   

Profit/(loss) for the period				    -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 73,417   	 73,417   

Balances at period end				    90,000   	 18,000   	 138,797   	 1,519   	 83,350   	 793   	 238   	 212,119   	 73,417   	 618,234   

Share 
capital

Legal 
reserve

Distributable 
reserve from 
share capital 

reduction

IAS reserve Reserve 
for equity 
financial 

instruments

Non-
distributable 

exchange 
gains reserve

Undistributed 
profits - 
Carried 
forward

Other 
reserves

Result 
for the 

year

Total
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Cash Flow Statement

For the structure of final net monetary availability, please see note 10 "Cash on hand and other cash equivalents", which provides 
a reconciliation statement regarding cash on hand and other cash equivalents.

Cash Flow Statement €/000		  31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024

A - Net initial monetary availability	 69,296   	 178,681                 
B- Monetary flow from operating activities		
	 Net profit (loss) deriving from operating activities	 67,628   	 73,417   
	 Amortization, depreciation, write-downs and write-backs	 22,099   	 19,246   
	 Write-downs and write-backs of financial assets	 -   	 350   
	 Capital (gains) losses on disposal of non-current assets	 (870)  	 177   
	 Capital (gains) losses on disposal of financial assets	 (196)  	 -   
	 Change in TFR and provisions for risks	 (14,542)  	 (13,460)  
	 Change in deferred tax assets and provision for deferred taxes	 11,359   	 6,797                        

Profit (loss) for the period before changes in working capital	 85,478   	 86,527                 
	 Change in inventories		  56,051   	 (6,944)  
	 Change in trade receivables		  50,745   	 25,454   
	 Change in trade payables		  (35,743)  	 (61,809)  
	 Change in other assets and liabilities	 (790)  	 9,674                 

Change in net working capital		  70,263   	 (33,625)  
Assets held for sale and discontinued operations	 36,360   	 -       

Total B- Monetary flow from operating activities	 192,101   	 52,901                  
C - Monetary flow from investing activities		
	 Investments in property, plant and equipment	 (25,158)  	 (19,333)  
	 Investments in intangible assets	 (565)  	 (358)  
	 Change in equity investments		 206   	 (2,228)  
	 Revenues from sales of fixed assets	 3,610   	 497                     

Total C - Monetary flow from investing activities	 (21,907)  	 (21,423)             
D - Monetary flow from financing activities		
	 Change in non-current securities and financial receivables	 (2,343)  	 1,597   
	 Change in financial receivables and other current financial assets	 47,279   	 (14)  
	 Change in current and non-current other non-financial liabilities	 2,425   	 1,877   
	 New loans		  332   	 216   
	 Repayment of loans		  (26,533)  	 (23,611)  
	 Repayment right of use loans		  (1,422)  	 (1,159)  
	 Dividends distributed and/or resolved	 (80,547)  	 (22,755)                 

Total D - Monetary flow from financing activities	 (60,809)  	 (43,849)            
E - Monetary flow for the period (B + C + D)	 109,385   	 (12,371)             

Net final monetary availability (A + E)	 178,681   	 166,309               

	 Additional information:		
	 Interest received during the period	 4,978   	 9,447   
	 Interest paid during the period	 (11,104)  	 (10,736)  
	 Taxes paid during the period		  (4,593)  	 -   
	 Dividends received during the period	 52,614   	 55,726                 

Explanatory notes to the individual financial statements

General information

Burgo Group spa is an Italian company, registered with the Vicenza Business Registry 
(no.13051890153), with its registered offices in Altavilla Vicentina (prov. Vicenza), in 
via Piave 1.
These draft financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 27 
March 2025.

Accounting standards and measurement criteria

The Company’s financial statements at 31 December 2024 were prepared in com-
pliance with the IAS/IFRS accounting standards for preparing individual financial 
statements at 31 December 2023, considering the amendments and new standards 
which took effect as of 01 January 2024, listed below.

IFRS accounting standards, amendments and interpretations applied as of
01 January 2024

For the preparation of these Financial Statements, the Company has adopted for the first 
time certain accounting standards and amendments effective for financial years begin-
ning on or after 01 January 2024, a list of which is provided below, noting that these 
changes have not affected the financial position and income statement amounts shown:

•	 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and Non-current Liabilities with 
Covenants – Amendments to IAS 1; 

• Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback – Amendments to IFRS 16;
•	 Disclosures: Supplier Finance Arrangements – Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7.  

There are no other new standards, amendments or interpretations that are effective 
as of the reference date of these Financial Statements and which are likely to have a 
significant impact on the Company.

Below we examine in detail the criteria adopted for the following items:

Property, plant and equipment

A cost sustained to acquire a property, plant, machinery or part of the same is recog-
nised as an asset on the condition that the cost of the asset can be reliably determined 
and the Company can make use of the relative future economic benefits.
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Useful life and realisable values are reviewed every year, and any changes are made 
prospectively. When necessary, they are applied prospectively and may involve an 
extension or reduction in the original amortization/depreciation period.
Land, whether free of construction or containing civil or industrial buildings, is rec-
ognised separately and not depreciated, given that it is an element with unlimited use-
ful life. When an asset is disposed of or when no future economic benefit is expected, 
it is eliminated from the financial statements and any losses or profits are recognised 
in the annual income statement during the financial year in which it was eliminated.
Expenses for leasehold improvements such as expenses to remodel real estate that 
is not owned are capitalised in consideration of the fact that for the duration of the 
leasing contract the user company has control over the assets and can take advantage 
of their future economic benefits. Said costs are amortized over a period equal to the 
lesser of that representing the residual useful life of the fixed asset and the residual 
duration of the leasing contract.
Pursuant to IAS 23, the company capitalises financial expenses attributable to the 
purchase, construction or production of a capitalisable asset.

Property investments

The item includes land, buildings or parts of non-instrumental buildings, held in 
order to benefit from leasing fees, increases in value or both.
Property investments are measured at cost, net of any losses due to write-downs and 
depreciation accumulated.

Right of use assets

This item includes the accounting measurement of contracts to which IFRS 16 ap-
plies. This item recognises leasing contracts for assets over which the company holds 
control (right of use) over an asset. As discriminating factors to identify these, the 
following were used: the asset can be identified, there is a right to replacement of the 
asset, the right to obtain substantially all economic benefits deriving from use of the 
asset and, finally, the right to direct the use of the asset underlying the contract. The 
Standard establishes a single model for recognising and measuring lease contracts for 
the lessee, which involves recognition of the asset underlying the lease in the assets, 
whether operational or not, and a matching entry in the form of a financial payable.

Property, plant and equipment

Assets recognised among property, plant and equipment are recognised at the pur-
chase cost, including any directly attributable accessory costs, necessary to render the 
asset functional to the use for which it was acquired, and net of any relative deprecia-
tion accumulated and impairment losses.
Expenses sustained subsequently are added to the cost to the extent in which these ex-
penses are able to improve the originally determined performance of the asset.
Assets recognised among property, plant and equipment through business combinations 
are measured at their fair value upon initial recognition, as determined at the time they 
were acquired. Subsequently, they are measured using the historic cost method.
Assets recognised among property, plant and equipment, except for land, depreciate 
at constant rates throughout the course of the useful life of the asset, understood to 
be the estimated period during which the asset will be used by the company, starting 
from the moment the asset becomes available for use. The value to be depreciated is 
represented by the carrying value of the asset net of any impairment and reduced by 
the presumable realisable value at the end of the useful life, if this is significant and 
can be reasonably determined.
If the asset is composed of several significant components with different useful lives, 
depreciation is carried out for each component, following the component approach 
established in IAS 16.
Spare parts of significant value relative to plant and machinery are capitalised and de-
preciated on the basis of the useful life of the asset to which they refer, in accordance 
with the indications found in IAS 16.
The book value of property, plant and equipment is subject to verification to identify 
any losses in value when events or changes indicate that the book value may not be 
recoverable. 

For newly acquired assets, the following useful lives are applied:
 

Useful life of newly acquired assets			   Useful life

Industrial buildings				    30 years

General plants				    15 years

Specific plants				    20 years

Miscellaneous equipment				    4 years

Office machines and machinery			   8 years

Vehicles				    5 years

Electronic machines				    5 years
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Any negative difference (negative goodwill) is instead recognised in the annual income 
statement at the time of acquisition.
After initial recognition, goodwill is not amortized, but is decreased relative to any 
losses of value, determined in accordance with IAS 36 (impairment of assets).
Goodwill is annually subject to recoverability analysis. This may also occur more frequent-
ly if events or changes in circumstances occur which could lead to possible losses of value.
In the cases in which goodwill is assigned to a cash generating unit (or group of units) 
whose assets are partially dismissed, the goodwill associated with the transferred 
asset is considered in order to determine any capital gains or losses deriving from the 
transaction, and is measured on the basis of the values of the disposed of assets, with 
respect to the assets still held relative to the same CGU.

Intangible assets with defined life

These assets are recognised at acquisition or production cost, including all attributable 
incidental expenses, and are depreciated on a straight-line basis in relation to their use-
fulness over time, beginning when the asset becomes available for use.
Useful life is reviewed every year, and any changes are made prospectively, when 
necessary.
Plant and expansion costs, if recognised in the assets, as well as patent and usage 
rights for intellectual property are depreciated over a maximum period of five years.
Concession, license, trademark costs and those for similar rights are annually reduced 
as a function of the contractual duration and the limits of the presumable period of 
economic utilisation.

Impairment test

The value of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment is subject to recover-
ability checks every time it is held that a lasting loss of value has occurred.
Relative to goodwill, other intangible assets with undefined useful life and other assets 
not available for use, impairment tests are performed at least once a year.
The test is done by comparing the book value with the greater of the fair value and the 
value in use of the asset.
If no binding sales agreement or an active market for the asset is available, the fair 
value is determined on the basis of the best available information, in order to reflect 
the amount that the company could obtain, at the reporting date of the financial 
statements, if disposing of the asset in a free transaction between knowledgeable and 
willing parties, after deducting disposal costs.

The company has made use of the practical expedients and exemptions allowed in 
paragraphs: 

v)	 16.5(a) in relation to short term contracts, for all asset classes (exclusion of leases 
with a duration of less than 12 months at the time of first-time adoption from the 
scope of application); 

vi)	 16.5(b) in relation to contracts with a value of less than € 5,000;
vii)	 16.15 in relation to the possibility of not separating non-lease components; 
viii)	the Portfolio approach was not adopted.

In particular, relative to lease contracts the company recognises: 

c)	 a right of use equal to the value of the financial liability as of the date the contract 
takes effect. 

d)	 a financial liability, equal to the current value of residual future payments as of the 
date the contract takes effect, discounted using an average rate for each contract.  

Intangible assets

Intangible assets are non-monetary elements without physical substance, which can be 
identified and are controlled by the Company, intended to generate future economic 
benefits. Intangible assets can be recognised in the accounts when it is probable that 
use of the asset will generate future economic benefits and when the cost of the asset 
can be determined in a reliable manner.
Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at cost, those acquired 
through business combinations are measured at fair value upon initial recognition.
Expenses sustained after initial acquisition are added to the cost of the asset to the 
degree in which these expenses are able to generate future economic benefits.
After initial recognition, intangible assets are measured net of provisions for amortiza-
tion and any accumulated losses of value.

Goodwill and other intangible assets with undefined life

An intangible asset is considered to have undefined life when, on the basis of analysis 
of the relevant factors, there is no foreseeable limit on the period of use during which 
it is expected the asset will generate net incoming financial flows for the company.
The company has identified goodwill as an intangible asset with undefined useful life, 
which represents the positive difference between the cost of a business combination 
and the equity interest held by the company in the current fair value of the assets, 
liabilities and potential liabilities acquired and identifiable on the purchase date.
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Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset for an entity 
and a financial liability or an instrument representing capital for another entity. 

Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

At the time of initial recognition, financial assets are classified, based on the case, on 
the basis of subsequent measurement methods, that is at amortized cost, at fair value 
through other comprehensive income or at fair value through profit and loss. 
Classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the characteristics of 
the contractual cash flows associated with the financial assets and the business model 
used by the Company to manage them. Except for trade receivables which do not 
contain a significant financing component or for which the company has applied the 
practical expedient, the Company initially measures a financial asset at its fair value 
plus transaction costs, in the case of a financial recognised in the income statement 
not at fair value. Trade receivables which do not contain significant financing compo-
nent or for which the company has applied the practical expedient are measured at the 
transaction price, determined according to IFRS 15. 
For a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortized cost or at fair value 
through other comprehensive income, it must generate cash flows associated solely 
with payments of principal and interest (SPPI). Assessment of this aspect is known as 
the SPPI test and is performed at the individual instrument level.
The company's business model for managing financial assets refers to the way in 
which the company manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether the cash flows derive from collecting contrac-
tual cash flows, sales of financial assets or from both.
The purchase or sale of a financial asset which requires delivery with a period of time 
either through a standardised sale or through regular way trade is recognised on the 
negotiation date, that is the date on which the company undertook to purchase or sell 
the asset.

The value in use of an asset is calculated by discounting expected cash flows from 
usage of the asset (both incoming and outgoing), basing financial flow projections on 
reasonable and sustainable suppositions, able to represent the best possible estimates 
by corporate management of a series of economic conditions that will exist through-
out the remaining life of the asset, giving greater significance to information obtained 
externally.
The discount rate applied reflects current market evaluations of the time value of mon-
ey and the specific risks of the asset.
Measurement is done for each individual or for the smallest combination of assets 
(cash generating units) that generate independent incoming cash flows deriving from 
their utilisation.
When the value determined with the impairment test is lower than the cost, the loss 
of value is recognised against the asset and among the costs in the annual income 
statement.
If in subsequent financial years the reasons behind recognising the impairment are 
determined to no longer exist following a new impairment test, the asset, with the 
exception of goodwill, is written back up to the new recoverable value, which in any 
case cannot exceed the value that would have existed if no loss in value had been 
recognised.
The writeback is recognised in the annual income statement, unless the asset is 
recognised at the written back value, in which case the writeback is recognised in the 
revaluation reserve.
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For assets involving debt instruments measured at fair value through other com-
prehensive income, interest receivable, variations due to exchange differences and 
impairment, together with write-backs, are recognised in the income statement and 
calculated in the same way as financial assets measured at amortized cost. Remaining 
changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income. At the time of 
elimination, the cumulative change in fair value recognised in OCI is reclassified to 
the income statement.

Investments in equity instruments

At initial recognition, the company may irrevocably decide to classify its stock invest-
ments as equity instruments recognised at fair value through other comprehensive 
income when the satisfy the definition of equity instruments pursuant to IAS 32 "Fi-
nancial instruments: Presentation" and are not held for trading. Classification is done 
for each individual instrument.
Profits and losses resulting from these financial assets are never reversed to the income 
statement. Dividends are recognised as other revenues in the income statement when 
the right to payment has been resolved, except when the company benefits from these 
amounts as recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case the profits 
are recognised under OCI. Equity instruments recognised at fair value through other 
comprehensive income are not subject to impairment testing.

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss

This category includes assets held for trading, assets designated at initial recognition 
as financial assets at fair value with changes recognised in the income statement and 
financial assets necessarily measured at fair value. Assets held for trading are all assets 
acquired to be sold or repurchased over the short term. Derivatives, including sep-
arated ones, are classified as financial instruments held for trading, unless they are 
designated as effective hedging instruments. Financial assets with cash flows which do 
not pass the SPPI test are classified and measured at fair value through profit and loss, 
regardless of the business mode. Despite the criteria for debt instruments for classi-
fication at amortized cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income, as 
described above, debt instruments can be recognised at fair value through profit and 
loss at initial recognition if this involves the elimination or significant reduction of an 
accounting misalignment.

Subsequent measurement

For the purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified into four 
categories:

• financial assets at amortized cost (debt instruments);
• financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income with reclassifica-

tion of cumulated profits and losses (debt instruments);
• financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income without reversal of 

cumulated profits and losses at the time of elimination (equity instruments);
• financial assets at fair value through profit and loss.

Classification depends on the purpose for which the assets are acquired and held. The 
company determines classification of assets at initial recognition, verifying the catego-
ry at each subsequent reporting date. 

Financial assets at amortized cost (debt instruments)

The company measures financial assets at amortized cost if both of the following 
requirements are met:

• the financial asset is held under a business model with the objective of holding 
financial assets to collect contractual cash flows;

• the contractual terms of the financial asset establish cash flows at set dates represent-
ing solely payments of principal and interest.

Financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently measured using the criteria of ef-
fective interest and are subject to impairment. Profits and losses are recognised in the 
income statement when the asset is eliminated, amended or remeasured.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (debt instruments)

The company measures debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive 
income if both of the following conditions are met:

• the financial asset is held under a business model which has the dual objectives of 
collecting contractual cash flows and sale of the financial assets;

• the contractual terms of the financial asset establish cash flows at set dates represent-
ing solely payments of principal and interest.
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Expected losses are recognised in two phases.  Relative to credit exposures for which 
no significant increase in credit risk has been seen following initial recognition, it is 
necessary to recognise credit losses deriving from an estimate of default events likely 
to occur within the subsequent 12 months (12-month ECL). For credit exposures that 
have seen a significant increase in credit risk after initial recognition, expected losses 
relative to the full residual duration of the exposure must be recognised, regardless of 
when the default event is expected to occur ("lifetime ECL").
For trade receivables and assets deriving from contracts, the company applies a simpli-
fied approach to calculate expected losses. Therefore, the company does not monitor 
changes in credit risk but recognises the expected loss in full at each reference date. 
The company has established a matrix system based on historic information, revised to 
consider forward looking elements with reference to specific types of debtors and the 
economic environment, used as tool to determine expected losses.
For assets represented by debt instruments measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income, the company applies the simplified approach allowed for 
low credit risk assets. At each reporting date, the company evaluates whether a debt 
instrument has low credit risk, using available information. 

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement 

At initial recognition, financial liabilities are classified among financial liabilities 
measured at fair value through profit and loss, among mortgages and loans or among 
derivatives designated as hedging instruments. 
All financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value, to which is added in the 
cases of mortgages, loans and payables, the transaction costs directly attributable to 
the same.
The company's financial liabilities include trade payables and other payables, mortgag-
es and loans, including current account overdrafts, guarantees granted and derivatives.

Subsequent measurement

Measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below:

Derecognition

A financial asset (or, when applicable, part of a financial asset or part of a group of 
similar financial assets) is derecognised in the first place (e.g. removed from the com-
pany's statement of financial position) when:

•	the rights to receive financial flows from the asset no longer exist, or
•	the company has transferred the right to receive cash flows from the asset to a third 

party or has taken on the contractual obligation to pay them fully and promptly and 
(a) has substantially transferred all risks and benefits of ownership of the financial 
asset or (b) has not substantially transferred nor retained all the risks and benefits of 
the asset but has transferred control over the same.

In cases where the company has transferred the rights to receive cash flows from an 
asset or has signed an agreement based on which it maintains contractual rights to 
receive cash flows from the financial asset but has a contractual obligation to pay the 
cash flows to one or more beneficiaries (pass-through), it determines if and to what 
extent it has retained the risks and benefits inherent to ownership. If it has neither 
substantially transferred nor retained all the risks and benefits or has not lost con-
trol over the same, the asset continues to be recognised in the company's financial 
statements to the extent of its residual involvement with the asset in question. In this 
case, the company also recognises an associated liability. The asset transferred and the 
associated liability are measured to reflect the rights and obligations that continue to 
apply to the company.
When the entity's residual involvement is a guarantee for the transferred asset, in-
volvement is measured on the basis of the lesser of the amount of the asset and the 
maximum amount of the fee received which the entity may have to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The company recognises impairment due to expected credit loss (ECL) for all financial 
assets represented by debt instruments not held at fair value through profit and loss. 
ECLs are based on the difference between contractual cash flows due in compliance 
with the contract and all the cash flows the company expects to receive, discounted 
by an approximation of the original effective interest rate. Expected cash flows include 
cash flows deriving from enforcement of collateral held or other credit guarantees 
which are an integral part of the contractual conditions.
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Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation underlying the liability is re-
paid, cancelled or fulfilled. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another 
of by the same lender, under substantially different conditions, or the conditions for 
an existing liability are substantially changed, this exchange or change is recognised 
as the accounting derecognition of the original liability, followed by recognition of a 
new liability, with any differences between the book values recognised in the annual 
income statement.

Offsetting of financial instruments

An asset and a financial liability can be offset and the net balance recognised in the 
statement of financial position if there is a current legal right to offset the amounts 
recognised for accounting purpose and there is an intention to extinguish the residual 
net amount or to realise the asset and simultaneously extinguish the liability.

Derivatives

As of 01 January 2019, the company no longer makes use of the possibility to continue 
to make use of the provisions established in IAS 39 solely relative to hedge account-
ing, instead following the provisions contained in IFRS 9.
Derivatives are used with the sole purpose of hedging in order to reduce financial 
risks. They are measured at fair value starting on the date they are stipulated. When 
a hedging transaction begins, the company formally designates and documents the 
hedging relationship for which hedge accounting will be used, indicating its risk man-
agement objectives and the strategy pursued. This document involves identifying the 
hedging instrument, the element of the transaction being hedged, the nature of the 
risk and methods the Company intends to use to measure the efficacy of the hedge in 
compensating for variations in the fair value of the hedged element or financial flows 
associated with the hedged risk. Efficacy must be measured in a reliable manner. It is 
expected that these hedges are highly effective in compensating for the exposure of the 
hedged element to changes in the fair value of financial flows associated with the risk 
covered. Assessment of whether the hedges are effective is done continuously during 
the accounting periods in which they are designated as such.
Transactions which meet the criteria for hedge accounting are recognised as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss with changes recognised in the 
income statement include liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities initially 
recognised at fair value with changes recognised in the income statement. 
Liabilities held for trading are all those kept to be sold over the short term. This category 
also includes derivative financial instruments subscribed by the Company which are not 
designated as hedging instruments in a hedging relationship as defined under IFRS 9.
Profit or loss associated with liabilities held for trading is recognised in the annual 
income statement.
Financial liabilities are designated at fair value with changes recognised in the income 
statement as of the initial recognition date only if the criteria in IFRS 9 are satisfied. 
At initial recognition, the company has not designated financial liabilities at fair value 
with changes recognised in the income statement.

Loans and receivables

This is the most significant category for the company. After initial recognition, loans 
are measured using the amortized cost criteria, using the effective interest rate meth-
od. Profits and losses are recognised in the income statement when the liability is 
extinguished, as well as through the amortization process.
The amortized cost is calculated by recognising the discount or premium on acquisi-
tion and fees or costs which are an integral part of the effective interest rate. Amor-
tization at the effective interest rate is recognised among financial expenses in the 
income statement.

Financial guarantee liabilities

Financial guarantee liabilities issued by the company are contracts which require pay-
ment to reimburse the holder of a debt security against a loss suffered by them follow-
ing the debtor not making payments at contractually established due dates. Financial 
guarantee contracts are initially recognised as liabilities at fair value, plus any transac-
tion costs directly attributable to issuing of the guarantee. Subsequently, the liability 
is measured as the greater of the best estimate of the payment required to fulfil the 
guaranteed obligation as of the reporting date and the amount initially recognised, 
net of cumulative amortization.
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Inventories

Inventories of raw materials, products in progress and finished products are measured 
at the lesser of the cost, determined using the average weighted cost method, and the 
net realisable value presumable from market trends.
For raw materials, market value means replacement cost. For finished and semi-fin-
ished products, it means the amount the company expects to obtain from sales in 
normal business operations, net of estimated costs to complete the good and sales and 
distribution costs it will sustain.
Measurement of warehouse inventories include direct costs for materials and labour 
and indirect costs (variable and fixed).
Provisions for impairment of materials, finished products, spare parts and other obso-
lete or slow rotation stocks are calculated, taking into account future expected use and 
realisable value.
Products in progress relative to work orders are measured using the percentage of com-
pletion, recognising costs and revenues relative to said progress to the annual income 
statement.
Any losses from these contracts are recognised in the annual income statement in the 
full amount, at the time they become known.

Cash on hand and other cash equivalents

This item indicates cash and other cash equivalents and short-term highly tradable 
financial investments that can be readily turned into cash and are subject to irrelevant 
risks in terms of variations in their value. These financial items are recognised at their 
nominal value.
For the purposes of the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, cash and other cash 
equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts as of the reporting date.

Assets held for sale

Non-current assets and groups of assets and liabilities for which the book value will mainly 
be recovered through sale, rather than through continuous use, are presented separately 
under other assets and liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position.
These assets, classified within a specific item in the consolidated statement of financial 
position, are measured at the lower of the book value and the fair value minus fore-
seeable sales costs. Gains and losses, net of the relative tax effects, from non-current 
assets disposed of or held for sale are recognised in a specific item within the annual 
income statement.

Fair value hedge

If a derivative is designated to hedge against exposure to variations in the fair value of 
an asset or liability attributable to a particular risk, profit or loss deriving from subse-
quent changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument is recognised in the annual 
income statement.
Profit or loss deriving from an adjustment in the fair value of the hedged item, relative 
to the portion attributable to the risk hedged against, changes the book value of this 
item and is recognised in the annual income statement.

Cash flow hedge

If a derivative is designated as an instrument hedging against exposure to changes 
in the financial flows of an asset or liability recognised in the financial statements or 
a transaction deemed highly probable, the effective portion of the profits or losses 
deriving from the fair value adjustment of the derivative is recognised in a specific 
shareholders' equity reserve and reclassified in the annual income statement when the 
effects of the transaction being hedged are recognised in the annual income statement. 
The profit or loss associated with this ineffective portion of the hedging is instead 
immediately recognised in the annual income statement. If a hedging instrument is 
closed by the transaction being hedged has not yet been realised, cumulative profits 
and losses remain in the shareholders' equity reserve and are reclassified in the annual 
income statement at the time the relative transaction is realised.
If the transaction being hedged is no longer deemed probable, profits or losses not yet 
realised and recognised in the shareholders' equity reserve are immediately recognised 
in the annual income statement.
If hedge accounting can no longer be applied, profits or losses deriving from the fair 
value measurement of the derivative are directly recognised in the annual income 
statement.
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The amount recognised in the annual income statement consists of the following 
elements:

•	social security costs relative to current work performed;
• interest expenses;
• expected returns from program assets, if existing.

The revision of IAS 19 referenced above required the company, as of the financial year 
beginning on 01 January 2013, to directly recognise actuarial profits and losses rela-
tive to defined benefit plans deriving from changes in the actuarial hypotheses used or 
changes in plan conditions in shareholders' equity and the Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.
The amount of rights accrued by employees during the year is recognised under the 
item personnel expenses, while the financial component, which represents the charge 
that the company would face if it were to finance the amount of the severance indem-
nity (TFR) on the market, is recognised under financial income/expenses.

Provisions for risks and charges 

The company allocates provisions for risks and charges when:

•	there is a current obligation (legal or implied) relative to third parties and deriving 
from a past event;

•	it is probable that the company will need to use resources to comply with the obligation;
•	a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.

Provisions are recognised at the value which represents the best estimate that the com-
pany would reasonably pay to fulfil the obligation (fair value) or to transfer it to third 
parties, on the reporting date.
Changes in estimates are shown in the annual income statement for the period in 
which the change occurred.
When financial effects associated with the time forecast of the payment is significant 
and the payment date for the obligations can be reliably estimated, the provision is 
discounted using a discount rate that reflects current assessments of the cost of money 
in relation to time. In this case, the amount recognised in the financial statements 
increases each year to reflect the passage of time and this increase is recognised in the 
annual income statement under the item "financial expenses".

Trade payables and miscellaneous payables

This item includes payables due to suppliers and other liabilities, with the exception of 
financial liabilities which are recognised separately. These liabilities are initially recog-
nised at the fair value of the fee to be paid.
Subsequently, payables are measured using the amortized cost criteria, determined 
with the effective interest method.

Employee benefits

Benefits due after the termination of the employment relationship are divided into 
defined contribution plans and defined benefit plans.
In the case of defined contribution plans, the company is only legally or constructively 
obligated to contribute a specific amount. Consequently, the actuarial and investment 
risks fall to the employee.
For defined benefit plans, the company's obligation consists in granted and ensuring 
the agreed upon benefits for the employees: actuarial risk and investment risk fall to 
the company.
Until 31 December 2006, the severance indemnity was classifiable among defined 
benefit plans.
The regulations for this provision were amended by Italian Law 296 of 27 December 
2006 ("2007 Financial Law"), and by subsequent Decrees and Regulations issued 
during the initial months of 2007. In the light of these changes, and in particular 
those with reference to companies with at least 50 employees, this practice is not to be 
considered a defined benefit plan solely for the portions accrued prior to 01 January 
2007 (and not yet liquidated as of the reporting date). Portions accruing after this date 
can be classified as a defined contribution plan.
The company's obligation to finance defined benefit plans and the annual cost recog-
nised in the annual income statement are determined by applying actuarial methodol-
ogy, based on demographic hypotheses, in relation to mortality rates and turnover in 
the reference population and on financial hypotheses, in relation to the discount rate 
which reflects the value of money over time, the inflation rates, and future salary and 
wage levels.
The amount recognised as a liability for defined benefits indicates the current value of 
the obligation as of the reporting date, net of the current value of any existing pro-
gram assets.
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Current, prepaid and deferred taxes

Income taxes are determined on the basis of estimated taxable income, with reference 
to the current tax regulations. 
Forecast debt, net of any advances and withholdings, is recognised under the state-
ment of financial position liabilities in the item "current tax payables".
Taxes relative to components recognised directly under shareholders' equity are recog-
nised directly to shareholders' equity and not in the annual income statement.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated for all temporary differences between 
the book value attributed to assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the 
value attributed to the same assets and liabilities for tax purposes, unless the tempo-
rary differences derive from:

• initial recognition of goodwill;
• initial recognition of an asset or liability, in a transaction which
-	is not a business combination and
-	does not influence accounting results nor taxable income on the date of the transac-

tion in question;
• equity investments in subsidiaries, affiliated companies and companies under joint 

control, when:
-	the company is able to control the schedule for cancelling temporary taxable differences;
-	it is probable that the temporary differences will not be cancelled for the foreseeable 

future.

Deferred tax assets are not recognised when it is not reasonably certain they will be 
recovered, in compliance with the principle of prudence.
Additionally, their value is reviewed at the end of each period and is reduced to the ex-
tent that it is no longer probable sufficient taxable profits will be available in the future 
to allow full or partial use of these assets.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are defined on the basis of the tax rates which are ex-
pected to be applied in the year in which the assets will be realised, or the liabilities will be 
repaid, considering rates in effect or those substantially issued as of the reporting date.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified among non-current assets and liabilities.

Significant potential liabilities represented by the following are illustrated in the Notes:

•	possible (but not probable) obligations, deriving from past events, the existence of 
which will only be confirmed if one or more future events occur, which are not fully 
under the control of the company;

•	current obligations deriving from past events, for which the amount cannot be relia-
bly estimated, or for which compliance may not involve any expenses.

Items in other currencies or subject to "exchange risk"

These are registered at the current exchange rate in effect on the date of the transaction. 
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are converted using the exchange 
rate on the reporting date. Non-monetary items are kept at the conversion rate for the 
transaction, unless there is a persistent unfavourable trend in the exchange rate.
Both exchange differences generated from the repayment of items with different 
exchange rates relative to the conversion rate used at initial recognition, and those 
relative to the measurement of monetary items at the reporting date are recognised in 
the annual income statement.

Recognition of revenues and costs

Revenues are measured on the basis of the payment the company believes it is entitled 
to receive for the sale of its products or services.
Revenues from sales of products are recognised, net of discounts, rebates or returns, 
when control over the assets or services is transferred to the customer. Transfer of 
control occurs when the following conditions are met:

•	the company does not have the possibility to make use of the goods or services, as 
this has been transferred to the customer;

•	the significant risks and benefits associated with ownership of the goods has been 
transferred to the purchaser of the goods (generally upon shipment or delivery of the 
goods);

•	the value of the revenues is reliably determined;
•	the economic benefits deriving from the sale will be used by the Company;
•	the costs sustained or to be sustained are reliably determined.

Revenues from services are recognised once the services are complete.
Revenues of a financial nature are recognised on an accrual basis.
Dividends are recognised when they are received, under the item "Income from equity 
investments".
Costs are recognised using criteria analogous to those used for the recognition of reve-
nues, and in any case on an accrual basis.



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2024  I  BURGO GROUP SEPAR ATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 217216

S
E

C
T

IO
N

 3

BURGO GROUP

Estimates and assumptions

Application of certain accounting standards necessarily requires significant elements 
based on estimates and assumptions that are uncertain when formulated. For the 
2020 financial statements, it is held that the assumptions made were appropriate and 
consequently, that the financial statements were prepared with the intent of clarity and 
to truly and accurately represent the equity and financial situation and the economic 
results for the year. Within the explanatory notes, information is provided in the rel-
evant sections about the reasons underlying decisions made, measurements taken and 
estimate criteria adopted in applying the international accounting standards. In order 
to formulate reliable estimates and hypotheses, historic experience was used, as well as 
other factors deemed reasonable for the case in question, on the basis of the informa-
tion available. Nonetheless, it cannot be excluded that changes in said estimates and 
assumptions could create significant effects on the equity and economic situation, as 
well as on the potential liabilities and assets reported within the financial statement 
disclosures, in the case that different elements of judgement arise with respect to those 
previously expressed. More specifically, greater use of subjective assessments on the 
part of company management was necessary in the following cases:

•	determining impairment of goodwill, property, plant and equipment and equity 
investments;

•	determining the fair value of financial assets and liabilities when the amounts could 
not be directly observed on active markets. In this case, the subjective elements are 
found in the selection of measurement models and input parameters that may not be 
observable on the market;

•	quantifying provisions for risks and charges and provisions for employee benefits, due 
to the uncertainty of that required, survival times and actuarial hypotheses used;

•	estimating the recoverability of prepaid tax assets.

The presentation of these cases is provided with the intention of allowing those reading 
the financial statements to better understand the main areas of uncertainty but is not in 
any case to suggest that alternative assumptions could be appropriate or more valid.
Estimates and assumptions are periodically reviewed, and the effects of each change are 
shown in the annual income statement for the period in which the change occurred.

Statement of financial position

Non-current assets
1  |  Property, plant and equipment

The assets indicated in the following breakdown are included in this item:

Flows from property,
plant and equipment €/000	

Historic cost at start of period		  179,213   	 915,920   	 2,513   	 21,619   	 18,566   	 1,137,831                  
	 Increases during period		  313   	 11,495   	 63   	 760   	 6,702   	 19,333   
	 Disposals during period		  -   	 (9,080)  	 -   	 (326)  	 -   	 (9,405)  
	 Other changes		  96   	 10,842   	 15   	 323   	 (11,276)  	 -                      

Historic cost at period end		  179,622   	 929,178   	 2,592   	 22,376   	 13,992   	 1,147,759                

Provision for amortization/
depreciation at start of period		  135,533   	 828,239   	 2,403   	 20,441   	 -   	 986,615                  
	 Amortization/depreciation
	 during period		  1,159   	 15,799   	 65   	 550   	 -   	 17,573   
	 Uses during period		  -   	 (8,660)  	 -   	 (312)  	 -   	 (8,972)                                
	

Provision for amortization/
depreciation at period end		  136,692   	 835,377   	 2,468   	 20,679   	 -   	 995,216                

Net book value at period end		  42,930   	 93,800   	 124   	 1,697   	 13,992   	 152,543   

Land and 
buildings

Industrial 
and sales 

equipment

Fixed assets in 
progress

Plant and 
machinery

Other 
assets

Total

Property, plant and equipment €/000	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change

Property, plant and equipment	 151,216   	 152,543   	 1,327   

Property investments		  139   	 134   	 (5)  

Right of use assets		  1,458   	 3,484   	 2,026   

 		  152,814   	 156,162   	 3,348   

Property, plant and equipment

The table below shows changes occurring during the year:
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The increase in the net book value of property, plant and equipment, for € 1,327 thou-
sand, originated mainly from the following components:

• increases for € 19,333 thousand (€ 25,158 thousand in 2023) relative to: investments 
during the year for € 17,423 thousand (see the Report on Operations for more details); 
other increases for € 155 thousand relative to internal work; capitalisation of financial 
expenses for € 142 thousand, calculated using a 1.68% rate, in implementation of IAS 
23; advances on extraordinary maintenance projects for € 1,430 thousand; and capital-
isation of technology and innovation design hours for € 183 thousand; 

• decreases for disposals, sales and write-downs for € 9,405 thousand (€ 27,534 thousand 
in 2023), of which the main item is € 4,277 thousand (of which the net residual value 
is zero) for the asset sale to Mondi as part of the disposal of the Duino site.

The change in the amortization provision of € 8,601 thousand (€ 4,589 thousand in 
2023) can be broken down as follows:

• increases for depreciation during the year of € 17,573 thousand;
• decreases following the disposal of systems for € 8,972 thousand, as listed above;

At the end of the year, the residual life of the company's property, plant and equip-
ment was reviewed, with any necessary changes made to the depreciation plan. 
Fully depreciated assets still in use have a historic cost equal to € 534,068 thousand.
Pursuant to article 10 of Italian Law 72 of 19 March 1983, relative to revaluations, 
below is a breakdown of revaluation balances at 31/12/2024, equal to € 173,274 thou-
sand and almost entirely depreciated. 

Monetary revaluations pursuant to
article 2427, no. 2, Italian Civil Code  €/000	

Land and buildings		  4,488 	 17,573 	 33,474 	 19,618 	 75,153 

Plants and machinery		  14,092 	 79,767 		  2,408 	 96,267 

Industrial and sales equipment		  89 	 266 		  83 	 438 

Other assets		  277 	 963 	  	 177 	 1,416  

		  	 18,946 	 98,569 	 33,474 	 22,285 	 173,274 

Law 576/75 Law 413/91Law 72/83 Other Total

Flow of property investments  €/000	 	 Civil land	 Civil buildings	 Total 

Historic cost at start of period			   67   	 162   	 230         

	 Increases during period			   -   	 -   	 -   

	 Disposals during period			   -   	 -   	 -   

	 Revaluations, impairment during period		  -   	 -   	 -   

	 Transfer			   -   	 -   	 -   

	 Other changes			   -   	 -   	 -       

Historic cost at period end			   67   	 162   	 230         

Provision for amortization/depreciation at start of period	 -   	 91   	 91         

	 Amortization/depreciation during period		 -   	 5   	 5   

	 Uses during period			   -   	 -   	 -   

	 Transfer			   -   	 -   	 -   

	 Other changes in the provision		  -   	 -   	 -           

Provision for amortization/depreciation at period end	 -   	 96   	 96  

Net book value at period end			   67   	 67	 134

Property investments

During the year, changes in civil properties consisted of amortization totalling € 5 
thousand.
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Right of use assets

Right of use assets flow €/000	

Historic cost at start of period	 376   	 744   	 2,532   	 578   	 1,274   	 258   	 5,762               
Increases during period	 88   	 308   	 2,630   	 350   	 77   	 -   	 3,452   

Disposals during period	  -     	 -   	 (388)  	 (136)  	 (74)  	 -   	 (597)  

Other changes	  -     	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 (258)  	 (258)                

Historic cost at period end	 463   	 1,052   	 4,774   	 792   	 1,277   	 -   	 8,358               
Provision for amortization/
depreciation at start of period	 (213)  	 (547)  	 (2,068)  	 (458)  	 (1,017)  	 -   	 (4,303)          
Amortization/depreciation
during period	 (44)  	 (167)  	 (391)  	 (92)  	 (235)  	 -   	 (928)  

Uses during period	 -   	 -   	 248   	 54   	 55   	 -   	 357   

Other changes	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -             

Provision for amortization/
depreciation at period end	 (257)  	 (714)  	 (2,210)  	 (496)  	 (1,197)  	 -   	 (4,874)          

Net book value at period end	 206   	 338   	 2,564   	 296   	 81   	 -   	 3,484   

Commercial 
leases

Industrial 
leases

IT Fixed assets in 
progress

Residential 
leases

Vehicle 
leases

Total

In 2024 there was a significant increase due to new contracts for leased assets signed 
or entered into as part of the application of IFRS 16, amounting to € 3,452 thousand. 
The increases in the year mainly regard an increase in industrial leases amounting to 
€ 2,630 thousand, of which € 2,100 thousand for the new steam turbine at Villorba, 
including the value of fixed assets in progress recorded in the previous year, for € 258 
thousand. There were also increases for residential leases for € 308 thousand, vehicle 
leases for € 350 thousand, commercial leases for € 88 thousand, and IT equipment 
leases for € 77 thousand.
Depreciation/amortization during the year totalled € 928 thousand; disposals in the 
year came to € 597 thousand, against write-offs of the provision for € 357 thousand.
During the year, plants that showed signs of impairment were subject to impairment 
testing. None of the impairment tests performed indicated a need to carry out write-
downs.

For the purposes of the impairment test, the main assumptions, in line with current 
measurements of the cost of money, which take into account the specific risks of the 
CGUs, involve the risk-free rate of 3.50% (4.27% in 2023), the market risk premium 
unchanged on the previous year at 5.50% (increased, in 2024, from a minimum of 
1.0% to a maximum of 3.5% to incorporate other risks for certain CGUs), the growth 
rate of 2.00%, the cost of debt before taxes of 1.93% (1.79% in 2023) and the ratio 
between equity and debt, respectively equal to 67.97% and 32.03% (respectively 
83.97% and 16.03% the previous year) derived as the average value of a panel of com-
parable listed companies in the same sector.

It is reported that the Company had no goodwill recognised to the balance sheet 
under assets at year-end.

Increases, totalling € 439 thousand, mainly refer to investments in software and usage 
licenses. 
Amortization during the year was equal to € 740 thousand.
The value of intangible assets fully amortized but still in use was € 8,926 thousand.   

2  |  Intangible assets

The balance is as follows:

Intangible assets €/000			   31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Intangible assets with defined life			 

Concessions, licenses, trademarks and similar right	 1,493   	 1,238   	 (255)  

Fixed assets in progress and advances		  452   	 326   	 (126)            

 				    1,945   	 1,564   	 (382)  

				    1,945   	 1,564   	 (382)  
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Flow from intangible assets €/000	

Historic cost at start of period			   12,495   	 452   	 12,947            

	 Increases during period			   -   	 358   	 358   

	 Disposals during period			   -   	 -   	 -   

	 Revaluations, impairment during period		  -   	 -   	 -   

	 Other changes			   485   	 (485)  	 -              
			 

Historic cost at period end			   12,979   	 326   	 13,305   

Provision for amortization/depreciation at start of period		 11,001   	 -   	 11,001            

	 Amortization/depreciation during period		  740   	 -   	 740   

	 Uses during period			   -   	 -   	 -   

	 Other changes in the provision		  -   	 -   	 -               
		

Provision for amortization/depreciation at period end		  11,741   	 -   	 11,741   

Net book value at period end			   1,238   	 326   	 1,564   

Fixed assets in 
progress and 

advances

Concessions, 
licenses, trademarks 

and similar rights

Total

3  |  Other non-current assets

Equity investments and securities 

These include the items indicated below: 

Equity investments and securities  €/000		  31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Gever S.p.A			   1,243   	 1,243   	 -   

Burgo Ardennes S.A.			   292,701   	 292,701   	 -   

Burgo Benelux S.à r.l.			   290   	 290   	 -   

Burgo France S.à r.l.			   2   	 2   	 -   

Burgo UK Ltd			   388   	 388   	 -   

Burgo Central Europe GmbH			   377   	 377   	 -   

Burgo North America Inc			   110   	 110   	 -   

Burgo Factor S.p.A.			   4,105   	 4,105   	 -   

Burgo Distribuzione S.r.l.			   11,530   	 11,530   	 -   

S.E.F.E. S.à r.l.			   0   	 0   	 -   

Burgo Energia S.r.l.			   15   	 15   	 -   

Mosaico S.p.A.			   123,620   	 123,620   	 -   

Burgo Eastern Europe Sp. z o.o.			   1   	 1   	 -   

Burgo Recycling S.r.l.			   51   	 51   	 -           

Equity investments in subsidiaries		  434,431   	 434,431   	 -   

Equity investments in associates		  16   	 16   	 -   

Equity investments in other companies		  7,174   	 9,052   	 1,878   

				    441,622   	 443,500   	 1,878   

The increase in “Equity investments in other companies” is due to the reclassifica-
tion of the loans to Consorzio Italia Energy Interconnector as part of the obligations 
arising from the Interconnector procedure, which in the previous year were recognised 
as financial receivables from other companies. This investment was subject to a write-
downs of € 350 thousand, recorded on the balance sheet.
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(*)	 The figures for each investee were taken from the 2024 financial statements of 2024 draft financial statements. In the cases in 
which the carrying value was higher than the portion of shareholders' equity, also taking into account adjustments required 
in preparation of the consolidated financial statements, the greater value is justified by unexpressed values relative to the 
investee, such as goodwill. More specifically, in terms of significance, we note that the differential between the carrying value 
of the equity investment in Burgo Ardennes SA and the relative recognisable shareholders' equity (statutory shareholders' 
equity plus profits from the current year), equal to € 190.4 million (€ 194.2 million at 31-12-2023), originated with the 
allocation within the carrying value of the equity investment of the portion of the shortfall arising from the Cartiere Burgo/
Dieci merger in financial year 2001, for a total of € 103 million. This greater value was allocated, in the consolidated financial 
statements, to tangible fixed assets associated with Burgo Ardennes SA on the basis of a specific exchange appraisal. At 
31 December 2024, the value of the subsidiary's shareholders' equity, expressed on the basis of international accounting 
standards for the consolidated financial statements of Burgo Group S.p.A., was € 142.9 million (€ 141.7 million at 31-12-2023) 
with a difference of € 149.8 million (€ 151 million at 31-12-2023) with respect to the carrying value in the parent company's 
financial statements, consisting of total and accumulated dividends distributed between financial years 2001 and 2024 and 
positive results achieved. Despite the profits recognised by the associated company, which has always achieved annual 
profits, cash flows forecast for coming years as well as the strategic importance of the equity investment within the Burgo 
Group, an impairment test was still performed, which did not indicate any lasting losses of value (paragraph 12.h.i IAS 36).

 (**)	 100% held, including the indirect shares held by Mosaico S.p.A..

Equity investments in subsidiaries and in other companies

List of equity investments pursuant to article 2427, no. 5, Italian Civil Code	. €/000	

Subsidiaries									       

Gever S.p.A. in Liquidation	 Altavilla Vicentina (VI)	 EUR	 100   	 1,716   	 419   	 100,00   	 1,243

Burgo Ardennes S.A.	 Virton (Belgium)	 EUR	 75,000   	 142,893   	 12,034   	 99,99**	 292,701

Burgo Benelux S.à r.l.	 Virton (Belgium)	 EUR	 248   	 324   	 124   	 100,00	 290   

Burgo France S.à r.l.	 Champeaux (France)	 EUR	 600   	 442   	 115   	 100,00   	 2   

Burgo UK Ltd	 Milton Keynes (UK)	 GBP	 250   	 834   	 64   	 100,00   	 388   

Burgo Central Europe GmbH	 Munich (Germany)	 EUR	 256   	 628   	 59   	 100,00   	 377   

Burgo North America Inc.	 Stamford - Connecticut (USA)	 USD	 100   	 1,174   	 (25)  	 100,00   	 110   

Burgo Factor S.p.A.	 Milan	 EUR	 3,000   	 37,053   	 2,650   	 90,00   	 4,105   

Burgo Distribuzione S.r.l.	 Altavilla Vicentina (VI)	 EUR	 9,060   	 14,815   	 3,441   	 100,00   	 11,530  

S.E.F.E. S.à r.l.	 Ecouviez (France)	 EUR	 76   	 498   	 (290)  	 0,20	 -   

Burgo Energia S.r.l.	 Altavilla Vicentina (VI)	 EUR	 5,015   	 10,000   	 4,887   	 100,00   	 15   

Mosaico S.p.A.	 Altavilla Vicentina (VI)	 EUR	 75,000   	 145,616   	 12,466   	 100,00   	 123,620   

Burgo Eastern Europe Sp. z o.o.	 Warsaw (Poland)	 PLN	 5   	 2,383   	 319   	 100,00   	 1   

Burgo Recycling S.r.l.	 Altavilla Vicentina (VI)	 EUR	 100   	 598   	 97   	 51,00   	 51   

								        434.431

Company name Registered office Share capital (*) Profit (loss) (*)Shareholders’ equity (*) Stake directly held Book value



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2024  I  BURGO GROUP SEPAR ATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 227226

S
E

C
T

IO
N

 3

BURGO GROUP

Financial receivables and other non-current financial assets

The receivable due from the parent company, already present the previous year, consists of 
a medium-term loan disbursed to the subsidiary Mosaico S.p.A. for € 2,800 thousand. 
On the other hand, receivables due from other companies refer to a shareholder loan to 
Consorzio Italia Energy Interconnector, relative to obligations deriving from the Inter-
connector procedure, which in 2024 decreased by € 1,597 thousand due to the reclassifi-
cation to equity investments as evidenced in Note 3, partly offset by discounting.

Other receivables and non-current assets

Other receivables and non-current assets consist of security deposits for € 10,938 
thousand. The increase, of € 764 thousand, is mainly due to the increase in the securi-
ty deposit made with Terna relative to the Interconnector procedure, for amounts paid 
during 2024 to guarantee the execution of interconnection work. 

Financial receivables and other  
non-current financial assets  €/000	 	

31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Non-current financial receivables due from subsidiaries	 2,800   	 2,800   	 -   

Non-current financial receivables due from others	 6,950   	 5,352   	 (1,597)  

 				    9,750   	 8,152   	 (1,597)  

Other receivables and non-current assets €/000	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Non-current sundry receivables due from others	 0   	 0   	 -   

Non-current security deposits			   10,174   	 10,938   	 764   

 				    10,175   	 10,938   	 764   

4  |  Deferred tax assets

These amounted to € 18,107 thousand. The balance in the accounts includes allocations 
for deferred taxes which it is held can be compensated for with deferred tax payables.
Below are the details:

Deferred tax assets €/000	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	

IRES						    

Derivatives		  (6,961)  	 24.0   	 (1,671)  	 (4,255)  	 24.0  	 (1,021)  

IAS 19 discounting - actuarial G/L		  2,695   	 24.0   	 647   	 2,687   	 24.0   	 645   

Amortization, depreciation and write-downs	 10,743   	 24.0  	 2,578   	 10,419   	 24.0   	 2,501   

IRES losses to be used in future financial years	 24,401   	 24.0   	 5,856   	 19,437   	 24.0  	 4,665   

Allocation of shortfall		  (17,403)  	 24.0  	 (4,177)  	 (17,019)  	 24.0   	 (4,085)  

Other items		  16,426   	 24.0  	 3,942   	 11,890   	 24.0   	 2,854                    

			   94,489   		  22,677   	 71,582   		  17,180                 

IRAP						    

Taxed provisions (allocated)		  34,516   	 3.9   	 1,346   	 21,695   	 3.9    	 846   

Amortization, depreciation and write-downs	 9,895   	 3.9    	 386   	 8,624   	 3.9    	 336   

Allocation of shortfall		  (17,407)  	 3.9    	 (679)  	 (17,023)  	 3.9    	 (664)  

Derivatives		  1,509   	 3.9   	 59   	 (977)  	 3.9    	 (38)  

Other items		  15,379   	 3.9    	 600   	 11,463   	 3.9    	 447                   

			   43,892   		  1,712   	 23,783   		  928             

					     24,389   			   18,107   

Taxable (Debit)/
credit

% rate% rate Taxable (Debit)/
credit
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In 2024, the Company recognised the following main effects in the item deferred tax 
assets:

• lower tax assets relating to previous years’ IRES losses to be used in future financial 
years. The change, amounting to € 1,191 thousand, is due to the utilisation made to 
reduce the taxable base of the current year;

• lower IRES and IRAP tax assets for non-deductible impairment and amortization/
depreciation for € 127 thousand;

• lower IRES and IRAP tax assets on taxed provisions for € 4,380 thousand, in par-
ticular for allocations made to provisions for risks and charges, and for other costs 
allocated for and not deducted;

• lower IRES tax liabilities for € 553 thousand on the sum of assets and liabilities for 
hedging derivatives recognised almost entirely in Shareholders’ equity under hedge 
accounting as required by IFRS 9; 

• lower IRES and IRAP deferred tax assets for € 1,241 thousand, under Other items 
with temporary tax differences. 

For more details about the applicable rate, please see note 35 "income taxes".

Note that the Company's losses can currently all be carried forward indefinitely. 
Recognition of deferred tax assets relative to a portion of IRES tax losses that can 
be carried forward is justified by a reasonable expectation of sufficient future taxable 
income, in the context of national tax consolidation, based on the economic forecasts 
found in the industrial plan.

Tax losses €/000	 2023 	 2024	

2002	 can be carried forward indefinitely	 24,401	 5,856	 19,437	 4,665

		  24,401	 5,856	 19,437	 4,665

lossmaturity tax taxloss

Please note that 2002 tax losses can only be used by Burgo Group S.p.A..
The difference between the losses accrued at the end of 2023 and 2024 derives from 
the use of these losses to reduce Burgo Group S.p.A.'s taxable base for the current 
year and for adjustments between the estimated tax calculation recorded in the 
Financial Statements as at 31 December 2023 and the final tax return.
It is worth noting that as of 31 December 2023, the group has tax losses for IRES 
amounting to € 112,030 thousand, for which no deferred tax assets have been rec-
ognized.

Below are the details of tax losses recognised in the financial statements, which gene-
rated deferred taxes, net of uses for the group.
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Current assets

5   |  Inventories

Warehouse inventories increased overall by € 6,944 thousand (in 2023 the change was 
€ -56,051 thousand).
The value of raw materials, stocks, consumables and finished products is shown net of the 
provision for obsolescence for € 13,850 thousand (€ 14,757 thousand the previous year).
This provision was adjusted during the year on the basis of the most recent assess-
ments of the risk of not recovering the value of inventories.
The increase in the value of raw materials, for € 4,493 thousand, is mainly attributable 
to an increase in stock volumes at year-end.
The value of inventories at € 16,708 thousand is in line with the figure at the end of 
the previous year. 
The increase in the value of products in progress and finished products for € 1,574 
thousand is due to higher quantities in stock for € 2,434 thousand, partly offset by 
a decrease in the average production cost linked to the reduced cost of raw materials 
and energy for € -860 thousand.  

Warehouse inventories €/000			   31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

	 Raw materials inventories			   16,503   	 20,996   	 4,493   

	 Spare parts			   16,738   	 16,708   	 (30)  

	 Provision for impairment of raw materials and spare parts	 (8,304)  	 (8,774)  	 (470)            

Raw materials, subsidiary and consumable items	 24,937   	 28,931   	 3,993            

	 Products in progress and semi-finished products	 8,714   	 10,446   	 1,732   

Products in progress and semi-finished products	 8,714   	 10,446   	 1,732   

	 Finished products and goods			   30,738   	 30,580   	 (158)  

	 Provision for impairment of products		  (6,453)  	 (5,076)  	 1,377      

Finished products			   24,285   	 25,503   	 1,218   

 				    57,936   	 64,880   	 6,944   

6  |  Trade receivables

Trade receivables due from third parties decreased by € 18,532 thousand mainly due 
to lower sales during the final quarter of the year in question, compared to the previ-
ous year, and an improvement in payment terms.
Receivables from other Group companies decreased by € 13,401 thousand mainly due 
to decreased sales to Burgo Ardennes S.A. and Burgo Distribuzione S.r.l. 
Trade receivables do not accrue interest. It is held that the value inserted (adjusted by 
the provision for doubtful accounts) approximates the presumable realisable value.
The provision for doubtful accounts is adequate to risk coverage requirements.
The table below provides a breakdown of trade receivables by geographic area, exclu-
sive of infra-group transactions.

Trade receivables €/000			   31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

From customers			   79,315   	 60,783   	 (18,532)  

Provision for doubtful accounts			   (24,815)  	 (22,273)  	 2,542              

				    54,500   	 38,510   	 (15,990)       

Relative to the Group companies			   61,110   	 47,709   	 (13,401)  

from affiliated companies			   2,924   	 6,861   	 3,938              

				    64,034   	 54,570   	 (9,464)    

				    118,534   	 93,080   	 (25,454)  

Trade receivables by geographic area  €/000	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Itay				   18,833   	 12,715   	 (6,118)  

Europe E.U.			   28,743   	 21,234   	 (7,509)  

Other countries			   6,924   	 4,560   	 (2,364)  

				    54,500   	 38,510   	 (15,990)  
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7  |  Other receivables and current assets

Other receivables and current assets decreased by € 7,358 thousand. The main changes 
are described in detail below:

• tax receivables decreased by € 2,207, mainly due to lower IRES and IRAP tax credits, 
amounting to € 1,455, and lower VAT credits from the tax authorities, equal to € 407 
thousand; 

• receivables for tax consolidation relative to subsidiaries: these decreased by € 2,783 
thousand mainly due to a lower receivable from the subsidiary Mosaico S.p.A.;

• sundry receivables due from others: these fell by € 4,555 thousand, mainly due to the 
write-off of a security deposit paid to GSE;

• derivative asset entries for energy costs increased by € 832 thousand.

Other receivables and current assets €/00	 	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Current tax receivables			   8,738   	 6,531   	 (2,207)         

	 Current sundry receivables due from subsidiaries	 287   	 1,173   	 887   

	 Current tax consolidation receivables due from subsidiaries	 10,663   	 7,880   	 (2,783)               

Sundry receivables due from group companie	 10,950   	 9,054   	 (1,896)          

	 Current sundry receivables due from others	 5,144   	 589   	 (4,555)  

	 Current receivables due from social security entities	 23   	 22   	 (1)  

	 Current derivative assets			   144   	 977   	 832          

Other sundry receivables			   5,311   	 1,588   	 (3,723)                

Other assets			   498   	 967   	 469      

 				    25,497   	 18,139   	 (7,358)  

8  |  Financial receivables and other current financial assets

Among other things, the balance includes financial receivables due from subsidiaries 
represent pass-through items in the context of coordinated treasury management
(€ 16,626 thousand).

Specifically, receivables due from subsidiaries consist of the following positions:

• Burgo Energia S.r.l.: € 13,840 thousand (€ 8,332 thousand at 31 December 2023);
• Burgo Distribuzione S.r.l.: € 2,786 thousand (€ 1,238 thousand at 31 December 2023);
• Burgo Factor S.p.A. € 0 (€ 267 thousand at 31 December 2023);
• Burgo Ardennes S.A. € 0 (€ 4,391 thousand at 31 December 2023).

Under financial receivables due from others, the assets in the deposit account, totalling 
€ 2,442 thousand, were not freely available for a portion equalling € 1,829 thousand, 
because of a pledge lien to guarantee an FIT subsidised loan granted to the Sora plant.
Financial assets for current derivatives amounted to € 3,536 thousand to cover medium 
to long-term credit lines.
The item “Other assets” includes prepaid expenses totalling € 189 thousand relative to 
costs for the revolving credit facility, accrued interest income for € 1,583 thousand and 
accrued income on derivatives hedging interest rates for € 863 thousand.

Financial receivables and other current financial assets  €/000	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Financial receivables due from subsidiaries		  14,228   	 16,626   	 2,398   

Financial receivables due from others		  3,415   	 3,142   	 (273)  

Derivative financial assets			   9,175   	 3,536   	 (5,638)  

Other financial assets			   2,347   	 2,634   	 287      

			   	 29,165   	 25,939   	 (3,226)  
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9  |  Cash on hand and other cash equivalents

Liquidity and on demand bank deposits accrue interest at variable market rates. The 
book value, which represents the nominal value, is also equal to the fair value.
It is reported that cash equivalents include readily convertible deposit accounts, with 
repayment on demand or with a maximum maturity of three months, for a total of
€ 120,000 thousand, subscribed during the year.
For a comment on the change in the item current accounts and other loans, please see 
note 16 "current financial liabilities".
Below is a reconciliation table for the item "Cash on hand and other cash equivalents" 
with net monetary availability recognised in the cash flow statement:

Cash on hand and other cash equivalents  €/000	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Bank and postal deposits			   243,697   	 251,212   	 7,515   

Cash and cash on hand			   12   	 12   	 0   

 				    243,709   	 251,224   	 7,515   

Reconciliation of cash on hand 
and other cash equivalents €/000		

31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Cash on hand and other cash equivalents		  243,709   	 251,224   	 7,515   

shared current accounts receivable		  14,228   	 16,626   	 2,398   

shared current accounts payable			   (79,256)  	 (101,540)  	 (22,284)  

Current accounts and other loans			  0   	 (0)  	 (0)    

				    178,681   	 166,309   	 (12,371)  

Shareholders’ equity

10  |  Shareholders’ equity

Total shareholders' equity amounted to € 618,234 thousand (€ 569,605 thousand at 31 
December 2023).
Share capital at 31 December 2024 consisted of 2,168,857,500 ordinary shares with 
no nominal value, for a total value of € 90,000 thousand. 
The company has no treasury shares in its portfolio.

Shareholders' equity at 31 December 2024 increased by € 48,629 thousand with 
respect to 31 December 2023, as a consequence of:

• profit for the year of € 73,417 thousand;
• distribution of dividends of € 22,754 thousand, of which € 18,204 thousand from 

the reserve for Equity Financial Instruments component of profit reserve and € 4,550 
thousand from the 2023 result;

• the recognition in the reserve, net of taxes, of actuarial gains based on that required 
under IAS 19, which led to an increase of € 120 thousand;

• the recognition, in the CFH reserve, net of taxes, of the fair value of financial instru-
ments recognised using hedge accounting (cash flow hedge) for a negative change of 
€ 2,154 thousand.

For more information, please see the "Statement of changes in shareholders' equity".
The table below breaks down the reserves, including profits carried forward:

Reserves and profits carried forward €/000	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Distributable reserve from share capital reduction	 138,797   	 138,797   	 -   

Legal			   18,000   	 18,000   	 -   

Reserve for equity financial instruments		  101,554   	 83,350   	 (18,204)  

Non-distributable exchange gains reserve		  2,559   	 793   	 (1,766)  

Other reserves			   238   	 238   	 -   

IAS 19 reserve			   (6,482)  	 (6,362)  	 120   

Reserve for accounting standard change - FTA		  4,686   	 4,686   	 -   

Cash flow hedge reserve			   5,349   	 3,195   	 (2,154)           

				    264,701   	 242,698   	 (22,003)        
Reserve for retained earnings/(loss)		  147,275   	 212,119   	 64,843            

				    147,275   	 212,119   	 64,843   
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Deferred taxes relative to items directly attributed to shareholders' equity are as follows:

To complete the information provided about shareholders' equity, below is the sched-
ule pursuant to article 2427, no. 7 bis of the Italian Civil Code, which provides the 
items composing shareholders' equity, broken down on the basis of their origin, pos-
sibility of use and whether they can be distributed, as well as uses made in previous 
years. This classification takes into account the amendments made to the Italian Civil 
Code by Italian Legislative Decree 139 of 18 August 2015, and was also carried out on 
the basis of the indications found in “Guide to regulations on distribution of profits 
and reserves pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 38 of 28 February 2005”, issued by 
the Italian Accounting Body.

Deferred taxes recognised directly 				     
to shareholders' equity  €/000	 		

31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Fair value changes in cash flow hedges		  (1,612)  	 (1,059)  		 553   

Actuarial losses			   1,788   	 1,750   		 (38)  

				    176   	 691   	 515   

	 Key:

A:	 for capital increase;
B: 	 to cover losses;
C: 	 for distribution to shareholders;
D: 	 for other provisions in the Articles of Association.
(1) 	 Reserve for fair value adjustment of hedging derivatives and the relative 

underlying assets/liabilities. This reserve is correlated with the recogni-
tion of cash flow hedges. In particular, it refers to unrealised gains and 
losses, net of the relative tax effects, which derive from the fair value 
adjustment of a cash flow hedge and its relative underlying elements. 
Note that, in application of Italian Legislative Decree 38/2005, this re-
serve is subject to the unavailability regime established under article 6, 
paragraph 1, letter b of the same decree.

(2) 	 Reserve for gains/losses from discounting of defined benefit plans, 
based on that required under IAS 19.

(3) 	 Reserve for fair value adjustment of financial assets available for sale. 
Note that, in application of Italian Legislative Decree 38/2005, this re-
serve is subject to the unavailability regime established under article 6, 
paragraph 1, letter b of the same decree.

(4) 	 The purposes for which this reserve can be used are not indicated, given 
that it is a negative value which is offset by decreasing the portion avail-
able of any profits carried forward.

(5) 	 Not available for distribution to shareholders, considering that it is a 
negative value.

(6) 	 Merger surplus from cancellation, comparable to a profit reserve.

Distributability of reserves pursuant to article 2427,
no. 7 bis, Italian Civil Code  €/000	

Capital reserves:				  
Distributable reserve for C.S. reduction		  138,797 		  A, B, C		  138,797 
SFP reserve, distributable			   46,646 		  B, D		  46,646  	

				    185,443 				    185,443  

Profit reserves:				  
SFP reserve, distributable			   36,705 		  B, D		  36,705 	
Legal reserve			   18,000	  	 B		  0 	
CFH reserve			   3,195 				    0 	   (1)
IAS 19 reserve			     (6,362)				    0 	 (2) (4)
FTA reserve (Italian Legislative Decree 38/2005 art,7 paragraph 7)	 4,686 		  B		  0 	
Merger surplus			   238 		  A, B, C		  238 	   (6)
Reserve for unrealised exchange gains		  793 		  A, B		  0 	  	

			   	 57,255 				    36,942   

Reserve for retained earnings/(loss)		  212,119 		  A, B, C		  212,119  		

				    212,119 				    212,119 

				    269,374 				    249,062	

				    454,817 				    434,504 

amount possibility
of use

"portion available 
for distribution"



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2024  I  BURGO GROUP SEPAR ATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 239238

S
E

C
T

IO
N

 3

BURGO GROUP

The tax regime for the reserve is illustrated below.
In regard to suspended tax reserves, the legal reserve is bound for tax purposes in 
the amount of € 709 thousand for the reconstitution of suspended tax reserves of 
companies incorporated in previous years. Recall that, for tax purposes, a constraint 
is set on amounts in reserves, equal to the balance of off the accounts deductions 
made and not yet reabsorbed, net of associated deferred taxes. This balance is esti-
mated to be around € 0.3 million at the end of 2024, net of deferred IRES taxes.
Recall that tax regulations do not envisage taxation, provided that after any dis-
tribution shareholders' equity reserves remain that are equal to the net amount 
reported above.

Non-current liabilities

11  |  Non-current financial liabilities

Non-current financial liabilities  €/000	 	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Loan payables			   150,223   	 30,340   	 (119,883)  

Right of use liabilities			   620   	 2,564   	 1,944   

 				    150,843   	 32,904   	 (117,939)  

Right of use liabilities - flows €/000	

Non-current right of use liabilities		 620   	 -   	 (706)  	 2,650   	 2,564   

Current right of use liabilities		  615   	 (1,159)  	 706   	 544   	 706   

Total		  1,235   	 (1,159)  	 0   	 3,194   	 3,269   

Balance at start 
of period

IncreasesDecreases Reclassification Balance at 
end of period

Non-current financial liabilities include three medium-term credit lines: one amor-
tising loan for an initial nominal value of € 200,000 thousand, one bullet loan line 
of an initial nominal value of € 175,000 thousand, and one SACE-backed loan of an 
initial nominal value of € 150,000 thousand. At year-end, the portion of the three 
credit lines above to be paid after the end of the year amounted to € 30,340, reported 
net of the current portion of € 121,947 thousand. 
Non-current financial liabilities also include:

• a subsidised loan of € 754 thousand (initial nominal value of € 3,292 thousand) and 
a bank loan of € 170 thousand, relative to admission to receive the benefits of the 
Fund for Technological Innovation, Law FIT 46/82 for the Sora plant;

• liabilities for rights of use for € 2,564 thousand, following application of IFRS 16.
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Interest on variable rate loans was determined every six months. Almost all variable 
rate medium and long-term loans were hedged against interest rate risk. The condi-
tions for fixed rate loans remained constant through to maturity of the instruments. 
For all payables relative to loans, valued at the amortized cost, it is held that the book 
value reflects the fair value of the financial instrument as of the reporting date.

Loan payables - breakdown of maturity dates €/000	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

from 2 - 3 years			   143,958   	 30,340   	 (113,618)  

from 4 - 5 years			   6,265   	 -   	 (6,265)    

				    150,223   	 30,340   	 (119,883)  

Right of use liabilities - breakdown of maturity dates €/000	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

from 2 - 3 years			   430   	 1,150   	 720   

from 4 - 5 years			   168   	 822   	 654   

over 5 years			   22   	 592   	 570      

				    620   	 2,564   	 1,944   

12  |  Severance indemnities (TFR) and other provisions relative to personnel 

TFR (severance indemnity) €/000		  31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Actuarial measurement of TFR at start of period	 8,289   	 7,703   	 (586)  

Payments			   (1,018)  	 (938)  	 80   

TFR discounting - IAS 19 reserve			   (102)  	 (158)  	 (56)  

TFR discounting - financial expenses (income)	 411   	 224   	 (187)  

Other changes - incoming (outgoing) transfers	 122   	 77   	 (46)   

			    	 7,703   	 6,907   	 (796)  

For actuarial measurement of the provision for severance indemnities (TFR) at 31 
December 2024, on the basis of accounting standard IAS 19 an independent actuary 
carried out the calculation, based on information provided by the Company.
In the calculation, the actuary made use of the following demographic hypotheses:

• to estimate probability of death within the group of employees subject to measure-
ment, the estimate provided by the ISTAT 2022 table was used;

• to estimate probability of disability within the group of employees subject to meas-
urement, an INPS table was used, broken down by age and gender;

• for retirement age for the generic active population, achievement of the minimum 
requirements established for General Obligatory Insurance was assumed;

• for probability of departure for reasons other than death, an annual frequency of 
3.00% was considered (unchanged with respect to the previous year);

• for the probability of TFR advances, a yearly value of 2.00% was assumed (un-
changed with respect to the previous year).
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Financial economic hypotheses used in the measurement are described below:

Economic/financial hypotheses used	 	 2023	 2024

Annual theoretical discounting rate 		  3.08%	 3.18%

Annual inflation rate			   2.00%	 2.00%

Annual TFR increase rate			   3.00%	 3.00%

The validity of this data is connected to the stability of the reference regulatory 
situation, expected performance of interest rates on the financial market, the expect-
ed performance of salary trends, of future liquidation trends and the frequency with 
which employees make use of advances, which must be on average compatible with 
the economic/financial hypotheses made.
Based on the social security reform, since the Company has more than 50 employees 
future portions of the TFR provision accruing no longer accumulate within the com-
pany but go to supplementary social security or the INPS treasury fund. Therefore, 
projection of salaries based on given growth rates and professional roles is no longer 
necessary.

 13  |  Provisions for risks and charges 

Below is a breakdown of changes in the provisions:

Provisions for risks and charges €/000		  31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Provision for industrial charges			   8,934   	 5,188   	 (3,746)  

Provision for ongoing disputes			   23,068   	 13,992   	 (9,076)  

Provision for supplementary customer allowance	 794   	 793   	 (1)  

Provision for restructuring charges		  1,639   	 1,639   	 -      

 				    34,435   	 21,613   	 (12,823)  

Provisions for risks and charges - changes €/000	

Provision for industrial charges		  8,934   	 358   	 (4,104)  	 5,188   

Provision for ongoing disputes		  23,068   	 2,944   	 (12,019)  	 13,992   

Provision for supplementary customer allowance	 794   	 -   	 (1)  	 793   

Provision for restructuring charges	 1,639   	 -   	 -   	 1,639      

 			   34,435   	 3,302   	 (16,124)  	 21,613   

Balance at start 
of period

Increases Decreases Balance at 
end of period
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The provision for industrial charges is intended to cover:

• expenses expected to be incurred for the demolition and redevelopment of certain 
production plants;

• costs associated with rubbish dump management;
• charges associated with the CO2 quota deficit, calculated at 31 December 2024 after 

free allocations received on an accrual basis and acquisitions already made to deal with 
the deficit in question; during the year, provisions of € 34 thousand were recorded;

The provision for ongoing disputes is created to deal with potential liabilities that 
could arise in relation to legal disputes and disputed items. The provision was recorded 
at € 13,992 thousand. The decrease in the year was mainly due to utilisations for 
€ 4,923 thousand for an allocation recognised in the previous year relating to tax 
credits for energy-intensive companies, and a utilisation of € 7,000 thousand for settle-
ments of disputes over energy charges. However, provisions for € 1,130 thousand were 
recorded to the balance sheet for the dispute with the Abruzzo Region regarding water 
rights fees for hydroelectric use, and for € 1,337 thousand for employment-related 
legal disputes.
The provision for supplementary customer allowance represents the updated 
estimate of the indemnities to be paid to sales agents for interruption of the agency 
relationship. 
The provision for restructuring costs includes provisions made for expenses to be 
sustained to carry out the restructuring plan. 

Current liabilities

14  |  Current financial liabilities

The increase in current financial liabilities relates to the increase in the current portion 
of payables referring to medium-long term loans for € 98,677 thousand and to higher 
financial liabilities to subsidiaries for € 22,284 thousand.
Interest on variable rate loans was redetermined every six months. The conditions for 
fixed rate loans remained constant through to maturity of the instruments. For all 
payables relative to loans, valued at the amortized cost, it is held that the book value 
reflects the fair value of the financial instrument as of the reporting date. Additionally, 
the current portions of rights of use were recognised in the financial statements for
€ 706 thousand, in application of IFRS 16.
Payables due to subsidiaries for € 101,540 thousand include payables for current ac-
counts held with:

•	Gever S.p.A., in liquidation, € 1,856 thousand (€ 1,877 thousand in 2023);
•	Mosaico S.p.A. For € 51,309 thousand (€ 77,379 thousand in 2023); 
•	Burgo Ardennes S.A. € 40,439 thousand (€ 0 thousand in 2023); 
• Burgo Factor S.p.A. for € 7,936 thousand (€ 0 thousand in 2023).

Other financial liabilities, equal to € 1,416 thousand, include interest expenses payable ac-
cruing on medium/long-term loans and relative to the use of short-term bank credit lines.
Also note that for short-term financial needs, short-term credit lines are available total-
ling around € 201.5 million, at 31 December 2024 used for a total of around € 35.8 
million or 18%.

Current financial liabilities €/000		  31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Loan payables - current portion			   23,269   	 121,947   	 98,677   

Current accounts and other loans			  (0)  	 0   	 0   

Payables due to subsidiaries			   79,256   	 101,540   	 22,284   

Right of use liabilities			   615   	 706   	 91   

Other financial liabilities			   1,729   	 1,416   	 (313)   

 				    104,869   	 225,609   	 120,740   
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15  |  Trade payables

Trade payables do not accrue interest. The amount recognised in the financial state-
ments approximates the market value. The change to trade payables for € 9,222 thou-
sand compared to 31 December 2023 is due to lower purchase volumes in the final 
quarter of the year compared to the same period of the previous year. 
The significant reduction in payables due to Group companies is mainly attributa-
ble to the reduction in payables to the subsidiary Burgo Ardennes S.A. for € 46,873 
thousand, a portion of which referred to the year-end adjustments which, during the 
last year and contrary to the current period, increased the debt, and to the lower trade 
payables in respect of the subsidiary Mosaico S.p.A. for € 7,495 thousand.

The table below provides a breakdown by geographic area:

Trade payables €/000			   31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Current payables due to suppliers			  112,177   	 102,955   	 (9,222)  

Current trade payables due to subsidiaries		  108,162   	 55,313   	 (52,849)  

Current trade payables due to associated companies	 237   	 499   	 262      

 				    220,576   	 158,767   	 (61,809)  

Trade payables by geographic area  €/000		  31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Italy			   69,375   	 64,414   	 (4,961)  

Europe E.U.			   42,204   	 36,806   	 (5,398)  

Other countries			   598   	 1,735   	 1,137      

				    112,177   	 102,955   	 (9,222)  

Current tax payables amount to € 2,608 thousand. The increase is due to higher pa-
yables due to tax authorities for taxes to be paid in the form of substitute tax for € 506 
thousand. VAT payables refer to payables due to tax authorities in European countries 
in which the company holds a foreign VAT number which were written off at year-end.

Payables for current taxes €/000		  31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Tax payables, VAT			   28   	 0   	 (27)  

Payables for withholdings			   2,102   	 2,608   	 506   

			    	 2,129   	 2,608   	 479     

16  |  Current tax payables
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17  |  Other payables and current liabilities

Other payables and current liabilities €/000	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Current sundry payables due to others		  5,755   	 6,299   	 544      

Current sundry payables due to subsidiaries		  1,292   	 20   	 (1,273)  

Payables for commissions and premiums		  3,442   	 3,871   	 429   

Current tax consolidation payables due to subsidiaries	 1   	 5   	 3   

Payables due to personnel			   9,181   	 6,465   	 (2,717)  

Current payables due to social security entities	 2,493   	 2,889   	 396   

Current derivative liabilities			   1,632   	 3,864   	 2,232   

Deferred income from capital account grants		 1,125   	 1,007   	 (117)  

Other accrued expenses and deferred income	 452   	 623   	 171         

 				    25,373   	 25,042   	 (331)  

Please note in particular:

• reduction in payables due to subsidiaries for € 1,273 thousand following a reduction 
in VAT payables to subsidiaries;

• reduction in payables for € 2,717 thousand due to personnel mainly due to the allo-
cation of lower variable remuneration components at year-end;

• allocation of liabilities for current energy derivatives for € 3,864 thousand.

18  |  Commitments and potential liabilities

The following table shows the guarantees granted in the interest of subsidiaries, for 
€ 33,039 thousand, by credit institutions based on unsecured lines granted to the 
Company. 

The subsidiaries (contractors/debtors) are: 

• Burgo Recycling S.r.l. up compared to the previous year due to the development of 
its business;

• Burgo Distribuzione S.r.l. in line with the previous year;
• Burgo Energia S.r.l. down on the previous year following lower energy market prices;
• Mosaico S.p.A. in line with the previous year.

Furthermore, guarantees granted to other parties by banks and insurance companies 
in the interest of the Company, amounting to € 5,587 thousand, are also indicated, as 
are potential liabilities for TFR provisions transferred to subsidiaries (€ 7,686 thou-
sand) as part of extraordinary operations.

Commitments and potential liabilities €/000	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Personal guarantees provided in favour of:		

subsidiaries			   25,255   	 33,039   	 7,784   

other subjects			   17,439   	 13,273   	 (4,166)    

			    	 42,694   	 46,312   	 3,618   
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Annual Income Statement

Below are the main items which were not commented on relative to the annual 
income statement. For comments on changes in the most significant items, please see 
analysis of income results in the Report on Operations.

Revenues reduced by € 65,512 thousand, mainly due to the decrease in paper sales; 
energy-related revenues also reduced by € 15,052 thousand, while other revenues fell 
by € 1,927 thousand.
The reduction in paper revenues was due to lower average net sales prices for € 62,626 
thousand, partly offset by higher paper volumes which generated € 14,093 thousand 
in increased revenues.
Energy revenues came down sharply as a result of the drop in gas market prices, which 
had contracted significantly compared to the previous year.
Other revenues, which fell by € 1,927 thousand, refer to re-invoicing, particularly to 
subsidiaries, for various raw materials and services. 

Below is a breakdown of revenues by geographic area:

Revenues €/000			   31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Paper			   804,038   	 755,505   	 (48,533)  

Energy			   48,898   	 33,847   	 (15,052)  

Others			   16,539   	 14,612   	 (1,927)  

 				    869,476   	 803,964   	 (65,512)  

Markets €/000			   31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Italy			   350,993   	 307,887   	 (43,106)    

Europe E.U.			   405,475   	 381,367   	 (24,108)  

Other countries			   113,008   	 114,710   	 1,702      

				    869,476   	 803,964   	 (65,512)  

19  |  Revenues

20  |  Other income

Other income increased by € 965 thousand, with the change referring specifically to:

• higher insurance settlements on claims for € 742 thousand;
• lower profits from white certifications for € 1,780 thousand;
• higher revenues for recoveries and miscellaneous energy income mainly resulting 

from gas interruptibility service fees for a total of € 787 thousand and for electricity 
for € 1,653 thousand;

• lower contributions to operating and capital accounts, the latter for the year's com-
petence portions based on the useful life of the asset to which they refer.

Other income €/000			   31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Insurance settlements			   1,915   	 2,657   	 742   

Environmental certificates			   5,836   	 4,056   	 (1,780)  

Energy expenses recovery and reimbursements	 10,316   	 12,756   	 2,440   

Sundry income and expenses recovery		  3,473   	 3,221   	 (252)  

Grants for current expenses			   580   	 395   	 (185)    

 				    22,120   	 23,085   	 965   
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Purchases of materials and external services €/000	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Purchases of raw materials, subsidiary and consumable
items and goods			   551,580   	 540,966   	 (10,614)  

Transport and accessory expenses on purchases	 4,123   	 5,100   	 977   

Transport and accessory expenses on sales		  42,762   	 43,630   	 868   

Other industrial services			   11,318   	 14,690   	 3,372   

Industrial maintenance			   7,728   	 13,850   	 6,122   

Electricity and natural gas			   80,609   	 86,390   	 5,781   

Fees to independent auditing firm		  131   	 141   	 10   

Fees to statutory auditors			   105   	 113   	 8   

Other general and administrative services		  16,150   	 18,542   	 2,392   

Rentals and leases			   459   	 693   	 234      

			    	 714,964   	 724,114   	 9,150   

21  |  Purchases of materials and external services

Purchases of materials and external services increased by € 9,150 thousand. The most 
significant changes involved:

• purchases of raw materials, subsidiary and consumable items and goods which re-
duced by € 10,614 thousand. In euro/tonne terms, production costs for raw materials 
were higher than in 2023, particularly for purchases of pulp, paper for recycling and 
kaolin. Average gas prices fell in 2024 compared to the previous year, which partly 
offset the higher quantities of gas used;

• other industrial services saw an increase of € 3,372 thousand mainly due to addi-
tional services requested from external suppliers;

• industrial maintenance costs increased by € 6,122 thousand, mainly due to extraordi-
nary maintenance on certain assets at the Duino plant, which was disposed of in 2023;

• energy and natural gas costs increased by € 5,781 thousand due to increased paper 
production;

• other general administrative services increased by € 2,392 thousand, mainly due to 
consultancy costs related to extraordinary operations and activities. 

22  |  Personnel expenses

Personnel expenses €/000			   31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Wages and salaries			   39,002   	 39,824   	 822   

Social security contributions			   13,381   	 13,167   	 (213)  

Expenses for defined benefit programs		  3,058   	 3,045   	 (13)  

Others			   4,910   	 2,620   	 (2,289)    

 				    60,351   	 58,657   	 (1,695)  

Personnel expenses decreased by € 1,695 thousand compared to the previous year 
and accounted for 7.3% of revenue (6.9% in 2023).
For more details, please see the Report on Operations, under the item "Personnel".
Other costs include fees to directors, temporary work and expenses for personnel 
training.
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23  |  Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses decreased by € 7,948 thousand.
More specifically:

• provisions for future credit losses decreased. The provision is however limited by the 
existence of credit insurance and the drop in total receivables on which Expected 
Credit Losses (ECL) can be calculated;

• provisions for industrial expenses fell, which in 2024 incorporated various restruc-
turing costs for € 324 thousand; 

• there was a decrease in provisions for ongoing claims (€ -6,956 thousand), which in 
the current year relate in particular to a provision for € 1,337 thousand made in rela-
tion to an employment dispute, and € 1,130 thousand made in relation to a dispute 
with the Abruzzo Region regarding water rights fees for hydroelectric use;

Other operating expenses €/000			  31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change

Provisions			     

	 for impairment of receivables			   (461)  	 -   	 461   

	 for industrial charges			   810   	 324   	 (486)  

	 for disputes in course			   9,899   	 2,944   	 (6,956)  

	 for supplementary customer allowance		  32   	 (1)  	 (33)  

				    10,281   	 3,268   	 (7,013)             

Other costs			 

	 Corporate expenses, taxes and indirect taxes	 2,659   	 2,954   	 295   

	 Contributions, donations and sundry costs	 731   	 619   	 (112)  

	 Losses and other costs			   641   	 546   	 (95)                

				    4,031   	 4,120   	 88              

	 CO2 costs net of price setting			   5,139   	 5,098   	 (41)  

	 CO2 allocations			   1,016   	 34   	 (982)      

				    6,155   	 5,132   	 (1,023)               

				    20,467   	 12,520   	 (7,948)  

• net CO2 costs for the year were lower compared to the previous period by € 1,023 
thousand due to the lower average unit cost despite a higher deficit of emission al-
lowances to be purchased. In 2024, CO2 offsetting charges came to € 2,343 thou-
sand, up on the previous year.

24  |  Change in inventories

The change in warehouse inventories constitute revenues for the year of € 6,944 thou-
sand, as a consequence of the increase in stocks at the end of the period. For more 
detailed information, please see note 5 to the statement of financial position.

Change in inventories €/000			   31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Change in inventories			   (56,051)  	 6,944   	 62,995          

			    	 (56,051)  	 6,944   	 62,995   

This item includes costs for employee work, warehouse materials and other costs 
sustained to complete internal systems work, which were capitalised among proper-
ty, plant and equipment. Capitalised work refers primarily to the Sora and Villorba 
plants, where the main investments were made.
Please see the Report on Operations for more details on the main investments made 
during 2024.

Capitalised costs for internal work €/000		  31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Capitalised costs			   528   	 338   	 (190)         

			    	 528   	 338   	 (190)  

25   |  Capitalised costs for internal work
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26  |  Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization €/000	 	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Buildings			   2,101   	 1,159   	 (942)  

Plant and machinery			   14,620   	 15,799   	 1,179   

Industrial equipment			   57   	 65   	 8   

Other assets			   541   	 550   	 9   

Buildings for civil use			   5   	 5   	 -   

Rights of use			   1,049   	 928   	 (121)  

Intangible assets with defined life			  698   	 740   	 42         

			    	 19,071   	 19,246   	 175   

Amortization/depreciation stood at € 19,246 thousand and is in line with the previous year. 

Capital gains/losses in the year related to disposals, especially the sale of the gas turbine 
rotor at the Sarego plant.

Capital gains/losses on disposal of non-current assets €/000	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Capital gains			   897   	 59   	 (838)  

Capital losses			   (27)  	 (236)  	 (208)          

				    870   	 (177)  	 (1,047)  

27  |  Capital gains/losses on disposal of non-current assets

During the year, no significant write-downs were made on fixed assets.

Write-backs/write-downs of assets €/000		  31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Plant and machinery			   2   	 -   	 (2)  

Fixed assets in progress and advances		  3,026   	 -   	 (3,026)    		

	  			   3,028   	 -   	 (3,028)  

28  |  Write-backs/write-downs of assets

Financial expenses  €/000			   31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Interest expenses on payables due to banks		  5,288   	 5,370   	 81   

Discounting of severance indemnities (TFR)		  411   	 224   	 (187)  

Interest expenses on intercompany current account	 871   	 1,249   	 378   

Financial expenses from measurement of derivatives	 -   	 446   	 446   

Other financial expenses			   3,713   	 3,517   	 (196)  

Write-downs of equity investments		  -   	 350   	 350             

			    	 10,283   	 11,156   	 873   

In the year financial expenses due to banks remained unchanged. Interest expenses 
on intra-group current accounts came to € 1,249 thousand, up by € 378 thousand 
compared to 2023.
Financial expenses for derivatives not recognised to Shareholders’ Equity amounted to
€ 446 thousand, deriving from the change in the fair value of interest rate hedging de-
rivatives for the component not recognised under the CFH reserve as it did not meet the 
requirements of the accounting standard; last year, this same component was positive.
Other financial expenses decreased slightly by € 196 thousand and mainly refer to 
the year’s competence portion of fees paid in advance for the availability of short-term 
credit facilities and commissions for non-use.
Furthermore, in 2024 the equity investment in Consorzio Italia Energy Interconnec-
tor was subject to a write-down of € 350 thousand.

29  |  Financial expenses
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30  |  Financial income

Financial income €/000			   31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Income from equity investments			 

	 Dividends from subsidiaries			   52,614   	 55,726   	 3,113       
		

				    52,614   	 55,726   	 3,113         

Other financial income			 

	 Financial income from the sale of equity investments	 196   	 -   	 (196)  

	 Interest income from banks			   2,658   	 6,764   	 4,106   

	 Interest income on intercompany current account	 1,590   	 991   	 (599)  

	 Financial income from derivative valuation	 705   	 -   	 (705)  

	 Other financial income			   731   	 1,692   	 962   

	 Exchange gains			   512   	 23   	 (489)      

 				    6,391   	 9,470   	 3,079            

				    59,005   	 65,196   	 6,191   

Financial income increased by € 6,191 thousand compared to the previous year, main-
ly due to:

• increased dividends from subsidiaries, broken down as follows:
-	 Burgo Ardennes S.A. € 11,000 thousand (€ 11,000 thousand in 2023);
-	 Burgo Distribuzione S.r.l. € 4,100 thousand (€ 5,800 thousand in 2023);
-	 Mosaico S.p.A. € 34,500 thousand (€ 32,900 thousand in 2023);
-	 Burgo Factor S.p.A. € 1,890 thousand (€ 2,700 thousand in 2023);
-	 Burgo Eastern Europe S.p. Zo.o. € 211 thousand (€ 214 thousand in 2023);
-	 Burgo Energia S.r.l. € 4,000 thousand (€ 0 thousand in 2023);
-	 Burgo Central Europe G.m.b.H. € 25 thousand (€ 0 thousand in 2023);

• interest income from ordinary current bank accounts and time deposits for € 6,764 
thousand;

• interest income from infra-group current accounts relative to subsidiaries for € 991 
thousand;

• other financial income amounting to € 1,692 thousand, mainly due to income from 
discounting on receivables for Interconnector and income on other financial operations. 

31  |  Income taxes

Income taxes  €/000		  	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Current taxes - IRES			   (10,791)  	 (6,937)  	 3,854   

Current taxes - IRAP			   (414)  	 383   	 797   

Deferred tax assets/liabilities - IRES		  10,413   	 6,109   	 (4,304)  

Deferred tax assets/liabilities - IRAP		  946   	 687   	 (259)       	

		   		  155   	 242   	 88   

Taxes recorded to the balance sheet amounted to € 242 thousand and include the 
effects of the Group's IRES consolidation. Specifically, these comprise:

• IRES taxes for the year for the Parent Company, tax consolidation income and 
expenses from subsidiaries and adjustments relative to the IRES budget estimate for 
the previous year for a net total income of € 6,937 thousand;

• IRAP for the year and adjustments relative to the IRAP budget estimate for the 
previous year, for a cost of € 383 thousand;

• IRES deferred tax liabilities for € 6,109 thousand;
• IRAP deferred tax liabilities for € 687 thousand;
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Increases in income are for the most part temporary and without time limits, which is 
the reason the relative deferred tax assets were allocated.
Decreases in income on the other hand mainly consist of dividends, which are 95% 
exempt, uses of provisions for risks and charges taxed in previous year, and the reversal 
effect relative to write-downs not deducted in previous year.
Please see note 4 "deferred tax assets" for more information on deferred taxes, relative to 
both other increases and decreases and tax losses.

Reconciliation between income 
tax and theoretical tax  €/000	

2023	 2024

Before tax results for the year		  67,783 		  73,659 	

Theoretical tax (IRES) - Italian tax rate in effect: 24% 			   16,268 		  17,678  

increases (temporary and permanent)		  83,333 		  35,038 	

decreases (temporary and permanent)	  	  (169,864)		    (103,733)	

		    (18,747)		  4,964 	

Current taxes recognised in the financial statements			     (59)		    (88)

Charge (income) from tax consolidation			     (10,731)		    (6,849)

Deferred taxes (IRES) recognised in the financial statements			   10,413 		  6.109 

Total (IRES) taxes recognised in the financial statements			     (378)		    (828)

Effective tax rate (IRES) on income			   (0.6%)		  (1.1%)		

	Current taxes (IRAP) recognised in the financial - 3.9% rate in effect		    (414)		  383 

Deferred taxes (IRAP) recognised in the financial - 3.9% rate in effect		  946 		  687 

Total (IRAP) taxes recognised in the financial statements			   532 		  1,070 

Total taxes recognised in the financial statements			   155 		  242 

Effective tax rate (IRES and IRAP) on before tax result			   0.2% 		  0.3% 

32  |  Schedule of Other Components of the Statement of
          Comprehensive Income 

The schedule presented, found after the income statement at the start of the explan-
atory notes, illustrates the theoretical economic result that would be achieved in 
the case that all changes in items directly attributed to shareholders' equity passed 
through the annual income statement and has been adjusted to the provisions of IAS 
1, indicating through grouping the items which, upon the meeting of specific condi-
tions, will be reclassified to profit (loss) for the year and, separately, those that will not 
be reclassified to profit (loss) for the year.

The company has the following items:

• adjustment of derivatives recognised using cash flow hedge rules to the fair value at 
end of year. During the year, the gross variation was negative for € 2,706 thousand, 
which net of taxes (€ 553 thousand) is equal to € 2,154 thousand;

• actuarial gains (losses) during the year which, pursuant to the revised IAS 19, are 
allocated to a specific shareholders' equity reserve. During the year, the gross varia-
tion was positive for € 158 thousand, which net of taxes (€ 38 thousand) is equal to 
€ 120 thousand.

Reconciliation of income taxes recognised in the annual income statement and theo-
retical taxes resulting from application of the tax rate in effect on before tax profit is as 
follows:
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Relations with related parties

Transactions with related parties, including intra-group transactions, are not classified 
as atypical or unusual, as they are part of the Company's ordinary operations.
These operations, when not completed under standard conditions or those dictated by 
specific regulatory provisions, are in any case carried out under market conditions.
Below are the economic and equity effects of transactions with related parties for the 
individual figures of Burgo Group S.p.A. at 31 December 2024.
Related party transactions (based on the definition in IAS 24) essentially involve the 
exchange of goods, the provision of services or the supply and use of financial means.

Relations with related parties €/000		 Subsidiaries			  Total financial statement items		

				    	

Financial receivables and other
non-current financial assets		  2,800  	  	 2,800   	 9,750   	 29%	 8,152   	 34%

Trade receivables		  61,254   		  48,686   	 118,534   	 52%	 93,080   	 52%

Other receivables and current assets	 10,950   		  9,054   	 25,497   	 43%	 18,139   	 50%

Financial receivables and other
current financial assets		  14,228 	   	 16,626   	 29,165   	 49%	 25,939   	 64%

Current financial liabilities		  (79,256) 	  	 (101,540)  	 (104,869)  	 76%	 (225,609)  	 45%

Trade payables		  (108,190) 	  	 (55,281)  	 (220,576)  	 49%	 (158,767)  	 35%

Other payables and current liabilities	 (3,587) 	  	 (4,530)  	 (25,373)  	 14%	 (25,042)  	 18%	

Economic relationships						    

Revenues		  183,157  	  	 173,263   	 869,476   	 21%	 803,964   	 22%

Other income		  6,142  	  	 5,917   	 22,120   	 28%	 23,085   	 26%

Costs for materials and external services	 (426,911)  		  (369,961)  	 (714,964)  	 60%	 (724,114)  	 51%

Personnel expenses		  -   		  (15)  	 (60,351)  	 0%	 (58,657)  	 0%

Other operating expenses		  (8,383) 	  	 (10,726)  	 (20,467)  	 41%	 (12,518)  	 86%

Capitalised costs for internal work		 (14)  		  -   	 528   	 -3%	 338   	 0%

Financial expenses		  (871)	   	 (1,249)  	 (10,283)  	 8%	 (11,156)  	 11%

Financial income		  52,148  	  	 56,924   	 59,005   	 88%	 65,196   	 87%

Income taxes		  10,726  	  	 8,009   	 (155)  	 -6941%	 (242)  	 -3307%

31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 202431 Dec 2024 % %

In addition, the transactions reported above, at 31 December 2024 there were medium/
long-term loans, exchange rate hedging contracts and insurance policies covering indus-
trial risks and civil liability with related parties, all stipulated at market conditions.
At 31 December 2024, loans with related parties amounted to a nominal € 86,006 
thousand (€ 98,257 thousand at 31 December 2023).
Fees paid to executives with strategic responsibilities: fees paid to the Chairperson and 
CEO in 2024 totalled € 1,350 thousand.
As the parent company, the Company adheres to tax consolidation, together with its 
subsidiaries Burgo Distribuzione S.r.l., Burgo Energia S.r.l., Gever S.p.A. in liquida-
tion, Mosaico S.p.A. and Burgo Factor S.p.A. The first four subsidiaries also partic-
ipate in group VAT liquidation pursuant to article 73 of Italian Presidential Decree 
633/72 and the Italian Ministerial Decree of 13 December 1979.
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Disputes

Legal disputes

At present, the Company is not involved in any legal disputes that could have a 
noticeable effect on its accounts. For all disputes in which a loss for the company is 
probable, a provision which adequately covers the entire risk is allocated.

Tax disputes

Also, with regards to tax disputes, the Company is not currently involved in any dis-
putes which could have a significant impact and are worthy of note.

Significant events after year end

After a year characterised by persisting geopolitical uncertainties linked to the on-
going wars and macro-economic tensions, in 2025 these uncertainties remain and 
are further exacerbated by the probable effects of the policies adopted by the new US 
administration, which are likely to have a significant impact on geopolitical, economic 
and financial dynamics.

During the initial months of 2025, the Company continued to carry out its business 
without any significant transactions or events. There are no further events to report.

Proposal for approval of the financial statements and 
destination of the profits for the year

The financial year ended on 31 December with profits of € 73,417,121.25.
The Board of Directors proposes the following profit allocation for 2024 to the Share-
holders’ Meeting of Burgo Group S.p.A.: carry over of the total profit for
€ 73,417,121.25.

Other information

Number of employees	 Start of year	 Year end	 Average 2023	 Average 2024

Executives		  26   	 28   	 26   	 28   

Office Workers	 305   	 289   	 304   	 297   

Manual Workers	 762   	 745   	 770   	 754   

Temporary Workers	 15   	 26   	 27   	 24         

		  1,108   	 1,088   	 1,127   	 1,103   

Disclosure for transparency in public subsidies, required by Italian Law 
124/2017, article 1, paragraphs 125-129, as amended

Law no. 124 of 2017 (the annual market and competition law) introduced new disclo-
sure requirements relative to transparency in public subsidies received and granted, in 
article 1, paragraphs 125-129.
The following schedule provides information about grants and other economic advan-
tages received from Italian public administrations during 2024:

Granting entity

Ministry of 
Economic 
Development

Ministry of 
Economic 
Development

Purpose

Agrifood grant for Project 
at Avezzano Plant for 
"New White Top-Liner 
paper production for 
corrugated packaging"

Subsidised rate loan 
Agrifood for Project 
at Avezzano Plant for 
"New White Top-Liner 
paper production for 
corrugated packaging"

Subsidised rate

annual fixed rate 
0.13%

Amount financed

Total amount of € 230 
thousand disbursed in 
2024, € 69 thousand still 
outstanding. 

Total amount of € 216 
thousand disbursed in 
2024, € 61 thousand still 
outstanding.

Contributions and subsidised rate loans

Note that on the basis of the most authoritative interpretations of the stated law, any 
payments, general measures or tax subsidies which can be used by all companies or 
generally by companies within specific sectors, such as the paper sector or sector of 
heavy energy user companies, were not considered.
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Information about the financial risk management policy

The following information, pursuant to current accounting standard IFRS 7, is aimed 
at illustrating the impact that financial instruments have on the amount of risk 
exposure, providing details on measurements and mechanisms that the company has 
implemented to manage this exposure.

Significance of financial instruments relative to the equity and financial 
situation and economic result

Below is information regarding the significance of financial instruments relative to the 
equity situation and the economic result is provided separately.

Significance of financial instruments to the equity and financial situation

The following table shows the book value recognised for each financial asset and liabi-
lity in the statement of financial position.

Financial instruments  €/000		  	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024

				    Book value	 Book value 

Trade receivables and other receivables			   154,061   	 121,181   

Financial receivables				    38,914   	 34,091   

Cash and cash equivalents				    243,709   	 251,224         

Derivatives:			 

	      Assets				    144   	 977   

      	Liabilities				    (1,632)  	 (3,864)    

Lending from banks				    (77,485)  	 (67,197)  

Right of use liabilities				    (1,235)  	 (3,269)  

Loans from associated companies			   (96,008)  	 (85,090)  

Trade payables and other payables			   (246,447)  	 (182,554)  

Current loans from associated companies			   (79,256)  	 (101,540)  

Payables due to banks				    (1,729)  	 (1,416)      

 					     (66,963)  	 (37,459)  
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The reconciliation between the balance sheet items of financial assets and liabilities 
and the categories provided for their recognition under IFRS 7 is shown below: 

€/000	

Trade receivables and other receivables	 -   	 121,181   	 -   	 -   	 121,181   

Financial receivables		  -   	 34,091   	 -   	 -   	 34,091   

Derivatives: assets		  4,513   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 4,513      

Total financial assets		  4,513   	 155,271   	 -   	 -   	 159,784      

Derivatives: liabilities		  -   	 -   	 (3,864)  	 -   	 (3,864)  

Lending from banks		  -   	 -   	 -   	 (67,197)  	 (67,197)  

Right of use liabilities		  -   	 -   	 -   	 (3,269)  	 (3,269)  

Loans from associated companies	 -   	 -   	 -   	 (85,090)  	 (85,090)  

Bonds and converting loans		  -   	 -   	 -   	 (182,554)  	 (182,554)  

Trade payables and other payables	 -   	 -   	 -   	 (101,540)  	 (101,540)  

Payables due to banks		  -   	 -   	 -   	 (1,416)  	 (1,416)      

Total financial payables		  -   	 -   	 (3,864)  	 (441,067)  	 (444,931)  

Derivatives 
designated as 

hedging instruments 
(assets)

Financial assets 
valued at 

amortized cost

Derivatives 
designated as 

hedging instruments 
(liabilities)

Financial 
liabilities 

recognised at 
amortized cost

31 Dec 2024 €/000	

Trade receivables and other receivables	 -   	 154,061   	 -   	 -   	 154,061   

Financial receivables		  -   	 38,914   	 -   	 -   	 38,914   

Derivatives: assets		  9,319   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 9,319         

Total financial assets		  9,319   	 192,975   	 -   	 -   	 202,294         

Derivatives: liabilities		  -   	 -   	 (1,632)  	 -   	 (1,632)  

Lending from banks		  -   	 -   	 -   	 (77,485)  	 (77,485)  	

Right of use liabilities		  -   	 -   	 -   	 (1,235)  	 (1,235)  	

Loans from associated companies	 -   	 -   	 -   	 (96,008)  	 (96,008)  	

Bonds and converting loans		  -   	 -   	 -   	 (246,447)  	 (246,447)  	

Trade payables and other payables	 -   	 -   	 -   	 (79,256)  	 (79,256)  	

Payables due to banks		  -   	 -   	 -   	 (1,729)  	 (1,729)  	      

Total financial payables		  -   	 -   	 (1,632)  	 (502,159)  	 (503,791)  

31 Dec 2023

Note that the amounts shown under the “derivatives” item include all derivatives rec-
ognised using hedge accounting rules, regardless of the nature of risk hedged against, 
and any derivatives for which the company did not make use of the right to use hedge 
accounting and derivatives recognised at fair value through profit and loss.  
The analysis below shows the portion of derivatives designated as hedges against the 
specific risk analysed, on a case-by-case basis.
In analysing liquidity risk, only derivatives which hedge against financial liabilities are 
included, excluding positions which hedge against commodity risk.
After summarising the criteria and financial models used to estimate the fair value of the 
financial instruments shown above, further details will be provided about the individual 
financial items.

Derivatives 
designated as 

hedging instruments 
(assets)

Financial assets 
valued at 

amortized cost

Derivatives 
designated as 

hedging instruments 
(liabilities)

Financial 
liabilities 

recognised at 
amortized cost
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Derivatives

In general, the fair value of derivatives is determined on the basis of market prices, if 
available. If this reference is not available/accessible, fair value estimates are made on 
the basis of standard financial algorithms.
In particular, the fair value of forward exchange rate and commodity derivatives is 
calculated by discounting the difference between the contractual price and the end 
price, redetermined on the basis of market conditions on the reporting date.
As at 31 December the Company had derivative positions on currency exchange and 
commodities such as gas and EUA emission rights. 
For interest rate derivatives, when recognised, different models are used based on the 
type of instrument being evaluated. In particular:

• for interest rate swaps, the discount cash flow model is used. Fair value is determined 
by discounting estimated future cash flows on the basis of interest rate conditions at 
the reporting date;

• the Black & Scholes model is used for collars. Use of this model is common practice 
and makes it possible to assess the fair value of the option, quantifying the probabili-
ty of receiving a positive payoff.

In some cases, the Company used appropriately verified and confirmed counterparties 
to determine the fair value of valuation interest rate derivative positions.
As at 31/12/2024 the company holds interest rate derivative positions to hedge the 
interest rate risk arising from medium and long-term loan agreements.

Fair value hierarchy according to IFRS 13

Financial instruments at fair value according to IFRS 13, measured on the basis of
the quality of the input sources used in the valuation, are classified according to the 
hierarchy below:

• Level 1: fair value measurement based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets
	 for identical assets or liabilities. The category includes all instruments used by the 

Group to operate directly in active markets (e.g, futures);
• Level 2: fair value measurement based on inputs other than those included in
	 “Level 1” that are directly or indirectly observable futures markets);
• Level 3: fair value measurement based on assessment models that do not use
	 inputs based on observable markets (unobservable inputs). 
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€/000		 31 Dec 2023			  31 Dec 2024

Financial assets 

Current financial assets	 9,175	 9,175	 3,536	 3,536

Current assets 	 144	 144	 977	 977

Non-current assets	 0	 0	 0	 0

	 9,319	 9,319	 4,513	 4,513
Financial liabilities				  
Current financial liabilities 	 0	 0	 0	 0

Current liabilities 	 (1,632)	 (1,632)	 (3,864)	 (3,864)

Non-current liabilities 	 0	 0	 0	 0

	 (1,632)	 (1,632)	 (3,864)	 (3,864)

Book value Book valueFair value Fair value

€/000		  31 Dec 2024

Financial assets 
management of interest rate risk	 0	 3,536	 0

management of exchange rate risk 	 0	 0	 0

management of commodity risk	 0	 977	 0

	 0	 4,513	 0
Financial liabilities
management of interest rate risk	 0	 0	 0

management of exchange rate risk 	 0	 0	 0

management of commodity risk	 0	 (3,864)	 0

	 0	 (3,864)	 0

Level 2Level 1 Level 3

€/000		  31 Dec 2023

Financial assets 
management of interest rate risk	 0	 9,175	 0

management of exchange rate risk 	 0	 0	 0

management of commodity risk	 0	 144	 0

	 0	 9,319	 0
Financial liabilities
management of interest rate risk	 0	 0	 0

management of exchange rate risk 	 0	 0	 0

management of commodity risk	 0	 (1,632)	 0

	 0	 (1,632 )	 0

Level 2Level 1 Level 3

Details on financial risk hedging instruments

As part of its financial risk management processes the Company stipulates derivative 
contracts. Although these derivatives are traded solely for hedging purposes, not all 
transactions are subject to hedge accounting rules.

Details on market risk hedging instruments

Among commodity exposures, price risk deriving from volatility in electricity, has and 
emission rights purchase prices was partially managed through the establishment of 
commodity swaps, recognised based on hedge accounting rules, and in part through 
setting prices with counterparties.
Among commodity exposures, price risk deriving from volatility in the purchase 
prices of gas was managed by signing contracts that set prices to be paid with counter-
parties.
As shown in the "financial instruments" table, the fair value of derivatives generated 
financial assets of € 977 thousand (€ 144 in 2023) and financial liabilities for € 3,864 
(€ 1,632 thousand in 2023).

Investments in equity instruments

The fair value of equity instruments held to maturity and financial assets measured 
at FVOCI is determined on the basis of official stock market listings obtained on the 
reporting date.

Debt securities

The value of debt securities is calculated by adding together the current values, deter-
mined on the reporting date, of all future cash flows, including capital and interest. 
To quantify the portion of interest held in indexed instruments, the rate curve availa-
ble at the reporting date was used.

Capital management

No risks nor significant information was identified relative to capital management.
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Financial assets

The tables below provide a breakdown of financial assets.

Non-current financial assets €/000		  31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024

Loans and receivables			   19,924   	 19,091      

 				    19,924   	 19,091   

Current financial assets €/000			   31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024

Loans and receivables			   163,876   	 132,644   

Cash and cash equivalents			   243,709   	 251,224   

Current derivative assets			   144   	 977   

Current derivative financial assets			  9,175   	 3,536         

				    416,904   	 388,381   

Loans and receivables include trade receivables, financial receivables due from subsid-
iaries, receivables due from social security entities, receivables due from tax authorities 
and sundry receivables.

Financial liabilities

The table below provides a breakdown of financial liabilities.

Other additional information

The Company did not carry out any reclassification of financial assets, changing the 
measurement criteria relative to the same. Consequently, no remeasurement was done. 
Additionally, no assets were transferred that did not involve elimination from the 
accounts.

Non-current financial liabilities  €/000		  31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024

Lending from banks			   (66,477)  	 (15,995)  

Loans from associated companies		  (83,746)  	 (14,345)  

Right of use liabilities			   (620)  	 (2,564)      

				    (150,843)  	 (32,904)  

Current financial liabilities  €/000		  31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024

Lending from banks			   (11,008)  	 (51,202)  

Loans from associated companies		  (91,517)  	 (172,285)  

Derivatives			   (1,632)  	 (3,864)  

Right of use liabilities			   (615)  	 (706)  

Payables due to banks			   0   	 (0)  

Trade payables and other payables		  (248,177)  	 (183,970)    

				    (352,948)  	 (412,027)  
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Impact of financial instruments on the annual income statement

To highlight the impact financial instruments, have on the result for the year, the 
following tables are provided. 

Note that the change in the Cash Flow Hedge reserve is shown net of deferred taxes 
accruing during the year. 

Income components recognised to Shareholders’ Equity €/000	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024 

Change in cash flow hedge reserve	 (2,724)  	 (2,154)    

		  (2,724)  	 (2,154)  

Financial income and expenses recognised in the consolidated
income statement €/000	

31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024 

Interest income from current account	 4,247   	 7,754   

Financial income from derivative valuation	 705   	 -   

Exchange gains	 512   	 23   

Other income	 927   	 1,692         

 		  6,391   	 9,470      
Interest expenses from current account	 (874)  	 (1,256)  

Interest expenses on mortgages	 (5,286)  	 (5,363)  

Charges due to suppliers	 (0)  	 (0)  

Factoring commissions	 (1,356)  	 (1,758)  

Financial expenses from measurement of derivatives	 -   	 (446)  

Exchange losses	 0   	 -   

Other expenses	 (2,357)  	 (1,759)      

 		  (9,872)  	 (10,582)    
Dividends from subsidiaries and associated companies	 52,614   	 55,726   

Net income (expenses) from discounting	 (411)  	 (224)      

		  48,722   	 54,390   

Credit Risk

This section describes credit risk exposures and methods used to manage them in 
qualitative and quantitative terms.

Risk exposure

As of the reporting date, the Company's exposure to credit risk was as follows:

Exposure to credit risk  €/000			   31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024

Trade receivables and other receivables		  183,800   	 151,735   

Cash and cash equivalents			   243,709   	 251,224      

				    427,509   	 402,959   
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Trade receivables and impairment of receivables

Positions are subject to individual impairment when an objective situation of partial 
or full non-collectability is determined, if individually significant. Relative to receiv-
ables not subject to individual impairment, provisions are allocated on a collective 
basis, taking historical experience and statistical data into account.

Changes in the provision for impairment of trade receivables are summarised in the 
table below:

Provision for impairment of financial assets  €/000	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024	 Change 

Balance at start of period			   (30,050)  	 (24,815)  	 5,235   

Uses			   5,235   	 2,542   	 (2,693)  

Provisions			   -   	 -   	 -      

 				    (24,815)  	 (22,273)  	 2,542   

Concentration of credit risk

There are no risks deriving from concentration of credit, as shown in the table below.

Breakdown of risk by customer type  €/000	 31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024

End consumers			   54,500   	 38,510   

Other group companies			   92,012   	 83,050   

Credit institutions			   246,056   	 253,858   

Tax authorities			   8,738   	 6,531   

Others			   26,204   	 21,011         

 				    427,509   	 402,959   

Credit risk management methods

Trade receivables and other receivables		

Within the context of its normal credit management activities through the dedicated 
department, the Company has instituted an internal credit risk management process 
with the aim of defining every customer's creditworthiness and carefully monitoring 
credit limits and overdue items. Regarding measurement of creditworthiness, func-
tional to assignment of credit and the creation of commercial relationships, internal 
procedures require the collection and analysis of qualitative and quantitative informa-
tion. Customer credit levels are periodically reviewed using a process that also makes 
use of historic solvency information. Customers are classified based on a two-level 
scoring system, that differentiates between reliable and non-reliable customers. At-risk 
customers are subject to strict controls and any future orders are only fulfilled after 
approval by the Credit Committee. Risk control is based on constant analysis of cus-
tomers with overdue items or who have exceeded their credit limits, monitored daily 
for activation of corrective actions, which range from blocking orders to legal action.
In 2024, the company covered itself against credit risk relative to Italian customers by 
stipulating a credit insurance contract with major insurance companies.   

Financial investments

The company limits its exposure to credit risk by exclusively investing in securities 
with high liquidity and only with counterparties recognised as reliable by the market.
As at 31 December 2024 the company had no security exposures. Additionally, finan-
cial assets also include managed savings investments made with Italian banks known 
to be reliable.  

Guarantees

Company policies allow for the issuing of financial guarantees for associated companies.
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Market Risk

Market risk is defined as the possibility that the fair value or cash flows associated with 
a given financial instrument fluctuate as a consequence of changes in market variables, 
such as exchange rates, interest rates, raw materials prices or stock market prices.
The market risk to which the Company was exposed during the year just ended can be 
classified as follows:

• exchange risk;
• interest rate risk;
• commodity risk.

Below is an analysis of the significance of these risks and the methods used to manage 
them.

Exchange risk

The Company holds some of its trade receivables/payables in currencies other than the 
euro, and also has short-term loans in foreign currencies.
The exchange risk management policy establishes that derivatives should only be used to 
hedge against risk. Derivatives existing at 31 December 2024 used to manage exchange 
risk include only futures contract to purchase/sell foreign currencies. Even if these serve 
hedging purposes, these derivatives are not recognised using hedge accounting, as the 
rigidity of this treatment would negative impact the operational efficiency of the hedges.
The foreign currencies used by the Company are NOK, DDK, SEK, CHF, JPY, PLN, 
AUD, GBP and USD, with the final three representing almost the entirety of trade items 
in foreign currencies.
 

Sensitivity analysis relative to exchange risk

In order to measure the possible effects of changes in the exchange rate obtained at the 
reporting date on the statement of financial position and annual income statement, a 
variation in the value of the euro with respect to the reference foreign currencies at 31 
December 2024 was hypothesised.
Specifically, a 10% upward and downward shock in the euro exchange rate was applied, 
recognising the additional profit or loss with respect to the market scenario to risky items, 
which in this case were represented by trade payables and receivables and exchange rate 
derivatives.

Since the exchange rate derivatives are not recognised using hedge accounting, the impact 
of these transactions - similar to trade payables/receivables - is seen solely in the profit or 
loss for the year and hence in the annual income statement.
The net impact on the result from the year deriving from a +/- 10% shock would have 
been, respectively, € -518 thousand (€ -1,306 thousand in 2023) and € +633 thousand (€ 
+1,596 thousand in 2023).

Exchange risk management methods

In relation to sales activities, the Company makes purchases and sales other currencies, at 
present mainly in USD, GBP and AUD. Therefore, hedging policies are mainly focused 
on stipulating futures contracts against the euro.
Additionally, other currencies are periodically monitored, which may be used in invoices 
on a continuous or occasional basis.

General aspects

Hedges are carried out on the basis of estimates of future financial flows in currencies 
on the basis of invoices payable and receivable and taking budget and/or forecasts into 
account.

Exchange risk management policies

The special nature of the Company's business allows it to make forecasts relative to 
financial issues relative to flows in foreign currencies. Estimates of flows must meet all the 
formal requirements relative to amount, currency, date of manifestation and status relati-
ve to the probability of manifestation, necessary when producing exposure measurements.
Exchange risk hedging transactions are carried out in compliance with cash flow hedge 
principles, which amount to neutralising the effects induced by changes in the exchange 
rate on the value in euro of cash flows denominated in foreign currencies.
Hedging policies are managed exclusively by forward contracts and options relative to 
exchange rates, to guarantee more flexible coverage with respect to forward contracts. 
Currently, exposure to exchange rate derivatives falls within the forward category.
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Interest rate risk

Financial liabilities which expose the Company to interest rate risk are medium/long-
term variable rate loans.
In terms of assets, items sensitive to interest rate risk are:

• a loan to a subsidiary indexed to the variable 6-month Euribor rate;
• shareholders’ loans to a company in which an equity investment is held, classified 

among equity investments in other companies.

These assets are classified as "held to maturity" and do not generate effects on the annual 
income statement/statement of financial position if not due to effects of cash flows re-
ceived (financial income), discounting of their value or any lasting losses of value which 
make recognition of impairment necessary.
The table below identifies positions subject to interest rate risk.

Positions with interest rate risk  €/000		  31 Dec 2023	 31 Dec 2024

Fixed rate financial instruments		

Fixed rate loans			   (322)  	 (170)    

 				    (322)  	 (170)        

Variable rate financial instruments	 	

Financial assets		

	 Non-current security deposits			  10,174   	 10,938   

	 Financial instruments with positive FV		  9,319   	 4,513   

	 Loans to associated companies		  2,800   	 2,800   

	 Loans to others			   6,950   	 5,352         

Financial liabilities		

	 Derivatives with negative FV			   (1,632)  	 (3,864)  

	 Variable rate loans			   (173,171)  	 (152,116)  

	 Current account advances			   (1,729)  	 (1,416)  

	 Right of use liabilities			   (1,235)  	 (706)           

 				    (148,524)  	 (134,499)    

				    (148,845)  	 (134,670)  

Sensitivity analysis relative to interest risk

Analysis was done to determine the impacts of a +/- 100 basis point shift in the esti-
mated interest rate curve at 31 December 2024 on the annual income statement and 
statement of financial position.
Analysis was done supposing that the other variables, in particular exchange rates, 
remained constant and was done using the same suppositions as in the previous year.
As at 31 December 2024 the Company held interest rate swap derivatives.
As at 31 December 2024, hedging instruments had a notional value of € 151 million 
(€ 171 million at year-end 2023) and provided almost full coverage of the medium- 
and long-term payables that form the majority of the Company's debt. As a result, 
the effect on the result for the year of variable-rate indexed assets and liabilities is not 
significant. 

Interest risk management methods

General aspects

In the context of its own economic production, which is capital intensive, the Com-
pany makes investments for production purposes by taking out loans. In this context, 
it carries out cash flow hedge transactions, which serve to neutralise the effects of an 
increase in the rates on the cost the Company must pay to service its debts. The gener-
al objectives of a hedging operation therefore can be summarised as transforming the 
cost of a variable rate debt to the cost of a fixed rate debt, or to reduce the extent to 
which it is variable.

Interest risk management policies

Medium/long-term hedges are organised on the basis of projections over a multi-year 
period prepared on the basis of economic and financial budgets and cash flow pro-
jections, as well as the net financial position. The amount hedged may vary between 
0% to 100% of the notional value of the instrument hedged and be structured for a 
period of time that in general ranges from a minimum of 3 years to a maximum of 6 
years (up to the current maximum maturity of the loans).
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Commodity risk

For the company, commodity risk mainly exists for purchases of gas and, to a lesser 
extent, for purchases/sales of electricity and purchases of rights to issue carbon dioxide.

Gas and electricity price risk

In order to supply its various plants with the electricity necessary for production, the 
Company has various contracts to purchase gas. Given the variable nature of the price 
of the commodity, the Company suffers risk deriving from fluctuations in the supply 
prices which it can partially protect itself from by setting prices with counterparties.

At 31 December 2024, the Company had gas purchases with the following character-
istics in effect:

• fixed price purchases;
• variable price purchases on the basis of the spot gas price recorded on the Italian 

PSV market.

In order to supply its various plants with the electricity necessary for production, the 
Company has a contract to purchase electricity through its subsidiary Burgo Energia 
S.r.l. Given the variable nature of the price of electricity, the Company suffers risk de-
riving from fluctuations in the supply prices which it can partially protect itself from 
by using derivatives and by setting prices with counterparties. At 31 December 2024, 
the Company had no fixed price electricity purchases. 

Carbon dioxide emission rights price risk

In order to supply its various plants with the rights to emit carbon dioxide required to 
comply with the obligations deriving from the ETS scheme, the Company has signed 
purchase contracts with the subsidiary Burgo Energia S.r.l. Given the variable nature 
of the price of the commodity, the Company suffers risk deriving from fluctuations 
in the supply prices which it can partially protect itself from by using derivatives and 
by setting prices with counterparties. Derivative financial instruments on commodi-
ties outstanding at the end of the year were accounted for using hedge accounting, in 
accordance with IFRS 9. 

Sensitivity analysis relative to commodity risk

In order to measure the possible effects of changes in the value of carbon dioxide 
emission rights, in the statement of financial position and annual income statement, 
a +/-10% change in the value of EUA prices was hypothesised at 31 December 2024. 
The impact on the annual income statement deriving from this type of shock would 
be € -0.3 million (€ -0.3 million as at 31 December 2023) and € +0.3 million (€ +0.3 
million as at 31 December 2023). Sensitivity analysis is not done for gas and electrici-
ty price risk, because all the assets and liabilities recorded in the Financial Statements 
as at 31 December 2024 associated with these are recognised at a fixed price.

Commodity risk management methods
General aspects

The Company's strategic objective is to stabilise profit margins in terms of reducing 
risks associated with volatility in electricity purchase/sales prices and purchase pric-
es of materials used in production processes, in order to minimise exposure to the 
correlated risk and losses. With an eye to continuously reducing loss risks, the Com-
pany has the simultaneous objective of minimising costs associated with obtaining its 
production factors.
When negotiating financial contracts for raw materials, the Company does not have 
the ability to take risk positions on the commodities market. These contracts will 
have the sole purpose of reducing the risk of an increase in the purchase prices of the 
production factors used in production processes.
Relative to risk monitoring, the Company applies a quantitative measure for risks, 
both with reference to analysing exposures and to measuring the efficacy of derivatives 
negotiated for hedging purposes.
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Commodity risk management policies

Management of risks associated with oscillations in the prices of commodities in-
cludes the involvement of several administrative departments within the Company. 
These include, in addition to those already cited, the Purchasing Department and 
the Sales Department. In determining its hedging strategy and with reference to the 
various types of supply contracts, the Company implements mitigation strategies with 
the objective of stabilising its profit margin.
With reference to the procedures used to estimate exposure to risks associated with 
commodities, the following elements are considered:

• nominal quantities, that it is the quantity recognised within physical and financial 
contracts;

• fair value/stop loss, that is the amount calculated on the basis of the current value of 
future financial flows generated by the contract as a function of price indexing rules. 
Stop loss identifies the largest sustainable loss in terms of fair value. In addition to 
this threshold, the position must also be closed with a symmetrical contract in the 
opposite direction;

• the change in the value of the position following a marginal variation in the price of 
energy (only for variable price contracts);

• the change in the value of the position following a marginal variation in the price of 
the commodities (only for indexed price contracts).

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will have difficulty complying with its 
future obligations relative to financial liabilities. Risk analysis is done with the aim of 
quantifying cash flows deriving from the various types of financial liabilities held by 
the Company at 31 December 2024, at each contractual repayment date.
Financial liabilities have been broken down into non-derivative financial liabilities and 
derivative financial liabilities, based on their nature. For the latter, given the difference 
in accounting treatment, it was necessary to carry out a further classification based on 
whether the derivative is classified as a hedging instrument according on the account-
ing standards.
Relative to cash flow maturities, given the nature of the Company's monetary cycle it 
was held expedient to group payments into half-yearly payment buckets.
Below is a summary of analysis done on derivative financial liabilities and non-deriva-
tive financial liabilities, at 31 December 2024.

Liquidity risk management methods

General aspects

The Company's approach to liquidity management is aimed at guaranteeing, as much 
as possible, that there are always sufficient funds available to comply with obligations 
when maturity dates are reached.

Liquidity risk management policies

The Company performs liquidity analysis as a function of budget forecasts, determin-
ing short, medium and long-term cash flows. Estimates are periodically reviewed to 
ensure there is adequate on demand cash and cash equivalents to cover operating ex-
penses forecast for the short term (around 3 months). For short-term financial needs, 
credit lines are available totalling around € 201.5 million, and as of 31 December 
2024 were used for a total of around € 35.8 million or 18%, all in relation to unse-
cured lines. Please refer to the section on significant events after the end of the year for 
information about developments in the availability of short-term credit lines. For its 
long-term financial needs, the Company's loans recorded on the statement of financial 
position, both for the short-term and long-term portion, came to € 152 million (€ 173 
million as at 31 December 2023). Loans are valued at amortized cost, the nominal 
value of which is € 154 million.

31 Dec 2024 €/000 		  Book value	 6 months or less	 7-12 months	 2-3 years	 4-5 years	 Over 5 years	

	 	 	

Non-derivative financial liabilities:						    

Loans		  152,287   	 16,968   	 103,323   	 31,995   	 -   	 -   

Trade payables and other payables	 182,554   	 182,554   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   

Right of use liabilities		  3,269   	 353   	 353   	 1,150   	 822   	 592      

Derivative financial liabilities:						    

Derivatives		  3,864   	 1,932   	 1,932   	 -   	 -   	 -   

Currency futures contracts		  -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -   	 -      

			   341,974   	 201,807   	 105,608   	 33,146   	 822   	 592   
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Report of the independent auditing firm
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Report of the board of statutory auditors
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